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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")
BRBMERZMERAT(HRAGEMZEE

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies
to which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such
companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is
a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there
will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the
contents of this report (“Report”), make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the
whole or any part of the contents of the Report.

This Report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
(the “Company”, and together with its subsidiaries, the “"Group”, “we"” or “our”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving
information with regard to the Group. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to
the best of their knowledge and belief, the information contained in this Report is accurate and complete
in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of
which would make any statement herein or this Report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERHRE

Dear Shareholders,

It is with great pleasure that, on behalf of the board of
directors (the “Board”) of Huakang Biomedical Holdings
Company Limited, | hereby present the Group’s annual
results for the year ended 31 December 2020 to all the
shareholders.

OVERVIEW

2020 was a tough year. The outbreak of the novel
coronavirus (COVID-19) epidemic (the “Epidemic”) led
our factory in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
to halt productions and sales for more than around
five weeks. The Epidemic also significantly affected
the purchases from hospitals in the PRC (i.e. ultimate
end customers) as they reserved more capacity and
resources to handle serious patients who suffered from
the Epidemic. As a result, our business was seriously
affected in the first half of 2020. Following a series
of management improvements and business revamp
after July 2020, our revenue resumed to normal in the
second half of 2020 as we recorded a revenue in the
PRC of approximately Renminbi (“RMB”) 14.0 million
for the six months ended 31 December 2020 compared
to approximately RMB13.8 million of the corresponding
period of year 2019.

We also recognised the strong demand for rapid Point-
Of-Care diagnostic testing (“POCT") under immunoassay
techniques. We carried out preliminary selection and
evaluation of a supporting test platform in the second
half of 2020. We intended to purchase equipment for
research and development of the supporting test platform
in the future.
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Despite the difficulties arising from the Epidemic, we
commenced a new business stream in Canada and Hong
Kong for the sales of vitamins and supplements under our
own registered brand “Nutronic”. The relevant products
have been gradually launched in the market.

On 3 June 2020, it is our pleasure to establish a
company, namely Smartronic Limited (“Smartronic”),
with Smartac International Holdings Limited (stock code:
395.HK), in which we hold 49% of its equity interests,
for the purposes of sales, marketing and distribution of
Nutronic’s supplements through crossborder e-commerce
platform(s) and channels in the PRC.

FORWARD

Going forward, we will actively seek potential business
opportunities that would facilitate the sales of the
Group's products in the PRC, Hong Kong and overseas.

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take
this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to all
staff members for their dedicated contributions and
unwavering commitment to deliver the best service to our
customers over the years. My appreciation also goes to
all shareholders, business associates, partners and valued
customers for their generous support and confidence in
the Company. We will continue with our endeavour to
pursue growth of our business and create value for our
shareholders.

Zhang Shuguang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERBNWR D

BUSINESS REVIEW
Existing business

Our Group specialises in the research and development,
manufacture and sales of a wide range of in-vitro
diagnostic (“IVD") reagents in the PRC, particularly
focusing on the PRC male fertility IVD reagent market.

The Group has also diversified its business to vitamins and
supplements products for the markets in the PRC, Hong
Kong and overseas.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, our Group
experienced a significant decrease in revenue from the
sales of our male fertility IVD reagent products. Such
significant decrease was mainly attributable to the
Epidemic since a number of provinces and municipalities
in the PRC have taken emergency public health measures
and various other actions to prevent the spread of the
Epidemic, including crowd-control and/or stay-home
policies or orders. As a result of the Epidemic, our PRC
factory halted productions and sales for more than
around five weeks. Sales from our ultimate end customers
(i.e. hospitals) in the PRC were significantly affected.
Our Group had a significant decrease in the average
sales volume of our male fertility IVD reagent products
ranging from approximately 8.5% to approximately
45.1%, detection kit for immunoglobulin G (IgG)
antibody to Schistosoma japonicum by approximately
42.2% and detection kit for viral capsid antigen (VCA)
immunoglobulin (IgA) antibody to Epstein-Barr Virus
("EBV") by approximately 19.7%, while average selling
prices for some of our products in the PRC also slightly
decreased.
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Despite the difficulties during the period of the Epidemic,
the Group continued to expand its sales channel for
IVD reagents and auxiliary reproductive supplies and
equipment business in the PRC. The Company sold
products to 22 new direct sale customers and 73 new
distributors during the year ended 31 December 2020.
On 23 November 2020, Shenzhen Huakang Bio-Medical
Engineering Limited* was granted with the International
Organisation for Standardisation 13485 Certificate for
meeting the regulatory requirements of the design,
development, production and sales of IVD reagents. As
such, it demonstrated that the Group’s products have
reached the international standard and our capacity
on research and development as well as our quality
management system have been continually improved.

New business

Our Group has been granted a total of 23 natural
health product licences by the Natural Health Products
Directorate of Health Canada for our own registered
brand “Nutronic”. The relevant products were distributed
through Smartronic’s cross-border e-commerce
platform(s) and channels, such as Tmall, JD.com,
Xiaohongshu and Wechat mini program.

FUTURE STRATEGIES AND PROSPECTS

Our Group had ten recent research projects in progress,
mainly focusing on diagnostic of male and female
infertility. Further, our Group will complete the PRC’s
medical devices registration for some of the research
projects that will be launched to the market in 2021. In
particular, with a satisfactory result for the production
of POCT, the Group intended to further invest in the
research and development of POCT, including purchasing
raw materials and equipment as well as setting up a new
production line for further production expansion.

*  The English name is for identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group's revenue decreased by approximately RMB3.5
million, or approximately 13.7%, from approximately
RMB25.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2019
to approximately RMB22.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2020. The decrease in revenue was mainly due
to a decrease in sales of biological reagents in the PRC of
approximately RMB4.4 million.

Sales of biological reagents included male fertility VD
reagents, parasite antibody detection reagents and EBV
antibody detection reagents. Due to the Epidemic, these
sales sharply decreased to approximately RMB19.8 million
for the year ended 31 December 2020 compared with
approximately RMB24.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2019.

Sales of male fertility IVD reagents products remained
our major product which accountined for approximately
75.3% of our total sales of biological reagents and
auxiliary reproductive supplies and equipment in the
PRC for the year ended 31 December 2020. Revenue
from this segment for the year ended 31 December
2020 was approximately RMB16.0 million, which
represented a decrease of approximately RMB3.4 million
or approximately 17.5% from approximately RMB19.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2019.
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The decrease in sales of parasite antibody detection
reagents was approximately RMB599,000, or
approximately 17.1%, from approximately RMB3.5 million
for the year ended 31 December 2019 to approximately
RMB2.9 million of the year ended 31 December 2020.
The sales of EBV antibody detection reagents decreased
approximately RMB243,000 or approximately 19.9%
from approximately RMB1.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2019 to approximately RMB978,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2020.

Sales of vitamins and supplements was a new business
that generated approximately RMB776,000 (2079: Nil) for
the year ended 31 December 2020.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The Group recorded gross profit of approximately
RMB14.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2020,
which represented a decrease of approximately RMB3.2
million, or approximately 17.9%, from approximately
RMB17.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2019.

The Group's gross profit margin remained relatively stable at
approximately 67.0% for the year ended 31 December 2020
as compared to the gross profit margin of approximately
70.2% for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Other Income and Other Gains and Losses

Other income significantly increased by approximately
RMB390,000 or approximately 150.0%, from
approximately RMB260,000 for the year ended 31
December 2019 to approximately RMB650,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2020, primarily because we
received government grants in respect of COVID-19
provided by Hong Kong local government authorities.

The Group recorded other losses of approximately
RMB1.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2020,
but the Group also recorded other gains of approximately
RMB508,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019.
Such change was mainly due to fluctuations in foreign
exchange rate between foreign currency and RMB, the
majority of which was unrealized foreign exchange loss.
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Impairment Losses

The Group recorded impairment losses on trade
receivables of approximately RMB787,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2020, while the Group recorded
reversal of impairment losses on trade receivables of
approximately RMB250,000 for the year ended 31
December 2019, which was mainly attributable to the
Epidemic that affected the repayabilities of the Group’s
debtors.

Following our evaluation and assessment on the Group’s
fixed assets in a prudent manner together with the
adverse impact of the Epidemic on the business and
operation environment in the PRC, the Group recognised
an one-off non-cash provision for impairment loss on
property, plant and equipment of approximately RMB2.6
million during the year ended 31 December 2020.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses slightly increased
approximately RMB347,000 or approximately 5.1%,
from approximately RMB6.8 million for the year ended
31 December 2019 to approximately RMB7.1 million
for the year ended 31 December 2020. The increase
was primarily attributable to additional headcounts for
dealing with the sales and marketing of vitamins and
supplements in Hong Kong and overseas.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses increased from approximately
RMB9.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2019
to approximately RMB10.2 million for the year ended
31 December 2020, which represented an increase of
approximately RMB512,000 or approximately 5.3%.
Such an increase was mainly attributable to purchasing
epidemic prevention supplies of approximately
RMB348,000 and remuneration for appointment of a
medical advisor with effect from 31 January 2020 of
approximately RMB458,000.
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Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses increased from
approximately RMB1.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2019 to approximately RMB2.3 million for the
year ended 31 December 2020, which represented an
increase of approximately RMB491,000 or approximately
27.9%. Such an increase was mainly attributable to
purchasing raw materials and equipment for research
and development of chemiluminescence technology
and POCT, and formulating vitamins and supplements
products.

Finance Costs

During the year ended 31 December 2020, finance
costs representing the interest on lease liabilities under
application of Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard
("HKFRS") 16 was approximately RMB74,000 as
compared to approximately RMB72,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

Results for the year

The loss attributable to owners of the Company was
approximately RMB11.6 million for the year ended
31 December 2020 as compared to approximately
RMB284,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019.
Excluding the above-mentioned non-recurring equity-
settled share-based payment expenses and impairment
loss on property, plant and equipment, the Group
recorded an adjusted loss before tax of approximately
RMB6.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2020,
compared to approximately RMB284,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

Basic loss per share for the year was RMB2.91 cents,

as compared to RMBO0.07 cents for the year ended 31
December 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Taxation

The PRC enterprise income tax rate applicable to the
Group's operating subsidiary in the PRC was 15% (2079:
15%).

Dividend

The Board did not recommend payment of the final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2079:
Nil).

The declaration, payment, and amount of future dividend
will be decided by the Board and will depend upon,
among other things, the Group’s results of operations,
capital requirements, cash flows, general financial
condition and such other factors as the Board may
consider important.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Our Group funded the liquidity and capital requirements
primarily through internally generated fund from
operating activities and proceeds from the listing on the
GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “Listing”).

As at 31 December 2020, our Group recorded total cash
and bank balances of approximately RMB41.9 million
compared to approximately RMB48.8 million as at 31
December 2019, which were placed with major banks in
the PRC and Hong Kong and denominated in RMB, Hong
Kong Dollars (“HK$"), United States Dollars ("US$") and
Canadian Dollars (“CAD$"). The decrease was mainly due
to the payments of daily operating expenses and research
and development expenses in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2020, the lease liabilities under
application of HKFRS 16 was approximately RMB2.6
million (2019: approximately RMB1.6 million). The
gearing ratio of our Group calculated based on the lease
liabilities divided by total equity as at 31 December 2020
was approximately 4.3% (2019: approximately 2.3%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRIN

There has been no change in the capital structure of the
Company since the Listing. The capital structure of the
Group comprised of issued share capital and reserves. The
equity attributable to owners of the Company amounted
to approximately RMB61.9 million as at 31 December
2020 (2019: approximately RMB70.7 million).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had 80 full-time
employees (2079: 73). Staff costs recognised in profit or
loss amounted to approximately RMB13.7 million (2079:
approximately RMB10.2 million) for the year ended 31
December 2020 (including directors and other employee
salaries and retirement benefits). Remuneration policies
and packages for the Group’s employees were based on
individual qualifications, performance, experience, and
conditions prevailing in the industry. In addition, various
training sessions have been offered to employees to
enhance their product and market knowledge.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group believed that there were certain risks and
uncertainties involved in the operations, some of which
were beyond the Group’s control. A detailed discussion
of the risk factors was set forth in the section headed “Risk
Factors” in our prospectus dated 30 November 2018 (the
“Prospectus”).

Annual Report 2020 &%

SRl NN R k= 72 - Z R
&) o AEBMEAREERIFECBITIRA R
o ARREEAREEERN T _ZF
+—A=+—HHABAREGIIBE L(=
FE—NF  GARE70.7527T) °

BENRFHMBUR

N—_ZE_FF+-_A=1+—8  A£EHE
OEEWEEB(ZF—NF - 735) - HZE
—E-TF+-_A=1+—HILFE RiEx
BRNEINABOARE1378E (=
FE—NF  AREI02HET)(BIRES
kHME B & e MRIKER) - XEBIEES
MENBER RFBIRRES ERERE - &
| KBRRERERBRME - 1IN EE
EREZEEIINIRSEER TSN

TERBRFAPRE

AEERR - 2EPNETRRNETHAR
% ﬁﬂPﬁ—*ﬁ D AR BEEES - B

RAZENFATREN B/ T \F
—I— A=ZtTHZHERER(BRER A
S R



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The functional currencies of our operations, assets and
liabilities were mostly denominated in RMB. Therefore,
we were not exposed to any significant foreign exchange
risk for realised losses, except for our HK$, US$ and
CAD$ denominated bank balances. The Group currently
did not have a foreign currency hedging policy. The
Group did not engage in any derivatives agreements and
did not commit to any financial instruments to hedge its
foreign exchange exposure throughout the year ended
31 December 2020. The management will closely monitor
foreign currency exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arises.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group will continue to employ a prudent treasury
policies in managing the Group’s cash balances and
maintain a strong and healthy liquidity to ensure that the
Group is well placed to take advantage of future growth
opportunities.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

For the year ended 31 December 2020, save as the
acquisition of 49% equity interests in Smartronic
Limited in relation to the operation of the cross-border
e-commerce platforms (details of which were set out
in the Company’s announcement dated 3 June 2020),
the Group did not make any material acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENRE DN

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not hold any
significant investment.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2020, the Group pledged a motor
vehicle for lease liabilities with aggregate net carrying
amount of approximately RMB434,000 (37 December
2019: approximately RMB542,000).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had capital
commitments of approximately RMB26,000 (37 December
2019: approximately RMB78,000) in respect of the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2020, the Company had no
outstanding corporate guarantee (37 December 2019:
Nil). As at 31 December 2020, the Group had no banking
facilities and did not have any significant contingent
liabilities (37 December 2019: Nil).

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Future Plans
and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus, the Group does
not have other plans for material investments and capital
assets as at the date of this Report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM SHARE OFFER

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were listed
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange on the Listing Date
at HK$0.5 per Share. The net proceeds from the Share
Offer (as defined in the Prospectus), after deduction of
underwriting fees and commission, and other estimated
expenses payable by the Company in connection with the
Share Offer, amounted to approximately HK$16.6 million
out of which approximately HK$11.9 million remained
unutilised as of 1 January 2020. During the period from
the Listing on 13 December 2018 (the “Listing Date”) to
31 December 2020, the Group did not change its plans
on use of proceeds as stated in the section headed “Future
Plans and Use of Proceeds “in the Prospectus.

The utilisation of net proceeds from the Share Offer by
the Group is set out below:

BEENWR DM

ROBERGRERR

ARG ([RRE )R T B H R BT
GEM_ET » SRR H B0SHET - RIDEE
(TERBRER)MSHBEFEEIERE
HERNMEEIARKRARIRRNDEEENE
Hipfhsts) B166@EBT Hbh Y
MNIBEEBTN -_E-_ZTF— A — B HKE
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As at 31 December
RT=A=t-H
2019 2020
“E-N0E kS 223
Amount of Net Proceeds  Percentage of ~ Unutilised  Actual use Unutilised
Use of Net Proceeds allocated upon listing ~ net proceeds proceeds  of proceeds proceeds Notes
LHRARN FERERE ABA e *BA
FrgsERERR FERERE BA g ERRR iGE (i1
(HKS million)™  (RMB'000)® (RMB000) (RMB000) (RMB'000)
(BEATL)" (ARBTT)? (\ESTR) (ARETR) (ARBTI)
Developing new products, improving
our existing products and carrying out
international cooperation projects
REHER  SRAMNREERRF
RERAER 69 6,087 41.5% 4710 2919 3,168 ]
Expanding our sales network and
enhancing our marketing activities
BRAMNEERE RNBAMNHS
RS 45 4,011 27.3% 1,451 3175 836 3)
Developing auxiliary reproductive supply
business
YRBDEERRER 46 4,100 27.9% 4,100 - 4,100 (4
Working capital
LEES 06 481 33% 281 431 -
Total
&5 16.6 14,679 100% 10,542 6,575 8,104
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEETWR DN

Notes:

(1)  The net proceeds from the Share Offer based on the Offer
Price of HK$0.50 per Offer Share.

(2) Translation based on the exchange rate of RMB1.00 to
HK$1.13.

(3) The expansion plan of developing new products, improving
our existing products and expanding our sales network and
enhancing our marketing activities were delayed due to the
impact of the Epidemic and the difficulty to hire expected
number of suitable personnel of different positions. In view
of these, the relevant net proceeds which were originally
expected to be utilised by 31 December 2020 is currently
expected to be utilised by 31 December 2021.

(4) The expansion plan of developing the business of the
auxiliary reproductive supplies was delayed because the
Company continued to analyse the market demand of
the culture medium and outlook of the PRC auxiliary
reproductive supply market and it is expected to take
additional time to observe the potential impact of the
Epidemic on auxiliary reproductive supply market. In view
of this, the relevant net proceeds which were originally
expected to be utilised by 31 December 2020 is currently
expected to be utilised by 31 December 2021.

The business objectives, future plans and planned use
of proceeds as stated in the Prospectus were based on
the best estimation and assumption of future market
conditions made by the Group at the time of preparing
the Prospectus while the proceeds were applied based on
the actual development of the Group’s business and the
industry.

As at 31 December 2020, all unutilised proceeds of

approximately RMB8.1 million were deposited with major
banks in the PRC.
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Comparison of Business Objectives with Actual ¥IEEZHEBEREREELLE

Business Progress

The proceeds raised from the Listing are intended to be TS FUB S £15 B B I P00 E 5 R B
used for further strengthening our market position and ﬁ**i‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ R AvSE - a4 ilEohl
expanding our market shares by pursuing our business  35{7%8 ° %Hﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂ‘“@ FEALEEF
strategies. An analysis comparing the business objectives FtHMHHBEZ-"ZT-_ZTF+-_A=+—HIt
as set out in the Prospectus with the Group’s actual ZEBREKEELETEINOT ¢

business progress for the period from the Listing Date up

to 31 December 2020 is set out below:

Business objectives as set
out in the Prospectus

ERERFHEXKER

Actual business progress for the period from the Listing Date to
31 December 2020
BLTREME—Z-_BF+-A=+—-HZBRXKEE

Development of new products

RS EmM

(i) The Group has completed the clinical trials of vitro diagnostic reagents
for sperm nuclear DNA integrity reagent and is proceeding with the Class
Il medical device registration; (i) spermatozoa diagnostic reagent and
sperm mitochondrial diagnostic reagent were in the preliminary research
phase but we already completed the flow cytometry technology platform;
(iii) anti-mullerian hormone with the application of chemiluminescence
technology was completed with the required documentation and was
undergoing the demonstration stage of the research and development
program; and (iv) the Group has manufactured the semen biochemical
immunoassay equipment and we are in the position to conduct sale with
our improved products after the Class Il medical device registration.

(\VAEEE TKAE %VDNAE?EE SONZET A B ER IR A5 - WRTEIE
TEZRBERMEM (S TF2EHBE RS FRNEBZE R BRI
HIFEPEER - %ﬁ‘ﬁ&ﬁﬂmﬂmﬂ%ﬁﬁ@fﬁﬂi@ﬁ\' A (i) R
BT e SR EREZE TR XIELE - WIEETHIERFAET
EIREMEEL  RvASEED ERAEERRELLRERAEE - BXEE
B MR ESRW A E SR MISCENER °

As at 31 December 2020, the Group filled up the positions of 2 research
and development personnel (1 external recruitment and 1 internal
transfer), 2 technicians (both internal transfer) and 2 production workers
(1 external recruitment and 1 internal transfer). The Group was unable
to hire the expected number of suitable research and development
personnel, technicians and production workers whose experience and
gualifications meet with the requirements of relevant positions as a result
of the limited supply of suitable personnel in the market.

RZEZEF+_A=+—H AEBECEFG_BHBEAE(—RBINT
RER—RAIAE) —BEMAB(RBAT) R_REEAE(—F
ANERAREE N — 2 BB ) BRI - TS HiEE NBHEEAR - A
SERAEIEETARIENE M AR A MAERA AT EEHR K ERNE B
BTAE BMABREEAE °
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Business objectives as set
out in the Prospectus

ERERFHEXEER

Actual business progress for the period from the Listing Date to
31 December 2020
BLmEME—Z-BF+-_A=+-HZBRXKEE

Improving existing products

HRBEMNRBEM

Annual Report 2020 &%

(i) The Group has submitted the Class Il medical device registration to
Guangdong Food and Drug Administration for the improved products
for “seminal plasma fructose quantitative assay kit” and “seminal
plasma neutral alpha-glucosidase quantitative assay kit” and they are
undergoing the approval process; (ii) Shenzhen Huakang was granted
with the International Organisation for Standardisation 13485 (“ISO
13485") Certificate on 23 November 2020 for meeting the regulatory
requirements of the design, development, production and sales of
IVD reagents (Please refer to the voluntary announcement announced
on 24 December 2020 for further details); and (iii) The Group has
provided training to our staff to familiarise with the ISO 13485 quality
management system to improve the Group's capacity on research and
development.

WAEEERNRERMBREEETEWRIHABE I R1BEPEa -8
EREERTERIANE NEREARMEREBEERERF _HE
BT - MIEEETRUERT ;- (NRYZERR=ZZE_FF+—AH
T = R ERBEEREE( 4R 44134858 = ([1SO 13485 ]) » LAFERREZ 4
P A BRI RBEAREEMNEEEFAEEER(BL2E-_Z=
TE+ AT ENEBEERAEUERE ZH5) » RiilVANEED A
HIR B TIRMEEF| - LAEM IS0 13485 B EE B AT AAE -
HAR S AL BRI EES -

As at 31 December 2020, the Group was unable to hire suitable research
and development personnel, technicians and production workers whose
experience and qualifications meet the requirements of the relevant
positions as a result of the limited supply of suitable personnel in the
market. Our Group's existing staff took up the work on a temporary
basis.

R-ZE-ZF+_A=+—H B msLEE ABHESR  A&E
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Business objectives as set
out in the Prospectus

ERERFHEXEER

Actual business progress for the period from the Listing Date to
31 December 2020
BLmEME—Z-BF+-_A=+-HZBRXKEE

Expanding our sales network
and enhancing our marketing
activities
ERRMOHEEEE L

AN FAPIE & 3HIE B

Developing auxiliary
reproductive supply business

BREDEEAMER

Our staff (i) explored and paid visits to a number of potential and new
customers located in the northern part of the PRC; (ii) participated in
several annual conferences and academic conferences held throughout
the PRC; (iii) recruiting a project manager to liaise with international
cooperation and lead the projects.

HPWEIOEWERFHPEILMHE TEETP LTS © ()28
REPESHEBITHNEAFESHMBMEE 0 Mi)HEEER KEN
BB S ERIT B L AEIRR -

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had recruited four sales and
marketing personnel and two technicians. The Group was unable to hire
the expected number of suitable sales and marketing personnel whose
experience and qualifications met the requirements of relevant positions
as a result of the limited supply of suitable personnel in the market.

R-ZF-ZF+_A=+—H ARECEFOAHEENREHARR=
ARMAR - ARTIH LEE NEHEER - AEBREBFRYHNAE
HEETT S ERRAL P SRR M E RS EHE R EHAR -

The Group is still analysing the market demand of targeted medium and
outlook of the PRC auxiliary reproductive supply market.

AEBHHBERENT S TR EP RS LS AR RS0 RET
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme
pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders in the extraordinary general meeting on 13
January 2020 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The Share
Option Scheme is a long-term incentive scheme of the
Company to reward its employees, Directors and other
eligible participants for their contributions to the Group
and to assist the Group in its recruitment and retention
of high calibre employees and other eligible participants
who are instrumental to the growth and development of
the Group.

On 9 April 2020, the Company announced the granting
of an aggregate of 26,008,000 share options, subject
to the acceptance by the grantees, at an exercise price
of HK$0.125 per Share of the Company to the eligible
persons under the Share Option Scheme. The market
price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant
was HK$0.125 per Share. All of the share options are
exercisable from the date of acceptance by a grantee to 8
April 2030 (both days inclusive). Each of the grantees has
paid HK$1 to the Company on acceptance of the offer
of share option. Details are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 9 April 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFWRDN

The movement during the year and the options Z—ZE=ZTF+=A=+—HEKRITEERE
outstanding as at 31 December 2020 were as follows: WENEBIFTRIT -

Number of share options

BREZA
Exercised Forfeited At
At 1 January Granted during during during the 31 December
Category of grantees 2020 the year the year year 2020
R-B-ZF RER H‘EZBZEBHF
AZAER —HA—H RERRE RERTE #®EW +=—A=+—H
Executive Directors
WITES
Mr. Zhang Shuguang
(note)
SREEN S i (H72) - 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000
Mr. Zhang Chunguang
(note)
RENTE(HE) - 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael
(note)
BB (HT) - 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000
Mr. He Jiaming (note)
=R LE (M) - 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000
Other employees (note)
B8 T (f72) - 10,008,000 - (504,000 9,504,000
Total
st - 26,008,000 - (504,000) 25,504,000
Note: Mzt -

The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date REZ T -_ZTF+-_A=+—HILFERF
on which the options were granted during the year ended 31 Fﬁzﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬂ’]“ H A2 BB R0.12578
December 2020 is HK$0.125. The exercise price is HK$0.125. 7T 7@ (B /50.1255 7T ° TTT{EE%HX$EZT"H§
The exercise period during which the options may be exercised HHEE%( MEREZERE_Z=% i@ ANB(H
is the period from the date of acceptance to 8 April 2030 (both EMABIEENRN) - FHERA T _TFEMA
days inclusive). The date of grant was 9 April 2020. pAR=IS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRIN

All the existing share options of the Company are vested upon
granting. Forfeiture of share options are transferred from share
option reserve to accumulated profits or losses within the equity
of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, share options were
granted on 9 April 2020. The fair value of the share options
determined at the date of grant using the binomial model was
approximately RMB2,660,000 and recognised in profit or loss
during the year ended 31 December 2020 as equity-settled
share-based payment expenses.

The following assumptions were used to calculate the fair values
of share options:

Closing share price immediately ~ HK$0.123
before date of grant

Grant date share price HK$0.125

Exercise price HK$0.125

Expected life ten years

Expected volatility 103.1%

Dividend yield nil
Risk-free interest rate 0.778%

The binomial model has been used to estimate the fair value
of the share options. The value of the share options is subject
to the limitations of the binomial model and a number of
assumptions which are subjective and difficult to ascertain.
Changes in the subjective input assumptions could materially
affect the fair value estimate.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, since 31 December 2020 up to the date of
this Report no significant events affecting the Company
have taken place.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR

MANAGEMENT
ESREREERZERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Shuguang, aged 50, is our executive Director
and chairman of our Board. He joined our Group in
September 2003 and was appointed as our Director on
3 August 2017 and was re-designated as our Executive
Director on 25 September 2017. He is mainly responsible
for the management of our Board, giving strategic advice
and guidance on the business and operations of our
Group.

Mr. Zhang Shuguang held a bachelor’s degree and
master’s degree in engineering from Nippon Institute of
Technology, Japan and has over 15 years of experience in
the IVD reagents industry in the PRC.

Mr. Zhang Shuguang is the brother of Mr. Zhang
Chunguang, who is an executive Director and the chief
executive officer of our Group. Mr. Zhang Shuguang
is also the brother of Mr. Chang Yim Yang, who is our
Controlling Shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) (“Controlling Shareholder”) and a member of
our senior management.

Mr. Zhang Chunguang, aged 53, is our executive
Director and chief executive officer of our Group. He
joined our Group in July 2008 and was appointed as
our Director on 3 August 2017 and re-designated as our
executive Director on 25 September 2017. He is mainly
responsible for our business operations and the day-to-
day management of our Group.

Mr. Zhang Chunguang graduated from Hubei Institute
of Economics, in the PRC, majoring in economic English
and has over 10 years of experience in the IVD reagents
industry in the PRC.

Mr. Zhang Chunguang is the brother of Mr. Zhang
Shuguang, who is an executive Director and the chairman
of our Board. Mr. Zhang Chunguang is a Controlling
Shareholder and a member of our senior management,
who is also the brother of Mr. Chang Yim Yang.
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Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael ("Mr. Poon"), aged 49, is our
executive Director, chief financial officer and compliance
officer of our Group. Mr. Poon joined our Group as our
Director on 3 August 2017. On 25 September 2017,
Mr. Poon was designated as our executive Director
and appointed as our compliance officer. Mr. Poon is
responsible for the financial management and corporate
finance of our Group.

Mr. Poon held a bachelor’'s degree in administrative
studies from York University, Canada and master’s
degree in practising accounting from Monash University,
Australia. Mr. Poon has been a fellow member of
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") since July 2009, and a member with CPA
Australia since March 2000 respectively. Mr. Poon passed
the qualification examination of Asset Management
Association of China in 2016. Mr. Poon has over 20 years
of experience in financial reporting, business advisory,
auditing, taxation, accounting, merger and acquisition.

Mr. Poon is currently an independent non-executive
director in a number of Hong Kong listed companies,
namely China Uptown Group Company Limited (stock
code: 2330.HK) since 29 November 2006, Smartac
International Holdings Limited (formerly known as
Smartac Group China Holdings Limited, Sino Dragon New
Energy Holdings Limited, China Zirconium Limited and
Asia Zirconium Limited) (stock code: 0395.HK) since 29
January 2010, Teamway International Group Holdings
Limited (formerly known as Jin Bao Bao Holdings Limited)
(stock code: 1239.HK) since 19 March 2019, and LFG
Investment Holdings Limited (stock code: 3938.HK) since
10 September 2019, the shares of these companies are
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, and
Niche-Tech Group Limited (stock code: 8490.HK) since 28
June 2019, the shares of which are listed on GEM.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. He Jiaming (“Mr. He"), aged 35, is our executive
Director. Mr. He joined our Group as a business
development director in January 2019. Mr. He is mainly
responsible for evaluating and developing new products
in connection with male fertility and exploring overseas
business cooperation opportunities.

Mr. He graduated from University of Manchester in the
United Kingdom in 2010, with a combined bachelor and
master degree in chemistry and has over four years of
experience in the fields of biochemistry and international
trading.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph (“Dr. Chow"), aged
48, was appointed as our independent non-executive
Director on 16 December 2020. Dr. Chow is responsible
for supervising our Group’s compliance, corporate
governance matters and providing independent advice to
our Group.

Dr. Chow graduated from the Monash University in
October 1997 with a degree in the Bachelor of Science.
He obtained a Master of Medical Sciences degree and
a Doctor of Philosophy degree in November 2000 and
November 2007 respectively in the University of Hong
Kong.

Dr. Chow has more than 20 years of experiences in the fields
of biomedical testing and molecular diagnostics technology.
Since April 2018, Dr. Chow has been the chief executive
officer of Zhejiang Thunderbio Innovation Limited* ( # /T
# LAY EHE B R A Fl) (“Thunderbio”) and Dr. Chow
has led his team of inventors and experts at Thunderbio in
commercializing the application of molecular diagnosis and
microfluidic technology, being the technology with growing
applications in more efficient biomedical testing.

*  The English name is for identification purpose only
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Dr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary (“Dr. Cheng”), aged 53,
was appointed as our independent non-executive
Director on 1 September 2020. Dr. Cheng is responsible
for supervising our Group’s compliance, corporate
governance matters and providing independent advice to
our Group.

Dr. Cheng obtained a Bachelor’'s degree in Accounting
(Honours) and Master’s degree of Business Administration
from Southern lllinois University, the United States of
America (“USA"), in 1992 and 1994 respectively, and
a Doctor of Business Administration degree from the
City University of Hong Kong with research area in
“Independent Non-Executive Director and Corporate
Governance” in 2011. Dr. Cheng has been a certified
public accountant in both Hong Kong and USA and a
Certified Tax Advisor of the Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong. Dr. Cheng has over 25 years of experiences
in financial reporting, business advisory, auditing,
accounting, tax investigation and liquidation. Dr. Cheng
is currently the managing director of Gary Cheng CPA
Limited.

Dr. Cheng currently serves as charter president and
honorary advisor of the Lions Club of Huaxia Hong Kong
and committee member of Social Welfare Advisory
Committee of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.

Dr. Cheng is currently an independent non-executive
director in a Hong Kong listed company, namely Smartac
International Holdings Limited (formerly known as
Smartac Group China Holdings Limited, Sino Dragon New
Energy Holdings Limited, China Zirconium Limited and
Asia Zirconium Limited), a company whose shares are
currently listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 395.HK) since 16 November 2001.
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Mr. Chan Kin Sang (“Mr. Chan"), aged 69, was
appointed as our independent non-executive Director
on 26 November 2018. Mr. Chan is responsible
for supervising our Group’s compliance, corporate
governance matters and providing independent advice to
our Group.

Mr. Chan graduated from the University of Hong Kong
with a bachelor’s degree in laws in November 1979. Mr.
Chan was admitted as a notary public in April 1997. Mr.
Chan is currently a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute
of Directors, a China-appointed attesting officer and a
practising solicitor in Hong Kong. Mr. Chan has over 30
years of experience in legal practice in Hong Kong and
Mr. Chan is currently the partner of the Peter K.S. Chan
& Co.

Mr. Chan is currently an independent non-executive
director in a number of Hong Kong listed companies,
namely China Fortune Financial Group Limited
(stock code: 290.HK) since 9 July 2014, and Pak Tak
International Limited (stock code: 2668.HK) since 3 April
2018, the shares of them are listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange. Mr. Chan is currently also a director
of Guanghe Landscape Culture Communication Co.,
Limited (stock code: 600234.SH) since 28 June 2016, a
company listed on the Shanghai stock exchange but Mr.
Chan resigned from the said post on 16 October 2020.
In addition, Mr. Chan is currently also a non-executive
director of Sino Harbour Holdings Group Limited (stock
code: 1663.HK) since 1 April 2020, a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Details of the Directors who resigned during the period
from 1 January 2020 to the date of this Report are set
out below:

Dr. Yeung David Wai Chow (“Dr. Yeung”), aged 74,
was appointed as our independent non-executive Director
on 26 November 2018 and resigned on 16 December
2020. Dr. Yeung was responsible for supervising our
Group's compliance, corporate governance matters and
providing independent advice to our Group.

Dr. Yeung obtained a bachelor’s degree in medicine
and surgery and master’s degree in social sciences
(behavioural health) from the University of Hong Kong
in October 1971 and November 2010, respectively. Dr.
Yeung currently holds medical practitioner licences in
Hong Kong and California, the United States respectively.
Dr. Yeung also obtained a certificate from the American
Board of Nuclear Medicine, American Board of Pediatrics
and American Board of Integrative Holistic Medicine in
the United States in December 1975, September 1976
and December 2016, respectively.

Dr. Yeung has over 40 years of experience in nuclear
medicine and management. Dr. Yeung had worked in
several hospitals and a university with respect to nuclear
medicine. He is currently the honorary professor of the
department of diagnostic radiology of the University of
Hong Kong.
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Mr. Kwok Chi Shing (“Mr. Kwok"), aged 59, was
appointed as our independent non-executive Director
on 26 November 2018 and resigned on 1 September
2020. He was responsible for supervising our Group's
compliance, corporate governance matters and providing
independent advice to our Group.

Mr. Kwok obtained master’s degree in arts in economics
with accountancy from The University of Aberdeen, the
United Kingdom in July 1986. Mr. Kwok has been a
chartered accountant in Scotland, the United Kingdom
since November 1989. Mr. Kwok has been a certified
public accountant, certified tax advisor and certified
financial planner in Hong Kong since January 1991, June
1992 and October 2001 respectively. Mr. Kwok became
a member of China Mergers & Acquisitions Association
in March 2014. He has more than 20 years of experience
in audit assurance, cross border taxation and project
finance. He is currently the director of LKKC C.P.A.
Limited.

Mr. Kwok has been a director of Pok Oi Hospital, Hong
Kong since 2015 and he was appointed as the founding
second vice president of the Lions Club of Hong Kong
New Territories West Limited in 2015.

Mr. Kwok is currently an independent non-executive
director in a number of Hong Kong listed companies,
namely (i) DTXS Silk Road Investment Holdings Company
Limited (stock code: 620.HK) since 29 May 2020, and
Grand Ocean Advanced Resources Co. Ltd (stock code:
65.HK) (formerly known as Angel Technology Co Ltd),
the shares of both are listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange; and (ii) Speed Apparel Holding Limited
(stock code: 8183.HK) since 23 January 2017, Hang Chi
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8405.HK) since 21 June
2017, the shares of both are listed on GEM.
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For information regarding changes in composition of the
Board for the period from 1 January 2020 to the date of
this Report, please refer to page 37 of this Report.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chang Yim Yang, aged 58, is vice chairman and a
director of Shenzhen Huakang Bio-Medical Engineering
Limited* (“Shenzhen Huakang”) and a director of
King Grace Company Limited (“King Grace”). He joined
our Group in September 2003 and has been mainly
responsible for the general management and business
development of Shenzhen Huakang. He has over 16
years of experience in mergers and acquisitions as well as
capital market operations.

Mr. Chang Yim Yang is the brother of Mr. Zhang
Shuguang, who is our Controlling Shareholder, our
executive Director and chairman of our Board. Mr. Chang
Yim Yang is also the brother of Mr. Zhang Chunguang,
who is an executive Director and the chief executive
officer of our Group.

Mr. Chau Lai Ki, aged 37, is the financial controller
of our Group and our company secretary. He is mainly
responsible for the financial management and company
secretarial matters of our Group. He joined our Group
and was appointed as company secretary of our Company
on 25 September 2017. He was further appointed as
financial controller of our Group on 7 November 2017.

Mr. Chau Lai Ki held a master’s degree in professional
accounting from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
He is a practising member of the HKICPA and has over
14 years of experience in the finance and accounting
industry.

*  The English name is for identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Fu Jianhua, aged 55, is the deputy general manager
and chief technology officer of Shenzhen Huakang.
He joined our Group in January 2014 and is mainly
responsible for the technology research and development
of our Group.

Mr. Fu Jianhua held a bachelor’s degree in science
from Wuhan University, the PRC and has over 18 years
of experience in the medical devices and IVD reagents
industry in the PRC.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael was appointed as the
compliance officer of our Company on 25 September
2017. For his qualifications and experience, please refer
to the paragraph headed "Executive Directors” in this
section.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chau Lai Ki was appointed as our company secretary
on 25 September 2017. He is also the financial controller
of our Group. For his qualifications and experience, please
refer to the paragraph headed “Senior Management” in
this section.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

A\ 2 \\
TEERBE

Pursuant to Rule 18.44 of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Board is pleased to present this corporate governance
report for the year ended 31 December 2020. This Report
highlights the key corporate governance practices of the
Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to achieving high corporate
governance standards.

The Board believes that good corporate governance
standards are essential in providing a framework for the
Company to safeguard the interests of shareholders,
enhance corporate value, formulate its business
strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and
accountability.

The Company has applied the principles and code
provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code
(the “CG Code") contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

The Company has adopted and complied with, where
applicable, the CG Code during the year ended 31
December 2020 and up to the date of this Report (the
“Relevant Period").

The board will continue to monitor and review the
Company’s corporate governance practices to ensure
compliance with the CG Code.

The Board conducted reviews of the system of internal
controls of the Group to ensure an effective and
adequate internal control system is in place. The Board
also convened meetings to discuss financial, operational
and risk management control.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors on terms no
less exacting than the required standard of dealings
concerning securities transactions by the Directors as set
out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules (the
“Model Code”) as its own code governing securities
transactions of the Directors (the “Required Standard”).
Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors, all of
them confirmed that they had fully complied with the
Required Standard during the Relevant Period.

Pursuant to Rule 5.66 of the Model Code, the Directors
have also requested any employee of the Company or
director or employee of a subsidiary of the Company
(the “relevant employees”) who, because of his
office or employment in the Company or a subsidiary,
is likely to possess inside information in relation to the
securities of the Company, not to deal in securities of the
Company when he would be prohibited from dealing by
the Model Code as if he were a Director. No incident of
noncompliance of the Required Standard by the relevant
employees was noted by the Company.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

In order to maintain a clear delineation of the businesses
between our Group and our Controlling Shareholders,
the latter have entered into a deed of non-competition
in favour of our Company (for ourselves and as trustee
for each of our subsidiaries from time to time) on 27
November 2018 (the “Deed of Non-Competition”) to
the effect that each of them will not, and will procure
each of their respective close associates (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) not to, directly or indirectly participate
in, or hold any right or interest, or otherwise be involved
in any business which may be in competition with our
businesses.

For details of the Deed of Non-Competition, please refer
to the section headed “Relationship with our Controlling
Shareholders — Non-competition Undertakings from Our
Controlling Shareholders” in the Prospectus.
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The Company has received a written confirmation from
the Controlling Shareholders that they have complied
with the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition in the
year ended 31 December 2020. The independent non-
executive Directors have also reviewed the status of
compliance and written confirmation from the controlling
shareholders, and noted that all the undertakings under
the Deed of Non-Competition have been complied with
by each of the Controlling Shareholders for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The overall management of the Group’s business is
vested in the Board which assumes the responsibility of
leadership and control of the Group and is collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Group by
directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors make
decisions objectively in the interests of the Group.

The Board formulates strategies and sets directions
for the Group’s activities to develop its business and
enhance shareholders’ value. The Board also assumes
the responsibilities for maintaining high standard
of corporate governance, including among others,
reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance, and reviewing and monitoring the
Company'’s policies and practices in compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements.

The Board has established board committees with
specific written terms of reference which deal clearly
with the committees’ authority and duties. Details of the
respective committee’s terms of reference are available at
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The day-to-day management, administration and
operation of the Group are delegated to the executive
Directors and the senior management. The delegated
functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board for
significant transactions.
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Board Composition

During the Relevant Period, the Board comprises seven
Directors of which four are executive Directors and
three are independent non-executive Directors. The
composition of the Board during the Relevant Period is as
follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Shuguang (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Chunguang (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael (Chief Financial Officer)

Mr. He Jiaming (Business Development Director)
(appointed on 14 January 2020)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph
(appointed on 16 December 2020)
Dr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary
(appointed on 1 September 2020)
Dr. Yeung David Wai Chow
(resigned on 16 December 2020)
Mr. Kwok Chi Shing
(resigned on 1 September 2020)
Mr. Chan Kin Sang

The biographical information of the Directors and
relationships between the members of the Board are set
out in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 25 to 33 of this Report.
Mr. Zhang Shuguang, Mr. Zhang Chunguang and Mr.
Chang Yim Yang (one of our senior management) are
brother, and Mr. Zhang Shuguang and Mr. Chang Yim
Yang are our Controlling Shareholders.
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BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS

Regular Board meetings should be held at least four times
a year involving active participation, either in person
or through electronic means of communication, of a
majority of Directors. At least 14 days’ notice is given for
a regular Board meeting. For all other Board meetings,
notice will be given in a reasonable time in advance.
The Directors are allowed to include any matter in the
agenda that is required for discussion and resolution
at the meeting. To enable the Directors to be properly
briefed on issues arising at each of the Board meetings
and to make informed decisions, an agenda and the
accompanying Board papers will be sent to all Directors
at least three days before the intended date of the Board
meeting, or such other period as agreed. The company
secretary is responsible for keeping all Board meetings’
minutes. Draft and final versions of the minutes will be
circulated to the Directors for comments and record
respectively within a reasonable time after each meeting
and the final version is open for the Directors’ inspection.
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The attendance records of each Director at Board and
Committee meetings, at the annual general meeting
("AGM") and extraordinary general meeting (“"EGM")
during the year ended 31 December 2020 are as follows:
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= oA A
HEE&®

DEsLIRL

“EFE+ A=+ —RHILFE -
Hx?ﬁﬂiﬁ‘\

(TRRBFARE ) LEREAS (T RRY
BIRE DM HFERCET

Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend

YRS Ve
Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination

Board  Committee ~ Committee  Committee AGM EGM
Name of Directors 3054 EZe EZNZBET  §MZEE REZEE RREFAE RREkNAE
Erecutive Directors: 0ES:
Mr. Zhang Shuguang RErEs 1414 NA NA 33 " "
Mr. Zhang Chunguang FaELLE 14/14 NIA 33 NIA i i
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michal RRELE 1414 NIA NIA NIA " "
Mr. He Jiaming (appointed with BB LE(N-F-%FF

effect from 14 January 20200~ —ATRBEZH) 1313 NIA NIA NIA i 00
Independent non-executive S £

Directors:

Dr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph FEEET(R-5_%F

(appointed with effect from 16~ +=ATABZA)

December 2020) 00 1 00 00 00 00
Dr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary gETET(R-3-%F

(appointed with effect from NA-RZH)

1 September 2020) 22 22 00 N/A 00 00
Dr. Yeung David Wai Chow FENEER-2-2F

(resigned with effect from TR/ BEE)

16 December 2020) 14114 blo 3B 3B 7 7
Mr. Kok Chi Shing IERAE(N-F-FF

(resigned with effect from NA—R#E)

1 September 2020) 12112 55 22 N/A 7 0n
Mr. Chan Kin Sang RiELs 14/14 n NIA 3R /1 /1
Total meeting(s) held during the ~ EZ=F-FF+-A=1-H

year ended 31 December 2000 HEBAB{IRLH AL 14 7 3 3 1 1
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the
roles of chairman and chief executive officer should
be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual.

The positions of chairman and chief executive officer are
held by Mr. Zhang Shuguang and Mr. Zhang Chunguang
respectively. The roles of the chairman and the chief
executive officer have been separated and assumed by
different individuals to ensure a balance of power and
authority so that power is not concentrated in any member
of the Board. The chairman provides leadership and is
responsible for the effective functioning and leadership
of the Board. The chief executive officer focuses on the
Company's business development and daily management
and operations generally.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

During the Relevant Period, the Board at all times met
the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive
directors, accounting for at least one-third of the Board,
with at least one independent non-executive director
possessing the appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

Prior to their respective appointment, each of the
independent non-executive Directors has submitted a
written statement to the Stock Exchange confirming their
independence. The Company has received from each
of the independent non-executive Directors an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules and the Board considers that
all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent and meet the requirements as set out in Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers all
independent non- executive Directors are independent.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each of Mr. Zhang Shuguang, Mr. Zhang Chunguang
and Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael, who were appointed on
25 September 2017, has entered into a service contract
with the Company commencing from the Listing Date,
which has no fixed term and can be terminated by either
party giving not less than three months’ notice in writing
to the other party. Mr. He Jiaming, who was appointed
on 14 January 2020, has entered into a service contract
with the Company for an initial fixed term of three
years commencing from the date of appointment and
can be terminated by either party giving not less than
three months’ notice. Each of the independent non-
executive Directors has entered into an appointment
letter with our Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from their respective appointment dates
unless terminated by either party giving not less than one
month’s written notice to the other party. Each of the
appointments is subject to termination provisions therein
and provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors as
set out in the Articles of Association.

Save as disclosed aforesaid, none of the Directors
has entered into any service agreement or letter of
appointment with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Company within one
year without the payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).
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All the Directors, including the independent non-
executive Directors, are subject to retirement by rotation
and eligible for re-election in accordance with the Articles
of Association. At each AGM, one-third of the Directors
for the time being, or, if their number is not a multiple of
three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-
third, shall retire from office by rotation, provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation
at an AGM at least once every three years. A retiring
Director shall be eligible for re-election and shall continue
to act as a Director throughout the AGM at which he
retires. The Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so
far as necessary to ascertain the number of Directors to
retire by rotation) any Director who wishes to retire and
does not offer himself for re-election. Any further Directors
so to retire shall be those of other Directors subject to
retirement by rotation who have been the longest in
office since their last re-election or appointment and so
that as between the persons who became or were last
re-elected Directors on the same day, those to retire
shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves)
be determined by lot. A Director is not required to retire
upon reaching any particular age.

The Company may from time to time in general meeting
by ordinary resolution elect any person to be a Director
either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director.
Any Director so appointed shall be subject to retirement
by rotation.

The Board shall have the power from time to time and at
any time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill
a casual vacancy or as an additional Director. Any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold
office until the first general meeting of the Company
after his appointment and be subject to reelection at
such meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until
the next following AGM and shall then be eligible for re-
election. Any such Director appointed shall not be taken
into account in determining which particular Directors or
the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation at
an AGM.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company; and is collectively responsible for
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees,
leads and provides direction to management by laying
down strategies and overseeing their implementation,
monitors the Group’s operational and financial
performance, and ensures that sound internal control and
risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive
Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to
the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible
for ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of
the Company and providing a balance in the Board for
bringing effective independent judgement on corporate
actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the
information of the Company and may, upon request,
seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for discharging
their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of
other offices held by them.

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters
relating to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal
control and risk management, material transactions (in
particular those that may involve conflict of interests),
financial information, appointment of Directors and
other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the
Board, directing and co-ordinating the daily operation
and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.
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INDEMNITY OF THE DIRECTORS

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance
coverage on Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect
of any legal actions taken against Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage would be reviewed on an annual
basis.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
OF DIRECTORS

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments
and changes in order to effectively perform their
responsibilities and to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received induction
on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and full awareness of Director’s
responsibilities and obligations under the GEM Listing
Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. All Directors are encouraged
to attend relevant training courses at the Company's
expenses.

All the Directors were kept informed on a timely basis
of major changes that may have affected the Group’s
business, including relevant rules and regulations. During
the year, all Directors have participated in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills in accordance with code provision
A.6.5 contained in the CG Code.
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The Company organised training sessions for all Directors.
Such training sessions covered a wide range of relevant
topics including Directors’ duties and responsibilities,
corporate governance and updates on GEM Listing Rules,
etc. In addition, relevant reading materials including
memorandum on the duties and responsibilities of the
Directors have been provided to the Directors for their

reference and studying.

The record of continuous professional development
relating to Director’s duties and regulatory and business
development that have been received by the Directors for
the Relevant Period are summarised as follows:

RRAFEEEERPNEIIRE - ;XIS
FREREZEEEEE - RRESBREM
BE  CETARGEMLETRANRIEM
Z o ItH - EFCEREEEMNEME - B8
REEREIBERTE  UERES2ER
Eﬁﬁi °

EENEHEPRMK FREERENETE
HEBHRNFEFSESHRIEMALT

Nature of Continuous
Professional
Development
Programmes (Notes)

Name of Directors EEHE BESERRRAEHE (M)
Executive Directors: MITES -

Mr. Zhang Shuguang SREE S A&B
Mr. Zhang Chunguang SRENTE A&B
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael BRERE A&B
Mr. He Jiaming AIsALE A&B
Independent non-executive Directors: BN IEMITES -

Dr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph [EE L A&B
Dr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary g TEL A&B
Dr. Yeung David Wai Chow T%ihﬂx’ﬁ A&B
Mr. Kwok Chi Shing FER T E A&B
Mr. Chan Kin Sang @ﬁ_iﬁ'ﬁi A&B

Notes:

A: Attending seminars and/or meetings and/or forums and/or

briefings

B: Reading materials relevant to corporate governance,
director’s duties and responsibilities, GEM Listing Rules and

other relevant ordinances
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees on 26
November 2018, namely, the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee,
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company's affairs.
All Board committees of the Company are established
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly
with their authority and duties. The terms of reference
of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee are posted on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are
available to shareholders upon request.

The list of the chairman and members of each Board
committee is set out under “Corporate Information” on
page 3.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Dr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary
(Chairman), Dr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph and Mr. Chan Kin
Sang.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are in
compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing
Rules and paragraph C.3 of the CG Code and Corporate
Governance Report as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM
Listing Rules. The main duties of the Audit Committee are
to assist the Board in reviewing the financial information
and reporting process, risk management and internal
control systems, effectiveness of the internal audit
function, scope of audit and appointment of external
auditors, and arrangements to enable employees of the
Company to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of
the Company. The Audit Committee shall hold at least
two meetings a year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020, 7 meetings
have been held for the Audit Committee to review,
the quarterly, interim, and annual financial results and
reports and significant issues on the financial reporting,
operational and compliance controls, the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems and
continuing connected transactions.

The attendance of each member of the Audit Committee
is set out in the section headed “Board and Committee
Meetings” of this Report.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members,
namely Dr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary (Chairman) and Dr.
Chow Kwok Fai Joseph, both are independent non-
executive Directors, and Mr. Zhang Chunguang, an
executive Director.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
are in compliance with Rules 5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM
Listing Rules and paragraph B.1 of the CG Code and
Corporate Governance Report as set out in Appendix
15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The primary functions of
the Remuneration Committee include (i) reviewing and
making recommendations on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management,
the remuneration policy and structure for all Directors
and senior management; (ii) establishing formal and
transparent procedures for developing such remuneration
policy and structure to ensure that no Director or any
of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her
own remuneration; (iii) reviewing and approving the
management’s remuneration proposals with reference to
the Board'’s corporate goals and objectives; (iv) assessing
performance of executive Directors; and (v) approving
the terms of executive Directors’ service contracts. The
Remuneration Committee shall meet not less than once
every year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Remuneration
Committee met 3 times to review and make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
policy and the remuneration packages of the executive
Directors.

The attendance of each member of the Remuneration
Committee is set out in the section headed “Board and
Committee Meetings” of this Report.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management are set out in note 8 in the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2020.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Zhang Shuguang (Chairman), an executive
Director, Dr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph and Mr. Chan Kin
Sang, both are independent non-executive Director.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
are in compliance with paragraph A.5 of the CG Code
and Corporate Governance Report as set out in Appendix
15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The principal duties of the
Nomination Committee include reviewing the Board
composition, developing and formulating relevant
procedures for the nomination and appointment of
Directors, making recommendations to the Board on
the appointment and succession planning of Directors,
and assessing the independence of independent non-
executive Directors.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Nomination
Committee met 3 times to review among other things,
the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors; consider the qualifications of the retiring
directors standing for election at the 2019 annual general
meeting; review the structure, size and composition of
the Board and review the Board diversity policy adopted
by the Company.
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The attendance of each member of the Nomination
Committee is set out in the section headed “Board and
Committee Meetings” of this Report.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination
Committee would take into account various aspects as
well as factors concerning Board diversity as set out in
the Company’s Board diversity policy and procedures
for shareholders to propose a person for election as
a Director of the Company, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and industry
and regional experience etc. The Nomination Committee
would discuss and agree on measurable objectives for
achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary, and
recommend them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for
directorships, the Nomination Committee would consider
the candidate’s character, qualifications, experience,
independence and other relevant criteria necessary
to complement the corporate strategy and achieve
Board diversity, where appropriate, before making
recommendation to the Board.

The Nomination Committee considered that an
appropriate balance of diverse perspectives of the Board is
maintained.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board as a whole is responsible for performing the
functions set out in the code provision D.3.1 of the CG
Code.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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During the year, the Board had reviewed the Company’s
corporate governance policies and practices, training and
continuous professional development of Directors and
senior management, the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
the compliance of the Model Code and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors, the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in this Report, and communicate with various level of
staff to ascertain the implementation of policies and
procedures on corporate governance.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Company has in place policies and procedures
in relation to risk management and internal control.
The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing the
risk management and internal control systems and for
reviewing their effectiveness. The Company’s internal
control system and procedures are designed to meet
its specific business needs and to minimise its risk
exposure. The Company has adopted different internal
guidelines, along with written policies and procedures
to monitor and lessen the impact of risks which are
relevant to its business and control its daily business
operations. Management will identify the risks associated
with the Group's day-to-day operations for review by
the Board. The Board is responsible for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks that the
Company is willing to take in achieving the Company’s
strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Company
establishes and maintains appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems. The Board
oversees management in the design, implementation
and monitoring of the risk management and internal
control systems. The Board acknowledges that such risk
management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss.
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The Group does not have an internal audit function and
is currently of the view that there is no immediate need
to set up an internal audit function within the Group
considering the size, nature and geography of the Group's
business. The Directors are responsible for formulating
and overseeing the implementation of the Group’s risk
management and internal control measures. The Group
has engaged an external independent internal control
consultant (the “IC Consultant”) to conduct an internal
control review on the internal control system of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2020. Such review is
conducted annually. The review covers certain business
cycles and procedures undertaken by the Group and
make recommendations for improving and strengthening
the system. The scope of the IC Consultant’s review was
previously determined and approved by the Board. The
IC Consultant has recommended certain internal control
improvement measures to the Board. The Board is of the
view that no material internal control defeats have been
noted. All recommendations given by the IC Consultant
will be properly followed up by the Group to ensure that
they are implemented within a reasonable period of time.
The Directors were of the view that the risk management
and internal control systems were adequate and effective
to safeguard the interest of shareholders and the Group’s
assets.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted
a review of the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group covering all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls functions. The Board considers that the Group's
risk management and internal control systems are
adequate and effective. The Board expects that a review
of the risk management and internal control systems will
be performed annually.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration for the year
ended 31 December 2020 are set out in note 8 in the
Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the
remuneration of the members of the senior management
(other than the Directors) whose particulars is contained
in the section headed “Biographies of the Directors and
Senior Management” in this Report by band is set out
below:

FNsEECET)

Remuneration band (in HK$)

EERSREEREHH

HE2 T ZF+_-_A=1+—"HBIFEN=
EHMNFIBI N AR S I TERERMIFES -

RIBEEERTRINTREEBASE &
REEERE (BFERIN (HFBERNLH
SEERSRERERE] ) IZEEZ
DHFMIAT -

Number of individuals

AE

Nil to 1,000,000 Z%1,000,000

EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND THEIR
REMUNERATION

Mazars CPA Limited (“Mazars”) is the external auditor
of the Company. The Audit Committee is responsible
for making recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment and removal of the external
auditor, which is subject to the approval by the Board
and at the general meetings of the Company by its
shareholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the
remuneration for the audit services provided by the
Company’s auditor to the Group was as follows:

NS A% B8 B I L 57

TEIRR(BB)GIMEHMBRAA
(THBERR]) SARFINEZEED - BZ
ZESREMIMNERBMNEE  EFE
EhEBRERNESSRIEREZS  HEZ
T ENZELRBRALESTSHERR
RNARRIBERAE L

REE-_T-_TE+-_F=1+—HILEE -
IR EAZ BB [A) 7 £ [ 1R A A B A% AR 7% 37 B
N

Equivalent to
HK$ RMB
BIT HERARE

Annual audit service for

BE_Z_TF+_-_A=+—H
the year ended 31 December 2020  |FFE M FE TIZARTE

700,000 625,000
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RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND AUDITOR

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of accounts for the year ended 31 December
2020, which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flows
for that period and comply with the requirement of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) ("Hong Kong Companies Ordinance”) and the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules.

The auditor is responsible for forming an independent
opinion, based on the audit, on the financial statements
prepared by the Directors and reporting the opinion solely
to the Company’s shareholders.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. The statement of the independent auditor
of the Company about its reporting responsibilities on
the financial statements is set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” on pages 116 to 124.

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the
laws of Hong Kong and the GEM Listing Rules and the
overriding principle that inside information should be
announced promptly when it is the subject of a decision.
The procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information are as follows:

e the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to
the disclosure requirement under the GEM Listing
Rules as well as the “Guidelines on Disclosure of
Inside Information” published by the Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong in June 2012,
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e the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy
on fair disclosure by pursuing broad, nonexclusive
distribution of information to the public through
channels such as financial reporting, public
announcements and the Company’s website;

e the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of
confidential or inside information; and

e the Group has established and implemented
procedures for responding to external enquiries
about the Group’s affairs, the Board will decide, or
designate appropriate persons to communicate with
parties outside the Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Company secretary supports the Board by ensuring
good information flow within the Board and that the
Board policy and procedures are followed. The company
secretary is responsible for advising the Board on corporate
governance matters and facilitating induction and
professional development of the Directors. All Directors
have access to the advice and services of the company
secretary to ensure that the Board procedures and all
applicable laws, rules and regulations, are followed.

Mr. Chau Lai Ki was appointed as the company secretary
of the Company on 25 September 2017 and has
complied with all requirements relating to qualifications,
experiences and training under the GEM Listing Rules. For
the year ended 31 December 2020, he has undertaken
not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
respectively in compliance with rule 5.15 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, separate
resolution should be proposed for each substantially
separate issue at general meetings, including the election
of individual Director. All resolutions put forward at
general meetings will be voted by poll pursuant to the
GEM Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange
after each general meeting.

Convening an EGM

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association of
the Company, shareholders may convene an EGM in
accordance with the “Procedures for Shareholders to
convene an EGM” set out below.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an EGM

Any one or more shareholders holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than 10% of the paid-
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company (the “Eligible
Shareholder(s)”) shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the company secretary
for the purpose of requiring an EGM to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition, including making proposals or moving a
resolution at the EGM.

Eligible Shareholders who wish to convene an EGM for
the purpose of making proposals or moving a resolution
at the EGM must deposit a written requisition (the
“Requisition”) signed by the Eligible Shareholder(s)
concerned (the “Requisitionist(s)”) at the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong (presently
located at 3rd Floor, Effectual Building, 16 Hennessy
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong) for the attention of the
company secretary. The Requisition must state clearly the
name(s) of the Requisitionist(s) concerned, his/her/their
shareholdings in the Company, the reason(s) to convene
an EGM and the proposed agenda.
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The Company will check the Requisition and the identity
and shareholding of the Requisitionist(s) will be verified
with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong.
If the Requisition is found to be proper and in order, the
company secretary will ask the Board to convene an EGM
and/or include the proposal(s) made or the resolution(s)
proposed by the Requisitionist(s) at the EGM within
two months after the deposit of the Requisition. On the
contrary, if the Requisition has been verified as not in
order, the Requisitionist(s) will be advised of the outcome
and accordingly, the Board or the company secretary will
not call for an EGM nor include the proposal(s) made or
the resolution(s) proposed by the Requisitionist(s) at the
EGM.

If within 21 days of the deposit of the Requisition the
Board or the company secretary fails to proceed to
convene such EGM, the Requisitionist(s) himself/herself/
themselves may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the Requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board or the company
secretary to convene an EGM shall be reimbursed to the
Requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the
Company, shareholders may send written enquiries to
the Company. The Company will not normally deal with
verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as
mentioned above to the following:

Address: 3rd Floor, Effectual Building, 16 Hennessy Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong

(For the attention of the company secretary)
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Right to Put Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to propose
new resolutions at the general meetings under the
Companies Law (as revised) of the Cayman Islands.
Subject to provisions of the Articles, Eligible Shareholders
who wish to move a resolution may by means of
requisition convene an EGM following the procedures set
out above.

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit
and send the original duly signed written requisition,
notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to
the above address and provide their full name, contact
details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required
by law.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication
with shareholders is essential for enhancing investor
relations and investor understanding of the Group’s
business performance and strategies. The Company also
recognises the importance of transparency and timely
disclosure of corporate information, which will enable
shareholders and investors to exercise their rights in an
informed manner and allow them to engage actively with
the Company.

Information will be communicated to the shareholders
through the Company’s quarterly, interim and annual
financial reports, the publish and posting of notices,
announcements, circulars, AGMs and other EGMs that
may be convened as well as all the published disclosures
submitted to the Stock Exchange.
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Shareholders should direct their questions about
their shareholdings to the Company’s share registrar.
Shareholders and the investment community may at any
time make a request for the Company’s information to
the extent such information is publicly available. Any such
questions, requests, comments and suggestions can be
addressed to the Company by post to its head office and
principal place of business in Hong Kong.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Except for the conditional adoption of the amended and
restated memorandum of association and Articles of
Association (the “M&A") adopted by the Company on
26 November 2018 to comply with the applicable legal
and regulatory requirements (including the GEM Listing
Rules), which took effect from the Listing Date, there was
no significant change in the constitutional documents of
the Company during the Relevant Period.

The amended and restated M&A is available on the
respective websites of Company and the Stock Exchange.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND

GOVERNANCE REPORT
B HBREARE

INTRODUCTION

This is the third Environmental, Social and Governance (the
“ESG") Report of Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company
Limited (the “Group”) to highlight its approaches
and strategies in pursuit of sustainable development
during the reporting period from 1 January 2020 to 31
December 2020 (the “Reporting Period”). This ESG
report covers the environmental and social performance
of the Group’s business operation of its manufacturing
operation in Shenzhen, the PRC, namely Shenzhen
Huakang, during the Reporting Period, unless otherwise
stated. The Group primarily adopts the principles and
basis of Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide (the "ESG Reporting Guide"”) as set out in
Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Group
complied with all the “comply or explain” provisions set
out in the ESG Reporting Guide during the Reporting
Period.

The Group is a medical device supplier principally
specialized in the research and development (the “R&D"),
manufacturing and sale of wide range of biological
reagents, auxiliary reproductive supplies and equipment
in the PRC, which collectively accounted for 96% of the
Group's total revenue during the Reporting Period. The
Group's product portfolio offers 23 biological reagents,
including 20 male fertility in-vitro diagnostics (the “IVD")
reagents, 2 parasite antibody detection reagents and
1 Epstein-Barr virus (the “EBV") antibody detection
reagent.

During the Reporting Period, the Group set up a company
for the purposes of sales, marketing and distribution
of self-developed healthcare supplements under the
Group’s registered brand “Nutronic”. However, the
healthcare product business is excluded from the scope
since it had no significant environmental and social
impacts generated, and made up less than 4% of the
total revenue during the Reporting Period. There were no
other major operational changes in the scope compared
with the period from 1 January 2019 to 31 December
2019 (the “Last Reporting Period”).
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THE BOARD'S ESG COMMITMENT

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG
strategy and reporting. Specifically, the Board is held
accountable for the Group’s long-term resilience with
respect to potential shifts in the business landscape that
may result from climate change. As the stewards for long-
term performance and resilience, the Board is committed
to determining the most effective way to integrate ESG
considerations into its structure and committees. The
Group also evaluates and monitors ESG-related risks
and ensures these risks are thoroughly considered in
the process of decision making and embedded into the
management of risk and opportunities across the Group.

The Group strives to achieve a high level of public
transparency by regularly engaging stakeholders and
disclosing information in a timely and accurate manner.
Accordingly, the Group maintains regular exchanges and
dialogues with peers, investors and other stakeholders
to encourage the sharing of methodologies and to stay
informed about the latest ESG-related risks, regulatory
requirements etc. The Group also tracks existing
regulation and emerging regulation to ensure its ESG
policies, processes and disclosures meet expectations.

Legal compliance is an essential pillar for sound corporate
governance and underpins sustainable operations. The
Group confirmed that it has established appropriate
and effective management policies and internal control
systems for ESG issues during the Reporting Period, and
confirmed that the disclosed contents are in compliance
with the requirements of the ESG Reporting Guide.
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THE GROUP’S ESG APPROACH

The Board and senior management are involved in the
materiality assessment in identifying material ESG issues
that impact the Group’s business operation. The Group
holds periodic meetings to discuss significant matters
related to the operations and review management
approaches of a suite of ESG issues. The Group
continuously monitors ESG-related risks through
implementation of appropriate systems and processes.

To echo with international concerns on climate change,
the Group will begin assessing the short-, medium-
and long-term materiality of climate-related risks and
opportunities for the Group. The Group ensures that all
its actions and responses to climate are proportionate to
the materiality of climate to the Group. The Group will
consider including climate-related targets and indicators
in its executive incentive schemes, where appropriate.

The favorable policies and systems in the PRC enable
the Group to seize new business opportunities in the
emerging IVD market, and ride on the development of
the biomedical industry to tackle future health challenges.
To meet the increasingly sophisticated demands of
customers, the Group seeks to enhance the existing
products and develop new products leveraging on its
vast experience and advanced technologies, and, in turn,
benefits the society.
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THE GROUP’S MISSION AND VISION

Enhance people’s health
Meet customers’ needs

The Group embraces the vision in its operation practices
and in provision of quality products and excellent
services. Not only does the Group adheres to stringent
standards and requirements to ensure that its products
are up to the highest quality, it also persists in developing
innovative products for worldwide healthcare needs and
a better quality of life.

The Group strives to:
e be a pioneer in its core technologies;
e boost investment in R&D;

e recruit high-caliber personnel from all parts of the
world;

e  establish and implement quality management system
effectively;

e stay innovative in various business areas;

e enhance the physical well-being of the general
public;

e adhere to the customer-centric principle in business
practice and take full responsibility in service delivery
to customers’ satisfaction;

e comply with relevant rules and regulations; and

e improve quality management system consistently

for a stable product quality that meets customers’
requirements.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND
MATERIALITY

The Group recognizes the importance of building
positive relationships with its stakeholders. The Group
maintains ongoing dialogues with key stakeholders via
various communication channels including meetings,
performance reviews, customer satisfaction surveys and
interview sessions. Feedback obtained through regular
engagement is essential in the decision-making process
of the Group’s operation, from improving its business
performance to bringing insights for future development.

To identify material ESG issues, the Group specifically
engaged both internal and external stakeholders to
gain insights into ESG material topics and challenges of
the Group’s operation. In the materiality assessment,
stakeholders were asked to rate a list of 18 topics in
terms of their relevance and importance to the Group'’s
business development and sustainability, as well as to the
wider community.

Results of the materiality assessment and the consolidated

list of material aspects are presented in the following
matrix and table respectively.
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MATERIALITY MATRIX

EEMEE

Materiality of Different Topics from Stakeholder Engagement
FOESEHTRETENEES

Higher
)

(58]
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Importance To Stakeholders
HEBRENEEMH

Lower

BiE

B &

(a1]

oo

Higher
Bs

Importance to the Group

HEAEENEEY

Among the environmental and social aspects, the
following ESG topics were deemed as the most important

by the stakeholders:

e Anti-corruption
e Labor standards

e Employment

e Occupational health and safety
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STAKEHOLDERS’' FEEDBACK

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on its ESG
approach and sustainability performance. Stakeholders
may share with the Group any suggestion and view via

email to: hk@szhuakang.com.

AWARDS, RECOGNITIONS AND MEMBERSHIPS 821 -

Since its establishment, the Group has received awards
and recognitions from the governmental and international
authorities acknowledging its achievements in product
R&D and occupational safety and health. The Group has

obtained the following awards or certifications:

Awards/Recognitions

818, AT

Shenzhen High and New Technology Enterprise
TR S35 3=l oI 3

R HERERERE

FENRE
AEBEOFNEHRRE  HEgRkER

SEMAI BT EBIEL REE - FnE @B
3% X B 7 B f & hk@szhuakang.com £2 K &
= Z AR AL o

DN

BRI ATR » 7N B B JE IR A0 B8 R F
BEVETEMA R - UREEEEmMTEME
Er e MEFETEBUSHKE - NEED
ERUTERSEE ¢

Awarding authority
B

Innovation Committee of Shenzhen
Municipal Finance Committee of Shenzhen
Shenzhen State Taxation Bureau

Shenzhen Local Taxation Bureau
ATHEFEES

AMPREES

ARINTR KT

AT G S B

High and New Technology Enterprise
RFTRAIMT R

Innovation Committee of Shenzhen
Municipal Finance Committee of Shenzhen
RTHEFEES

RYTHREES

Certificate of Good Manufacturing Practice Rules
for Medical Devices
ERGMEELEEEERBIE

China Food and Drug Administration
HREmEmEEERR

Work Safety Standardization
HERRIFEL

State Administration of Work Safety
BRLZ2LEEBEER

[SO13485 Medical Devices
— Quality Management System
ISO13485 BERBEMITHEEE IR RARE

International Organization for Standardization
IR LR

EREYESEIRIR AR A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited

65



66

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HERERERE

Moreover, the Group actively forges close ties with the
industry bodies and takes part in professional associations
in the biomedical community. The Group is currently the
member of the following associations:

Shenzhen Association of Medical Devices,
e Shenzhen Hi-tech Industry Association,
e Guangdong Medical Device Management Academy,

e Guangdong Food and Drug Technology Association
for Evaluation and Certification,

e Shenzhen Life Science and Biotechnology Association,
and

e Shenzhen Medical Device Quality Promotion
Association.

These associations provide excellent platforms for

expertise exchange, networking, market insights sharing
and business development.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group is committed to protecting the
environment and remains vigilant against greenhouse
gas (the "GHG") emissions in all its business
activities. The Group’s Environmental Management
Policy outlines the key objectives and principles of
the Group related to managing the environmental
influences of its operations.

The Group mainly consumed electricity, petrol and
water, and generated wastewater, and paper waste
during the Reporting Period. The Group strictly
abides by the laws, rules and regulations enforced by
the PRC in relation to environmental protection and
pollution control, including but not limited to:

e  Environmental Protection Law of the PRC,

e Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of
the PRC,

e Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control
of Atmospheric Pollution; and

e Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control
of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste.

During the Reporting Period, no material non-
compliance with laws and regulations relating to air
and GHG emissions, discharge into water and land,
or the generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste was recorded.
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A1. Emissions
A1.1 Air Emissions

The Group-owned vehicles operated on petrol
were used for daily business operations during the
Reporting Period, which contributed to the emission
of nitrogen oxides (“NOx"), sulfur oxides ("SOx")
and respiratory suspended particles (“RSP"). Due
to declining demand for business trips in times of
the Epidemic, the Group consumed 42% less petrol
compared with the Last Reporting Period, resulting
in substantially reductions in resepctive air emissions.

Al. BERY
A1 BESRHER

WEBA - AEBESHESNEEE
WARBEER  BRHERASLY
(INOxJ) ~ &AW ([SOx]) AT A
FBFRF ([RSP)) - ARNEIBHEAR © 8
BIRITRFR K TR - RNEBFTEREMN A
RE 2 EERES BRI D42% - BEEER
PEmRE R -

Air emissions (non-GHG) from mobile combustion

BERBEELNERHFRGERERE)

NO« (kg) RSP (kg) SO« (kg)

FEY TRABINT HRELEY
Fuel Source #REHR Usage BREHE A (AF) (AF) (AF)
Petrol D! For vehicles EE#f A 0.58 0.07 0.02
Note: Wizt -

Emission factors for calculations on environmental
parameters throughout the report were made reference
to Appendix 27 of the Main Board Listing Rules and
their referred documentation as set out by Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited, unless stated otherwise.
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A1.2 Greenhouse Gas Emissions A2 B ERBEHEM

During the Reporting Period, the Group's business BERSHAN - AEENKEEEESE
activities contributed to the GHG emission of 145.05 7145058 — & ki E = ([ =&tk
tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (“tCOzeq."), BEE| FER-Eix FRELKASR
mainly carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide. It EREREBHN - NEEEREHN
The overall GHG intensity for the Group was 2.04 RERBIREEATEEBES(R
tCO.eq. with reference to the number of full-time BES 204 — SR EEXNEHE
employees (“FTE"), or 0.0035 tC0Oeq. per unit of HHEEfO.0035M —E ik E & - B 1A
product sold, representing a 25% and 51% rise WEHD BB IN25%3451% °

respectively compared with the Last Reporting Period.

Total
Emission GHG Emission GHG Emission
Scope of GHG Emissions Sources (tCO2eq.) (%)
BERBHER BHEERBHER
BEREBHRNVEE BEHUR (-—FtixEE (%)
Scope 1 Direct GHG Emission
g1 EERERBHEN
Combustion of fuel for mobile sources Petrol 3.95 3%
PREHRE (BB EDIR) YU
Scope 2 Energy Indirect GHG Emission
52 e R R ER BN
Purchased electricity 134.95 93%
FriEE N
Scope 3 Other Indirect GHG Emission
3 HttMERERB K
Paper waste disposal 1.02
HIHEREERER
Electricity used for freshwater processing 0.97
RIKBERIRFIFEE ) 4%
Electricity used for sewage processing 0.46
VK BRIRFTAEE ]
Business air travel by employees 3.70
Total 145.05 100%
et
Note 1: Emission factors were made by reference to Bzt - BREAZRAN - BERERETI2R &
Appendix 20 to the Listing Rules and their referred TR AP 8%20 R R FRFTRT H 2 %
documentation as set out by the Stock Exchange, TR o
unless stated otherwise.
Note 2: Emission factor of 0.80 tCO,/MWh was used for Miatz - EHRBIEREEES AN
purchased electricity in Guangdong Province of REO0.80ME —EALIRE 2N K

the PRC. FETHE o

R Y EEE 2GR 2 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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A1.3 Hazardous Waste

During the Reporting Period, the Group generated
a total of 3.9 tonnes of hazardous waste, mainly
comprised of hazardous solids and liquids. The
intensity was 0.09 kg/unit of product sold,
representing a slight increase of 3% compared with
the Last Reporting Period.

A1.4 Non-hazardous Waste

Non-hazardous waste from the Group’s operations
consists mainly of paper waste and domestic waste.
During the Reporting Period, the Group generated
a total of 1.2 tonnes of non-hazardous waste, 18%
of which was paper waste derived from the Group’s
office operation. The overall intensity was 16.48
kg/FTE, representing a 7% drop compared with the
Last Reporting Period.

A1.5 Measures to Mitigate Emissions

The Group continues its dedication to curbing air
pollution and GHG emissions from its operations.
To reduce emissions produced though its products,
the Group estimates the production needs and
determines the optimal production quantity in one-
off production.

The Group highly encourages employees to use
public transport whenever possible. The Group
has adopted the use of online conferencing tools
to reduce air travels. As a result of the Group’s
continuous efforts, both fuel consumption and
vehicle exhaust emissions reduced significantly
compared to the Last Reporting Period. In the long
run, the Group has established a 10-year Group-wise
emission reduction target to reduce emissions by
10% by the fiscal year of 2030.
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A1.6 Waste Handling and Reduction Initiatives

A2.

The Group strictly observes national laws in handling
both hazardous and non-hazardous waste. Wastes
are reduced and prevented at source wherever
possible. Wastewater, as a kind of hazardous waste,
is temporarily stored in containers, and collected by
designated licensed handler for further treatment
prior to disposal.

Paper waste is collected and disposed of in
landfills. The Group continues to implement paper-
saving measures to reduce paper waste at source.
For instance, the Group encourages double-
sided printing, promotes the use of electronic
documentations, and keeps track of paper
consumption in promoting a paperless office. The
paper consumption pattern was similar to the Last
Reporting Period. In the long run, the Group has
established a 10-year Group-wise waste reduction
target to reduce waste generation by 20% by the
fiscal year of 2030.

Use of Resources

Although the Group has not established formal
policies on improving resource utilization efficiency,
the Group adheres to the principle of full utilization
of resources and encourages employees to observe
relevant practices to achieve resource conservation.
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A2.1 Energy Consumption

The total energy consumption by the Group was
180,964 Kilowatt-hour (“kWh"), with an overall
energy intensity of 2,548 kWh/FTE, and 4.39 kWh

A2.1 BERERE

REREEE - AEEMNBERERS
180,964 F LB ([ FREF]) - ARREIR=
[EAR2548 TR, S22 BEERE

per unit of product sold during the Reporting Period.

Direct/indirect

e HERA3IT R o

Energy Sources Consumption ~ Consumption Energy Intensity
B HEER HEE HIEER BREE
(unit) (kwh)
(Bf1) (FRE)
Petrol 1,486 L 13,168 185 kWh/FTE  0.32 kWh/unit of product sold
b 1,4867 185FRE/  032FTREE/SHEHER
BREBES
Purchased electricity 167,796 kWh 167,796 2,363 KWh/FTE ~ 4.07 kWh/unit of product sold
FiBE N 167,796 F FLE 2363THE/  407TTEE/SHELER
BREBES
Group total 180,964 2,548 KWh/FTE  4.39 kWh/unit of product sold
smaLt 2548TEE,/  439TRE/SHEHER
FH2BES
Note: et -

Conversion factors were made reference to [EA Energy
Statistics Manual and 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National
Greenhouse Gas Inventories.
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A2.2 Water Consumption

Freshwater consumed for daily business operations is
supplied by municipal freshwater supplier. Water is
mainly used for domestic use and in the production
of reagents. During the Reporting Period, the
water consumption for the Group was 2,294 m?3,
contributing to a water intensity of 32.31 m3/FTE or
0.06 m? per unit of product sold.

A2.3 Energy Use Efficiency Initiatives

The Group’s major energy consumption is petrol
consumption by vehicles and electricity consumption.
The Group regularly monitors the usage of energy
to achieve consumption efficiency. The Group
has formulated a series of measures to achieve
electricity conservation and energy efficiency. Energy
conservation initiatives adopted by the Group
include:

e maintaining default temperature setting of air
conditioner at 25.5°C,

e choosing low-carbon and energy-efficient
products and appliances,

e  setting computers to energy-saving modes when
idle, and

e switching off office equipment and electronic
devices after office hours.

With the Group’s continuous efforts, the energy
intensity associated with vehicle fuel consumption
was reduced from 311 kWh/FTE to 185 kWh/FTE,
significantly dropped by 40% compared to the Last
Reporting Period. In the long run, the Group has
established a 10-year Group-wise energy reduction
target to reduce electricity use by 20% by fiscal year
2030.

A2.2 KSEEE

H 5 25218 HERA KT B BUAK
HEREHE - KEZRIEEEAKEA
REERDE - RNiEHE - AEEER
BRI 52,2945 5 K - KB E A&32.31
NAEK/ FRrBEEMEHELER
0.0637 5K °

BER(E A RUREE
AREBENEBERBRRTEN A MB
FRENER - AEBEHEZEERRNE
B AERBRSER - KEBEHIE—
RO ABIREA A M E RAEREE -
REBERBMERERE R

o  MRBTEAMTERRER25.5°C ¢

. RBAHEEELHARBRET
1 -

RBAEERFENENLE S - B EE
WEMLLE - B HFELREE B3
TER S22RBESRSE185TR
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A2.4 Water Use Efficiency Initiatives

No issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose
had been identified during the Reporting Period. To
sustain water resources, the Group encourages water
conservation and reminds staff members to reduce
water wastage whenever possible. Compared to the
Last Reporting Period, the water intensity declined
by 32% measured by number of FTE. In the long
run, the Group has set a 10-year Group-wise water
reduction target to reduce water use by 20% by the
fiscal year of 2030.

Water conservation initiatives adopted by the Group
include:

¢ reminding employees to turn off water taps
after use;

e putting up posters related to water resource
conservation at prominent locations;

e monitoring the water usage patterns, and

e enforcing inspections and maintenance to
prevent wastage of water resources.

A2.5 Packaging Materials

Paper cartons and plastics were widely used as
packaging materials for different presentations
of products. During the Reporting Period, a
total of 3.25 tonnes packaging materials were
consumed, including carton boxes, polyethylene and
polypropylene, contributing to an intensity of 0.08 kg
per unit of product sold, which remained unchanged
as compared to the Last Reporting Period. All
packaging materials have undergone rigorous quality
control tests before use.
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A3. The Environment and Natural Resources

A3.1Significant Impacts of Activities on the

Environment

The Group’s business activities do not pose significant
adverse impacts on the environment, except for
minor impacts arisen from consumption of energy
resources and fuels. The Group’s Environmental
Management Policy aims to facilitate rational and
efficient use of resources such as energy, water
and other raw materials. The Group also carries
out various measures for reducing GHG emissions
and advocating resource conversation through the
3R (namely reducing waste, reusing and recycling
resources) principle. During the Reporting Period, any
waste, wastewater, or emissions that posed adverse
impacts to human or environment was appropriately
managed, controlled, and treated prior to release
into the environment.

Electricity use was the largest constituent which
made up about 93% of the Group’s energy use.
To reduce electricity use, the Group has specifically
adopted various management measures. For
instances, the Group has provided education to
employees to raise their awareness of energy
conservation and given preference to low-carbon
and energy-saving appliances.

Looking forward, the Group will persist in operating
business in an environmentally responsible manner
that drives continual improvement in its business
processes, products, and services with little impact
on the environment.

3. BERRARER
A EEHIRIENERTE

AEENEBRBHRRT T EENE
RARFE  HRERERMIAEUHEERN
EERARTZERIN - AEBEMRRE
BRREEREERIER - KEHE
BRTF) NS EERER - AEE T
RIS BB R = RE NS
B3R(AERAEY - ERMERER)
RAMEEREER - RIEHH - HA
HRRBER TN ETAREY - B
IR ERE I B EEE &
BIE AR MERIE o

FRERRABEFRMANED - KA AEHE
BEFEM93% ° BB FEE - AREEFM
Rz mERER - Pl AEEHE
ERERTTETRER R - BB B
A e

RERK > AEBERKRHULHIREAST
MG EER  HBEEBRE  E
o M RIS FESCE - AR TS HIREE
HERRZE -

R Y EEE 2GR 2 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited

75



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HERERRE

B. SOCIAL B. #&
1. Employment and Labor Practices 1. BRERBIER
B1. Employment B1. (&
The Group strictly abides by all applicable laws and ¥ B - RS B ERR E <P R B R
regulations in relation to employment in the PRC BEBNFBEEREEZLRY - B81FE
during the Reporting Period, including but not AR
limited to:
e Labor Law of the PRC; o (HFEARKMBELEE)
e Labor Contract Law of the PRC; o (FEARKFMBEILESHERE)
e The Social Insurance Law of the PRC; o (FEARAMBLEREIE)
e Special Rules on the Labor Protection of Female o (HABIBHRERRIIE):
Employees;
e Social Insurance Law of the PRC; o (HFEARAMBMHEREIL)
e Regulation on Paid Annual Leave for Employees; o (BIFTHFNRBIEN) &
and
e Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child o (EIFRAETHRTE)-
Labor.
During the Reporting Period, there was no material RS B - AR E I B A R E L
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations B BEREH  TIERE  REAKE
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment 158 N B M B BB KGR ROE R MR I Y
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, and B o

other benefits and welfare of the Group.
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As of 31 December 2020, the Group had a total
number of 80 employees. All of them were full-time
employees. The employee structure sorted by gender,
age group, function and geographical regions are

RiR - HGRER®RE

RZZZTF+_A=1+—8  F~5H
HEBOEEE - WEHREBIES - 12
PR~ FicAER - BREE MR D R
BREBHEIIWT -

shown below.

Distribution of Employees by Gender
EEMR DM

Distribution of Employees by by Function

REMAED fin
;%o%tgg ?gdg %hef staff Senior Management
R MR B =R EEE
Middle
Management
RARERE

N

Distribution of Employees by Age Group
EEFERAR DM

46ﬁﬁlﬁ/dz y _ 18?:25}%_2

36-45
25%

36%455% 26Z35%%

Distribution of Employees by
Geographical Region

EEME S
Hong \Kong United Kingdom
e B 1%

Mainland China
FR A
95%

EREYESEIRIR AR A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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The Employee Manual outlines detailed policies
regarding recruitment and dismissal, remuneration
and compensation, appraisal and promotion,
attendance, compensation leaves, etc. Employees
are required to act in accordance with the code of
conduct and ethics, which sets forth the Group’s
ethical standards and expectation of employees.

Competitive Compensation and Benefits

The Group offers equitable and competitive
remuneration package to attract and retain talents.
In addition to basic wages, the Group offers overtime
pays, attendance bonus, seniority bonus, housing
allowance, and discretionary performance bonus.
The Group also safeguards the legitimate interests
of its employees, respects the rights of employees
to rest and leave, and regulates their working hours
and their rights for various types of rest times and
holidays. Apart from medical coverage and statutory
holidays, employees are entitled to a range of leaves
including marriage leave, maternity leave, paternity
leave, sick leave and bereavement leave.

Performance Review and Promotion

The Group provides development opportunities to
its employees through regular performance-based
appraisal, so that they can understand their job
performance in a clear way by receiving feedback
from their supervisors, and evolve in ways that are
good for their personal growth and ongoing career
development. According to the promotion policy,
employees are eligible for career advancement
within the Group based on their competencies and
suitability for higher-ranking positions.
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Equal Opportunity

The Group respects the differences in employees.
Fairness in labor is practiced within the Group with
a view to eliminating discrimination. Employees
are provided with equal opportunities in respect of
recruitment, employment, training and development,
promotion, compensation and benefits, whether on
the basis of race, religion, nationality, ethnicity, age,
gender or disability. There was no non-compliance
relating to equal opportunity, diversity and anti-
discrimination during the Reporting Period.

Employee Relations

The Group strives to foster a strong sense of
belonging of its employees and ensure that every
voice is heard through transparent communication
channels. Regular meetings are held to collect
employee opinions, suggestions, and complaints
which are handled promptly.
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Turnover

The Group considers offering a more attractive
remuneration package and benefits to retain talents
based on the Group’s business situation. A total of
12 full-time employees have left the Group during
the Reporting Period, representing an annual
turnover rate' of 15%. The employee turnover rate?
by gender, age group and geographical locations are
as follows:

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HERERRE

8k
REBZEREANEBNERKBRIZMH
EEWSI NMENES REF®RE A
T o RIEHRN - AHEN2EEHIESRH
FASE  FERKE B15%  Et
Al - FERAR - B RIS MBI D H
4E§§;|L9€$ZZZDT :

TURNOVER RATE

BERKE

0.0% 5.0% 10.0%

15.0% 20.0% 25.0% 30.0%

18200 I 2: '

Age group
Fidn|

36-45
362455 N 50%

26-35
26355 I 6.1

46 or above .
2T I - -

Male
g

Gender
Leall

Mainland China

Hong Kong

Geographical
location
IR E

The annual turnover rate is calculated by total number of
employees who left the Group in the reporting period/
number of employees as at the end of the reporting
period*100%. Employees who leave the Group within
probationary period are not counted.

Turnover rate refers to total number of employee turnover
in the specific group throughout the reporting period/total
number of employees of the corresponding group as at
the end of the reporting period*100%.
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B2. Employee Health and Safety

The Group is dedicated to creating an accident-
and injury-free working environment for its
employees. During the Reporting Period, the Group
strictly complied with all national laws, regulations
and standards in safeguarding workplace health
and safety, including the Law of the PRC on the
Prevention and Treatment of Occupational Diseases,
Production Safety Law of the PRC and Regulation
on Work-Related Injury Insurance. The Group
has obtained the Work Safety Standardization
certification for its manufacturing operation in
Shenzhen since 2016.

The Group has in place various safety rules and
guidelines to address various types of situations and
issues. All frontline workers are required to strictly
follow the code of safe working practice. To further
enforce workplace safety, the Group conducts
regular health and safety audits to identify safety
risks and carries out investigations for the hidden
hazards.

Apart from providing personal protective
equipment for employees engaging in activities that
occupational hazards can potentially arise, annual
health check-up is offered to ensure timely treatment
can be given. Safety education and training programs
are also provided for the employees to increase their
awareness and improve their skills on work safety.
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The Group has developed contingency plans and
emergency procedures for foreseeable workplace
emergencies. Emergency evacuation plans are
displayed at conspicuous locations. The Group
organizes fire drills every year to ensure that all
employees are familiar with the evacuation routes in
emergency situations.

In the past 3 years, no fatalities of the Group’s
employees have been recorded. No work injury
case or material non-compliance with relevant laws
and regulations in relation to occupational health
and safety of the Group was recorded during the
Reporting Period.

Occupational Health and Safety Statistics

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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in FY2020 ZEHE

Work related fatality TR 0

Work injury cases >3 days THEER> =K 0

Work injury cases <3 days IBESEH < =X 0

Lost days due to work injury EIEELIER 0 day
PN
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B3.

Responses to the Epidemic

In view of the Epidemic, the Group has set up an
emergency response team that swiftly responded
to the prevention and control of the virus. A series
of anti-epidemic measures have been put in place
to contain the spread of the virus in the community
and protect the wellbeing of staff. In addition to
stepping up the sanitation of the facilities, the Group
has also enforced social distancing measures in
the workplace, conducted temperature checks for
employees, and provided disinfection supplies such as
face masks and hand sanitizers.

Moreover, the Group has introduced isolation
arrangements for employees with COVID-19
symptoms. In the event of a suspected case of
COVID-19, the Group will arrange enhanced cleaning
and disinfection measures at the relevant area, and
report the suspected case to hospital in accordance
with the reporting criteria and guidelines issued by
the local government.

Development and Training

Employee development is vital to the sustainable
growth of the Group. The administration department
is responsible for developing annual training
plan pertaining to the various training needs of
employees. Where appropriate, employees are
assessed upon recruitment and reviewed periodically
thereafter for their proficiency in vocational
skills through examinations. Through providing
comprehensive training programs, the Group
ensures that all employees including R&D personnel,
technicians or production workers whose experience
and qualifications meet the requirements of relevant
positions.
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B4.

Training and Development Statistics in FY2020
—E_TFRFRIEIREE

Percentage Average

of employees training hours

trained per employee

BEEES

ZIEES ¥

Gender 5l BotE Z AR
Male B 96% 5.31
Female % 97% 3.67
Percentage Average

of employees training hours

trained per employee

BEES

YIRS ¥4

Employment category EEER Bk SR
Frontline employees AIARET 97% 3.66
Middle management PREEE 89% 7.44
Senior management R EIEE 100% 8.05

Labor Standards

The Group pledges to create a society free of child
labor and forced labor. There was no child labor nor
forced labor employed in the Group; no cases of
non-compliance of relevant laws and regulations in
relation to labor standards were recorded during the
Reporting Period.

The Group complies with the Labor Law of the PRC,
Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labor
and internal recruitment guidelines which prohibits
the employment of workers under the age of 16
in its operation. The human resources department
verifies candidates’ valid identity documentation,
age, and working permit to prevent child labor,
forced labor and other forms of unlawful labor. As
such, employees hired by the Group are deemed to
meet the relevant legal requirements. Consequences
of breaching the conditions include termination of
contract.
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B5.

The Group ensures reasonable working hours
and paid holidays in accordance with the national
employment laws and requirements. The working
hours of the employees are enforced in accordance
with the requirements of relevant local laws and
regulations; thus, no forced labor is allowed. The
Group encourages the employees to complete
the daily work within the specific working hours.
When overtime work during special arrangement
is unavoidable, employees are eligible for overtime
pays based on the agreed hourly wage.

Operating Practices
Supply Chain Management

The Group had engaged 42 suppliers during the
Reporting Period. All of them were in the PRC
primarily providing raw and auxiliary materials for the
manufacturing of IVD reagents. The Group adopts
an integrated approach in screening and evaluation
of potential and existing suppliers respectively. In
selecting suppliers, the Group assesses suppliers
against the criteria including production capability,
product efficacy and quality management system.
Performances of all qualified suppliers are regularly
monitored through their submissions of testing
reports and documents to demonstrate their
consistent compliance with the applicable statutory
and regulatory requirements.

On-site assessments, when needed, are conducted
to ensure that the facility, systems, and products
provided by the suppliers are compliant with the
requirements on quality, workplace safety and
hygiene. If a significant non-conformance is proved,
the Group may consider disqualifying or terminating
the partnership with the concerned supplier.

Annual Report 2020 &%

B5.

AEBERBEERRBREE MR EERA
BTHEERESHEY - BENTIER
SR IR 8 b R B2 RR B Y AR TE B
17 Bt - BIAFFRHEST - AEE
S BN E B N E TR RSEA B & T
1F o ERIR L BE M EA R R IR 1B
T BB RIR W E M FrEEUnILE -

REER
HEREE

AEERHRENECRBA2REER -
ZEREEONTEERIEH—ANEE
BINDEHE YRR R E B R - K
SERAZEITED IR M BT
KMIRAHIER - AR HERST®E - X
SERISEFGRER  BREUELE
S EmMEENEEEEREET
- IAERERTERINKRRGEBRE
R MRS M X IHEE RS - AR
FAE BB TERNEEREEENK

R EReEaF RNET - ER
HEREEHNRE - REMERTAE
B TESMREMEENER - IE
BEEENERER  AEEAEEEM
HEAR LB REERN SRR -



B6. Product and Service Responsibility

Quality Assurance

The Group is committed to delivering safe, effective,
and reliable IVD reagent products that have attained
the highest quality standards. Aligning with
the Group’s corporate quality values, Shenzhen
Huakang has obtained the ISO 13485 for medical
device manufacturing and implemented a quality
management system according to the current good
manufacturing practices (the “¢GMP"). During the
Reporting Period, the Group strictly complied with
relevant laws and standards established by the China
Food and Drug Administration (the “CFDA") in
the manufacturing of IVD reagents and kits, which
included:

e YY/T 0287-2017 standard (i.e., Medical Devices
— Quality Management Systems — Requirements
for Regulatory Purposes);

e Good Manufacturing Practice for Medical
Devices — Appendix on In-Vitro Diagnostic
Reagents;

e Good Manufacturing Practice for Medical
Devices — Guidelines for Onsite Inspection of

In-Vitro Diagnostic Reagents;

e Regulations on Supervision and Administration
of Medical Devices;

e  Contract Law of the PRC; and

e  Product Quality Law of the PRC.
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The Group’s quality manual outlines the
organizational roles, authorities, as well as
responsibilities for the accountable quality
management across the Group. Specific production
activities are required to be performed in the
designated Class 10,000 and 100,000 cleanrooms
in compliance with the ISO 14644-1 Cleanroom
standard. Moreover, air-sensitive reagent products
are stored under controlled conditions, i.e., at a
consistent temperature within the range of 2°C—8°C.

Customer Services and Product Recall

The Group values the importance of customer loyalty
and is committed to maintaining a stable and long-
term relationship with its customers. The Group
cares about the customer satisfaction throughout the
entire business process from product sales to after-
sales services. Customer satisfaction surveys help
the Group gain valuable insight into its performance
and identify improvements, thereby continuously
improving the Group’s product and service quality
as well as enhancing customer experience. Apart
from conducting customer reviews, the Group also
constantly explores ways to improve its products
through research and development.
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The Group has developed effective mechanisms
and handling procedures for dealing with customer
complaints and product recalls. Any complaints
received will be formally investigated and any
necessary follow-up actions are taken in timely
manner. The Group carries out investigation and
identifies corrective and preventive actions for each
complaint case to prevent recurrence. During the
Reporting Period, the Group received no complaints
related to products and services provided, and all
the enquiries had been resolved to the customers’
satisfaction. No material non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations in relation to customer
services of the Group was identified during the
Reporting Period.

The Group’s product recall procedure is formulated
in accordance with the Administrative Measures
for Medical Device Recalls established by CFDA.
The quality control department undertakes quality
inspections at different stages of the production
process. In the event of detecting defective products,
the Group will suspend the sale of the concerned
products and notify related customers immediately
for product recall and replacement. There was no
product recalled due to safety and health reasons
and no material non-compliance with laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group in relation to product health and safety
recorded during the Reporting Period.
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Data Protection and Privacy

The Group pays special attention to confidentiality
and privacy issue of the Group and third parties. The
confidentiality policy stipulates that employees are
prohibited to disclose confidential information (e.g.,
trade secrets, proprietary information, customers
data, etc.) to anyone outside of the Group to others
and use them for personal benefit or profit. In
addition, the Group restricts access to confidential
information and trade secrets, except to authorized
persons permitted by the Group. No major incidents
that impacted the Group’s operations or infringed
upon client privacy occurred during the Reporting
Period.

Intellectual Property

The Group understands the importance of originality
and appreciates the hard work of the R&D team. The
Group’s Intellectual Property (the “IP”) Rights Policy
aims to protect IP owned by the Group and third
parties in pursuant to the Trademark Law of the PRC
and Patent Law of the PRC.

Furthermore, financial incentives are offered to
motivate the Group’s employees for invention of
new products as well as innovative patent projects.
The Group also closely monitors the infringement
actions in the market and combat any infringement
behavior. Any unauthorized use of IP rights may
give rise to legal liability. No major incidents relating
to infringement of IP rights occurred during the
Reporting Period.

Having the IP management system in place,
the Group has accelerated the applications and
maintenance of patents for its own production
design and technology, ensuring the value of
intellectual property are well respected and
recognized within the Group. As of 31 December
2020, the Group had obtained a total of 19 issued
patents for its inventions.
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B7. Anti-corruption

The Group has zero tolerance for bribery and
corruption. The Group’s ethical standards are
clearly set out in the code of conduct and ethics
and Employee Manual, which requires all business
activities to be operated with high level of integrity.
The Anti-corruption Policy strictly prohibits any
corrupt acts, practices, and activities with the
Group. The Group strictly controls gifts, meals,
and entertainment that are recognized as the mere
appearance of impropriety. Employees should
report any instance or suspected instance of bribery
or corruption related to the Group directly to the
Group.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was in full
compliance with relevant laws and regulations,
including the Criminal Law of the PRC, Anti-unfair
Competition Law of the PRC, Anti-money Laundering
Law of the PRC and Interim Provisions on Banning
Commercial Bribery. There was no concluded legal
case regarding corrupt practices brought against the
Group or its employees during the Reporting Period.

Whistle-blowing Policy

A whistle-blowing system is established for
employees and other relevant parties to report any
suspected misconducts, malpractices, and unlawful
or unethical behaviors within the workplace.
Whistle-blowers can make confidential reports to
the management of the Group, and are reassured
of protecting against unfair dismissal, victimization,
and unwarranted disciplinary action. Every reported
case will be followed through in accordance with the
Whistleblowing Policy and related procedures.
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B8. Community Investment

The Group is committed to supporting the public
by means of social participation and contribution
as part of its strategic development. To nurture
corporate culture and strengthen practices of
corporate citizenship, the Group embraces human
capital into the social management strategies so
as to sustain its corporate social responsibility and
support the Group's strategic development. The
Group maintains communications with stakeholders
from time to time to understand the needs of the
communities where the Group operates in and
to ensure the communities’ interests are taken
into consideration. The Group also encourages its
employees to take part in various community events
in hopes of strengthening team spirit while caring
for the vulnerable populations. In the future, the
Group will continue to discharge its corporate social
responsibility to care for the community and build a
harmonious society.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEGWRE

The Directors are pleased to present their annual
report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised), of the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 3 August
2017.

The principal activity of the Company is an investment
holding company. Details of the principal activities and
other particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in note 32 in the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group is principally engaged in research and
development, manufacture, marketing and sales of
IVD reagents and auxiliary reproductive supplies and
equipment in the PRC. There were no significant changes
to the Group's principal activities during the current year.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FUTURE PROSPECTS

A discussion and analysis of the activities of the Company
as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, including an analysis of the Group’s financial
performance, an indication of likely future developments
in the Group’s business and Group’s key relationship with
its stakeholders who have a significant impact on the
Group and on which the Group’s success depends, is set
out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” on
pages 5 to 6 and “Management Discussion and Analysis”
on pages 7 to 24 of this Report. The above form part of
this directors’ report.
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PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

Details of the principal risks and uncertainties of the
Group are set out in notes 2 and 29 in the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements and in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this
Report on page 7 to 24.

Investors are advised to make their own judgement or
consult their own investment advisors before making any
investment in the Shares.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE SHARE OFFER

Details of the intended uses and utilised amount are set
out on page 17 of this Report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

Details of the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out
on page 59 to 92 of this Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has adopted risk management and internal
control policies to monitor the on-going compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations. To the best
of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief,
having made all reasonable enquiries, our Group has
complied in material respects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business
and operation of our Group during the year ended 31
December 2020.
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FINANCIAL RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2020 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income on page 125 of
this Report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors does not recommend the payment of any
final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2020
(2019: Nil).

There is no arrangement that a shareholder of the
Company has waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

There were no charitable donations made by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2020 (2079: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment
during the year are set out in note 12 in the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in share capital of the Company
are set out in note 26 in the Notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movement in the reserves of the Group and of
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2020
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 128 and note 34(b) in the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
Company may pay dividends out of the profit or the
share premium account in accordance with the provisions
of Articles of Association, provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed
to be distributed, the Company remains able to pay the
debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course
of business. As at 31 December 2020, the Company's
reserves available for distribution to shareholders
comprising share premium and accumulated profits of
the Group, amounted to approximately RMB51.4 million.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the most recent four years is set out in the
section headed “Financial Summary” on page 228 of this
Report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2020
and up to the date of this Report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Shuguang (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Chunguang (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael (Chief Financial Officer)

Mr. He Jiaming (Business Development Director)
(appointed on 14 January 2020)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph
(appointed on 16 December 2020)
Dr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary
(appointed on 1 September 2020)
Dr. Yeung David Wai Chow
(resigned on 16 December 2020)
Mr. Kwok Chi Shing
(resigned on 1 September 2020)
Mr. Chan Kin Sang
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Pursuant to the Articles of Association, at each general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being
shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
general meeting at least once every three years. Such
retiring Directors may, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the annual general meeting. All Directors
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold
office until the first general meeting of shareholders after
their appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting and all Directors appointed by the Board as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until
the next following annual general meeting and shall then
be eligible for re-election.

Accordingly, all the current Directors will retire at the
forthcoming AGM where they will offer themselves for
re-election.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules and considers all the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and senior
management are disclosed in the section headed
“Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 25 to 33 of this Report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, other than the service contracts, concerning
management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the Group’s businesses was entered
into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2020.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. Zhang Shuguang, Mr. Zhang Chunguang
and Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael, who were appointed on
25 September 2017, has entered into a service contract
with the Company commencing from the Listing Date,
which has no fixed term and can be terminated by either
party giving not less than three months’ notice in writing
to the other party. Mr. He Jiaming, who was appointed
on 14 January 2020, has entered into a service contract
with the Company for an initial fixed term of three
years commencing from the date of appointment and
can be terminated by either party giving not less than
three months’ notice. Each of the independent non-
executive Directors has entered into an appointment
letter with our Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from their respective appointment dates
unless terminated by either party giving not less than one
month’s written notice to the other party.

As at 31 December 2020, no Director proposed for
re-election at the forthcoming AGM has entered
into a service contract with the Company, which is
not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS' INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 31 in the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements, no contract of
significance for the provision of services to the Company
or any of its subsidiaries by controling shareholders of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries, no transactions,
arrangements and contracts of significance in relation
to the Group's business to which the Company, or any
of its holding companies or subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director, Controlling Shareholders of the
Company and their respective connected parties had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at any time during the year ended 31 December 2020.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in
the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the
Company or any of the associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“SFO")) which, once the Shares are listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange, will have to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including any interest or short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under
such provision of the SFO) or will be required, pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein, or will be required, pursuant to the
Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to
securities transactions by the Directors, to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by directors of
listed issuers, will be as follows:

Long Positions in the Shares

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company
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Name of Directors/ Capacity/ ordinary shares  share options Total  Percentage of
Chief Executive Nature of Interest held® held® interest  shareholding?

Firf Firf ki
EZ/BRTRABHE 5/ BRME EEREAY  BREHEY st Al
Mr. Zhang Shuguang Interests of controlled corporation 240,000,000 4,000,000 244,000,000 61.0%

and concert party”

REXEE REEEERR-BTPALE
Mr. Zhang Chunguang Beneficial Owner - 4,000,000 4,000,000 1.0%
REXEE EnfEBA
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael Beneficial Owner - 4,000,000 4,000,000 1.0%
ARELE ERERA
Mr. He Jiaming Beneficial Owner - 4,000,000 4,000,000 1.0%
e ERERA
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Notes:
(1)  All interest stated are long positions.

(2) The calculation is based on the total number of
400,000,000 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2020.

(3) On 16 November 2017, Mr. Zhang Shuguang and Mr.
Chang Yim Yang entered into the Acting-in-concert
Confirmation (“Confirmation”) to acknowledge and
confirm, among other things, that they have been and
will be actively cooperating, communicating, and acting
in concert with each other with respect to their interest
in or the business of the relevant members of our Group
since they became shareholders of the Company and
will continue to act in concert after the signing of the
Confirmation. For further details, please refer to the section
headed “History and Reorganisation” in the Prospectus.
The aggregate of 240,000,000 Shares and 4,000,000
share options are deemed to be interested by them in
aggregate under the SFO, consist of (i) 144,576,000
Shares held by Crystal Grant Limited (“Crystal Grant”), a
company wholly owned by Mr. Zhang Shuguang, in which
Mr. Zhang Shuguang is deemed to be interested under
the SFO; and (ii) 95,424,000 Shares held by Ever Charming
Inc. ("Ever Charming”), a company wholly owned by
Mr. Chang Yim Yang, in which Mr. Zhang Shuguang is
deemed to be interested as a result of being a party acting
in concert with Mr. Chang Yim Yang; and (iii) 4,000,000
share options granted to Mr. Zhang Shuguang on 9 April
2020.

(4) Details of the underlying Shares of the Company held
by the Director/chief executives are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme”.
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Long Position in the Ordinary Shares of Associated
Corporations

Name of Directors/ Name of Associated Capacity/

REEEEEERZHR

Number of ordinary Percentage of

Chief Executive Corporation Nature of Interest shares held"°® shareholding

ES BRTHRABHE HEHIEER 56 RRtE FETEREE BREBDL

Mr. Zhang Shuguang Crystal Grant Beneficial owner 100 shares of US$1.00 100%
each

RENEE Crystal Grant EnBEBA 1008582 1.00%€ T2 100%
Wi

Note: Hist -

All interest stated are long positions.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none
of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company
had any interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange under Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which he is taken or deemed to have under
such provision of the SFO) or which would be required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which would be required
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange.
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Substantial Shareholders’ and Others Persons’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares and

Underlying Shares

As at 31 December 2020, so far as is known to the
Directors, the following persons (not being a Director or
chief executive of the Company) had interest or short
position in the Shares or underlying Shares which fell to
be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange
under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as

wmRIAE

N HIE 155253361
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recorded in the register required to be kept by the KA :
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:
Number of Number of

Capacity/ ordinary share options Total Percentage of

Name of Shareholders Nature of Interest shares held® held“ interest  shareholding
Fi Fi I
BREE/ £8 5%/ BEME EERHEY BREHEY  EZe BAt
Crystal Grant Beneficial owner and 240,000,000 4,000,000 244,000,000 61.0%
concert party™”
Crystal Grant ERBEBAR-BITBALY
Ever Charming Beneficial owner and 240,000,000 4,000,000 244,000,000 61.0%
concert party™”
Fver Charming ERBAAR—BIPALO
Mr. Chang Yim Yang Interests of controlled corporation 240,000,000 4,000,000 244,000,000 61.0%
RERHEE R EER
Gallizul Global Investments Beneficial owner 30,000,000 - 30,000,000 7.5%
Incorporated (“Gallizul )
Gallizul Global Investments EGEBA
Incorporated ([ Gallizul])

Huang Yan Interests of controlled corporation” 30,000,000 - 30,000,000 7.5%
Bl RIEEE R
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Notes:

M

On 16 November 2017, Mr. Zhang Shuguang and
Mr. Chang Yim Yang entered into the Confirmation
to acknowledge and confirm, among other things,
that they have been and will be actively cooperating,
communicating, and acting in concert with each other with
respect to their interest in or the business of the relevant
members of our Group since they became shareholders
of the Company and will continue to act in concert after
the signing of the Confirmation. For further details, please
refer to the section headed “History and Reorganisation”
in the Prospectus. The aggregate of 240,000,000 Shares
and 4,000,000 share options are deemed to be interested
by them in aggregate under the SFO, consist of (i)
144,576,000 Shares held by Crystal Grant, a company
wholly owned by Mr. Zhang Shuguang, in which Mr.
Zhang Shuguang is deemed to be interested under the
SFO; (ii) 95,424,000 Shares held by Ever Charming, a
company wholly owned by Mr. Chang Yim Yang, in which
Mr. Zhang Shuguang is deemed to be interested as a
result of being a party acting in concert with Mr. Chang
Yim Yang; and (iii) 4,000,000 share options granted to Mr.
Zhang Shuguang on 9 April 2020.

As Gallizul is owned as to 60% by Ms. Huang Yan, she is
deemed to be interested in all the shares held by Gallizul

All interests stated are long positions.
Details of the underlying shares of the Company held

by the substantial shareholder are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme”.
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MHAEEFIERE Y o EWR AR E P A
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RIREHR A BRRERTE—SITEZA
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this Report, at no time
during the year ended 31 December 2020 and up to
the date of this Report, have the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company and their respective close
associates (as defined in the GEM listing rules) had any
interests in, or had been granted, or exercised any rights
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in, or debentures of, the Company and/or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of SFO).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provide that Directors shall
be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or
sustained in defending any proceedings, whether civil
or criminal, in which judgement is given in his favour, or
in which he is acquitted. The Company has maintained
liability insurance to provide appropriate cover for the
Directors during the year ended 31 December 2020.

COMPETING INTEREST

The Directors confirm that none of the controlling
shareholders or the Directors and their respective
close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
is interested in any business apart from the business
operated by our Group which competes or is like to
compete, directly or indirectly, with our Group's business
during the year ended 31 December 2020 and up to the
date of this Report.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

On 27 November 2018, the Company entered into the
Deed of Non-competition with each of the Controlling
Shareholders of the Company. Pursuant to the Deed of
Non-competition, each of the Controlling Shareholders
have undertaken, jointly and severally, to the Company
that they would not, and would procure their respective
close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) and/
or companies controlled by the respective Controlling
Shareholders not to, directly or indirectly, either on their
own account or in conjunction with or on behalf of any
person, firm or company, among other things, carry on,
participate or be interested or engaged in or acquire or
hold (in each case whether as a shareholder, partner,
agent or otherwise) any business or activity which is or
may be in competition with the business of the Group.
Details of the Deed of Non-competition are disclosed in
the section headed “Relationship with our Controlling
Shareholders” of the Prospectus. The Company has
received an annual declaration in writing from each
of the Controlling Shareholders confirming that he/it
had complied with the non-competition undertakings
provided to the Company under the Deed of Non-
competition. The independent non-executive Directors
have reviewed the status of compliance and enforcement
of the Deed of Non-competition and confirmed that all
the undertakings thereunder have been complied with
since the date of the execution of the same and up to 31
December 2020.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out
in note 31 in the Notes to the consolidated financial
statements. Save as mentioned in the section “Connected
Transactions” below, other related party transactions did
not constitute connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions under Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 14 September 2020, a renewal tenancy agreement
was entered into between Shenzhen Huakang (as tenant)
and Shenzhen Junxuan Biological Technology Co., Ltd.*
(“Shenzhen Junxuan”) (as landlord), pursuant to which
Shenzhen Junxuan agrees to rent out Junxuan Property
(as defined in the Prospectus) to Shenzhen Huakang for
a term of three years commencing on 14 September
2020 and ending on 13 September 2023 (the “Tenancy
Agreement”).

Pursuant to HKFRS 16 “Leases”, the Company shall
recognise the premises leased under Tenancy Agreement
as a right-of-use asset in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2020. The entering into of the Tenancy Agreement is
regarded as an acquisition of asset under the definition
of transaction as set out in Rule 19.04(1)(a) of the
GEM Listing Rules. The value of the right-of-use asset
initially recognized under the Tenancy Agreement for
the year ended 31 December 2020 was approximately
RMB1,612,000.

*  English translation is for identification purpose only
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Pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules, a
transaction was entered into by the Group with the
connected person (as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules) which constituted a connected transaction
during the year ended 31 December 2020. The relevant
applicable ratios (other than the profit ratios) under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules were less than 5.0%
and the total consideration was less than HK$3.0 million,
and therefore pursuant to Rule 20.74 of the GEM Listing
Rules, the connected transaction contemplated herein
was fully exempt from the reporting, announcement,
annual review and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
Details of the aforesaid transaction are as follows:

Connected transaction Connected Person

REXS BEAL

RIFEGEM ETERIFE20E - REZE T -F
F+ZA=1+—HILEFE AEBHEEEA
T(EHERGEM EMHRIFE20E ) F L2 R
SIEN—IBBER S - BRGEM_ETRAIZE
205 TR A R Ca R EL R BRINER
50%BERELRI0AEESET - ALRE
GEM_ETT#RBIZE20.7416 - BB T HETTHY
B SR EREETGEM EMREAIZE20
BEENZHR QF FEEMRBIRE
HOERRTE - FZSEFFBWOT

Initial recongnised
amount for

the year ended

31 December 2020
BE-Z-%F
+=A=+—H
I FER
NBEEIASE

Shenzhen Junxuan

RYII B

PRC factory rental expenses

FREHmEHEERZ
Note:

Mr. Zhang Shuguang, our Controlling Shareholder, executive
Director and chairman of our Board, holds the entire equity
interest in Shenzhen Junxuan. Therefore, Shenzhen Junxuan is
an associate of Mr. Zhang Shuguang pursuant to Rule 20.10(1)
(c) of the GEM Listing Rules, and thus it is a connected person
of our Company under the GEM Listing Rules. The transaction
under the Tenancy Agreement (as defined above) constitutes a
connected transaction of our Company under the GEM Listing
Rules.

Note
ihE=s

RMB1,612,000
AER#1,612,0007T

Hat -
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group maintains a good relationship with its
employees, and certain policies have been implemented to
ensure that its employees are provided with competitive
remuneration, good welfare benefits and continuous
professional training. The Group also maintains good
relationships with its customers and suppliers, without
whom success in the Group’s production and operation
would be at risk.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme
pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders in the extraordinary general meeting on
13 January 2020. The Share Option Scheme is a long-
term incentive scheme of the Company to reward it's
employees, Directors and other eligible participants for
their contributions to the Group and to assist the Group
in its recruitment and retention of high calibre employees
and other eligible participants who are instrumental to
the growth and development of the Group.

Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include:
(a) any employee or proposed employee (whether full-
time or part-time and including any executive Director),
consultants or advisers of or to the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any entity in which the Group an equity
interest (“Invested Entity”); (b) any non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested
Entity; (c) any supplier of goods or services to any member
of the Group or any Invested Entity; (d) any customer
of the Group or any Invested Entity; (e) any person or
entity that provides research, development or other
technological support to the Group or any Invested Entity;
and (f) any shareholder of any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued
by any member of the Group or any Invested Entity, and
any company wholly owned by one or more persons
belonging to any of the above classes.
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Subject to the earlier termination of the Share Option
Scheme in accordance with the rules thereof, the Share
Option Scheme shall remain in force for a period of ten
years commencing from the date of adoption.

The maximum number of shares issuable upon the exercise
of options granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option scheme adopted by the Group
(including both exercised or outstanding options) to each
grantee within any 12-month period, is limited to 1% of
the shares of the Company in issue at any time.

Share options granted to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive Directors of the Company.
In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive Director
of the Company, or to any of their associates, in excess
of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
time and with an aggregate value (based on the closing
price of the Company’s shares at the date of the grant) in
excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are
subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general
meeting.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
the exercise of all options (excluding for this purpose
options which have lapsed) which have been or may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any share
option scheme of the Group must not in aggregate
exceed 40,000,000 shares, representing 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue as at the date of approval
of the Share Option Scheme and as at the end of
Reporting Period and the date of approval of this Report.
The maximum number of shares to be issued upon the
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option scheme of the Group must not in aggregate
exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in issue from
time to time.

EREMESER

RIBBRAEST SRR - FRIBAERT BIER AT

RRUESN - RBAHERT B B SR BEERTRY T
FHIMAR °

PMERI+ {8 A BRI AR R A R 8] J R
SEERAN 2 TMEMELES S (REET
ERARITEREE) B TR TEEARANE
PR ETT R A T EITARMIEA 2 ERR - A
ARRHEAIREZ EEITRNZ1% /R -

BT ARBIESE  TRTBRABRTEMR
W FEMBBEAZBIE - AREARE
B IFMITESHE o MHN - REA+ —{E
ABRE - W TPARREERRIIBELIEH
TEFARFEMNHEA 2 TABRERR
AR AUEIR R 2 E BT 0.1% M ABE
(AR RBROPEE L BB 2 W EF &) i
BSAEET  AAKBRNERAE L=
FEHLAE o

HITHERBERET S R AE B ER
R EIE R L AT e R H e FT B BB AR AE (3
ImE - TEFEEABHERE) M T3
TTHIRR (#2281 - & 2L 11548 1840,000,000
B - (R BERRRERT IR 2 B A R A R 25 B
REAREREZ BRARR T D BEITRM K
10% - AT RBERETSI RSB T
MEMBERESSERLERFITE M
BRARITEERENT FTETROESH
B AETBBBARRTREEETRGH
30% °

B PR A B Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited

109



110

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 30 days from the date of offer, upon payment
of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the
grantee. The exercise period of the share options
granted is determinable by the Directors, which period
may commence from the date of the offer of the share
options, and ends on a date which is not later than ten
years from the date of grant of the share options subject
to the provisions for early termination thereof.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable
by the Directors, but shall not be less than the highest of
(i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as quoted
on the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the
date of the offer; (ii) the average closing price of the
Company’s shares as quoted on the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer; and (iii) the
nominal value of a share.

As at 31 December 2020, the Company had granted
25,504,000 share options under the Share Option
Scheme. Please refer to paragraph headed “Share Option
Scheme” in the section “Management Discussion and
Analysis” (for further details).

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Detail of the emoluments of the Directors and the five
highest paid individuals of our Group are set out in note
8 in the Notes to the consolidated financial statements in
this Report.

There was no arrangement under which a Director has
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

Save for Directors’ fees, none of the independent non-
executive Directors is expected to receive any other
remuneration for holding their office as an independent
non-executive Director.

Annual Report 2020 &%

BBz 20T REN B HEA =11
NARARAZNEZEREA R BT TINE
o IR BRRENTENRESFETE @ 17
eHAR B AR B4 B BRI 1R - TR
RIFHERER B+ FERER R
ETIRATAR LERIRTE o

BRETEERHESETE - T AERIA
TREBEZERERE  (WNREBLHBMARE RN
R RRERMYIZWHE (AR
AR NEZRELN BRI AER S A EBER
P B REXRMAIIZFHWHE Kk
ZHEE -

R-ZZT-_ZTF+_A=1+—H  KRAFZE
BB AR AE ST 219 H125,504,00017 B RS #E - B
BELZHE B2 EEENwmEDIT]—
BO[ BEARAERTEl | — B o

EERTBREHFA LGN

AEEEEMARERHTATOHMNFEH
AN E 57 A B TS IR RES ©

BHE_ZS - ZF+_A=+—HUHFE ' #
BT FARB T LB E R B AR E A B

AN
E °

BREFEEIN BEBUIFNITESERS
PN FHE I8 S IR0 TEE S MR (Ao E i B

AN
F °



EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy for the employee of the Group is
set up by the management on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence. Under the emolument
policy, the basis of determining the emolument payable
to Directors is subject to the decision of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. As at 31 December 2020,
the Group has 80 full-time employees (2079: 73) located
in Hong Kong and the PRC for operation. Detail of the
staff costs, including Directors’ remuneration, incurred
by the Group are set out in note 7 in the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements in this Report.

The Remuneration Committee will review and determine
the remuneration and compensation packages of the
Directors’ regarding their responsibilities, workload, time
devoted to our Group and the performance of our Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group's largest customer contributed approximately
11.2% (2019: approximately 12.2%) of the total revenue
for the year while the Group's five largest customers
accounted for approximately 26.3% (2019: approximately
28.5%) of the total revenue for the year. The Group's
largest supplier contributed approximately 16.7% (2019:
approximately 21.4%) of the total purchase for the year
while the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 62.2% (2019: approximately 73.0%) of
the total purchase for the year.

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2020
have the Directors, any of their associates or any
Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the number of issued Shares)
had any beneficial interest in any of the above major
customers and suppliers during the year ended 31
December 2020.
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INTEREST OF COMPLIANCE ADVISER

In accordance with Rule 6A.19 of the GEM Listing
Rules, the Company had appointed Ever-Long Securities
Company Limited (“Compliance Adviser”) as its
compliance adviser.

As at 31 December 2020, as notified by the Compliance
Adviser, save for (i) the compliance adviser agreement
dated 31 May 2019 entered into between the Company
and the Compliance Adviser regarding the receipt of
fees for acting as the Compliance Adviser, and (ii) the
participation as one of the joint bookrunners in relation
to the Listing as disclosed in the Prospectus, neither the
Compliance Adviser nor its directors or employees or
close associates (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules)
had or may have had any interest in the securities of the
Company or any member of the Group (including options
or rights to subscribe for such securities which require
notification to the Group pursuant to Rule 6A.32 of the
GEM Listing Rules as at 31 December 2020.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements that will or may result in
the Company issuing Shares or that require the Company
to enter into any agreements that will or may result
in the Company issuing Shares were entered into by
the Company, or subsisting during the year ended 31
December 2020.

PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

There were no purchases, sales or redemptions of the
Company’s listed securities by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries during the year 31 December 2020.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's Articles of Association or the laws of Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors,
the Directors confirm that the Company complies with
the minimum of public float of 25% under the GEM
Listing Rules since the Listing Date and up to the latest
practicable date prior to the issue of this Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is firmly committed to maintaining and
ensuring a high level of corporate governance standards
and will review and improve the corporate governance
practices and standards constantly. Details of the principal
corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
are set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” on pages 34 to 58 of this Report.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation
available to the shareholders by reason of their holdings
of the Shares. If the shareholders are unsure about the
taxation implications of purchasing, holding, disposing
of, dealing in or exercising of any rights in relation to
the Shares, they are advised to consult their professional
advisers.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As at 31 December 2020, the Company was not involved
in any material litigation or arbitration and no material
litigation or arbitration were pending or threatened or
made against the Company so far as the Company is
aware.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in elsewhere, the Board is not aware
of any material event requiring disclosure, that has taken
place subsequent to 31 December 2020 and up to the
date of this Report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The notice of the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company will be published and dispatched to
shareholders in the manner specified in the GEM Listing
Rules in due course.

REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Audit Committee with its
terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33
of the GEM Listing Rules and code provisions C.3.3 and
C.3.7 of the CG Code. The Audit Committee consists of
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr.
Cheng Faat Ting Gary (Chairman), Dr. Chow Kwok Fai
Joseph and Mr. Chan Kin Sang.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the
Board in reviewing the financial information and reporting
process, risk management and internal control systems,
effectiveness of the internal audit function, scope of audit
and appointment of external auditors, and arrangements
to enable employees of the Company to raise concerns
about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters of the Company.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited
consolidated financial statements and is of the opinion
that the preparation of such statements complied with
the applicable accounting standards, the requirements
under the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable legal
requirements, and that adequate disclosures have been
made.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

There was no change in auditor since the Listing Date
except that with effect from 19 December 2019, Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) has resigned as the
auditor of the Company and Mazars has been appointed
as the new auditor on the same day to fill the casual
vacancy following the resignation of Deloitte and to hold
office until the conclusion of the next AGM.

The Group's consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2020 have been audited by
Mazars, which would retire at the forthcoming AGM and
being eligible, offers itself for re-appointment. A resolution
to re-appoint Mazars as the independent auditor and
to authorise the Directors to fix its remuneration will
be proposed to the shareholders for approval at the
forthcoming AGM.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Report contains forward looking statements with
respect to the financial conditions, results of operations
and business of the Group. These forward looking
statements represent the Company’s expectations or
beliefs concerning future events and involve known and
unknown risks and uncertainty that could cause actual
results, performance or events to differ materially from
those expressed or implied in such statements.

On behalf of the Board

Zhang Shuguang
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 24 March 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B R EN R

mazars
f O & K

To the members of
Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 125 to 227,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2020, and of its financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements for
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s net
trade receivables amounted to approximately
RMB9,503,000 and out of these trade
receivables of approximately RMB7,829,000
were past due. The Group recorded net
impairment losses on trade receivables of
approximately RMB787,000 debited to profit
or loss for the year ended 31 December 2020
and the Group’s lifetime expected credit
losses (“ECL"”) on trade receivables as at 31
December 2020 amounted to approximately
RMB3,361,000.

The management of the Group estimates the
amount of lifetime ECL of trade receivables
based on provision matrix through grouping of
various debtors that have similar loss patterns,
after considering internal credit assessment of
trade debtors and past due status of respective
trade receivables. Estimated loss rates are based
on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for
forward-looking information.

In addition, trade receivables that are credit-
impaired are assessed for ECL individually. The
loss allowance amount of the credit impaired
trade receivables is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows
with the consideration of expected future losses.

We identified impairment assessment of
trade receivables as a key audit matter due
to the significance of trade receivables to the
Group's consolidated financial position and
the involvement of subjective judgement and
management estimates in evaluating the ECL of
the Group's trade receivables at the end of the
reporting period.

Related disclosures are included in Notes 2, 17
and 29 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Our procedures, among others, included:

a)

Understanding key controls on how the
management estimates the credit loss allowance
for trade receivables;

Testing the integrity of information used by
management to develop the provision matrix
including testing individual customers’ credit
assessment, on a sample basis, through analysing
their nature, size and past due status with
the underlying supporting documents and
comparing the internal credit assessment made
by management on these customers;

Evaluating management’s basis and judgement
in determining credit loss allowance on trade
receivables, including their identification of credit
impaired trade receivables, the reasonableness of
management’s grouping of the remaining trade
debtors into different categories in the provision
matrix, and the basis of estimated credit loss rates
applied in each category in the provision matrix
(with reference to historical default rates and
forward-looking information); and

Evaluating the disclosures regarding the
impairment assessment of trade receivables.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the 2020 annual report of the
Company but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements
does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do
50.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group'’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

e  QObtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with
a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged
with governance, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 24 March 2021

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is:

Tsoi Wa Shan

Practising Certificate number: P07514
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GeEsEkEMEEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ =T _ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

2020 2019
—EB-FF T NF
Notes RMB000 RMB’000
Hiat AR¥FT ARETT
Revenue g %5 3 21,967 25,471
Cost of sales SHERKAR (7,249) (7,580)
Gross profit EH) 14,718 17,891
Other income HALKA 5 650 260
Other gains and losses HA e K EE 6 (1,062) 508
Selling and distribution expenses SHE ko HRSZ (7,124) (6,777)
Administrative expenses TRAX (10,191) (9,679)
Research and development expenses 252 (2,253) (1,762)
Provision for impairment losses on ME - BE X
property, plant and equipment RIEREE R A 12 (2,556) -
(Provision for) Reversal of impairment 2 5 & sk I8 B EE 18
losses on trade receivables, net (BB ) B EFEE 29 (787) 250
Reversal of impairment losses H A e IE R BB
on other receivables, net e EbERE 29 7 39
Equity-settled share-based AR 4 E 2 AR 1 E it
payment expenses X 25 (2,660) -
Finance costs BhE R 7 (74) (72)
Share of results of an associate DME—FHEBERREE 15 (40) -
(Loss) Profit before tax BRBLAT (&518 ) a R 7 (11,372) 658
Income tax expense FTiSHi A 9 (255) (942)
Loss for the year attributable to FRAQATEEA
owners of the Company FEihEsE (11,627) (284)
Other comprehensive income Hitt2EKA (BIX) :
(expense):
Item that may be reclassified HiZr[ge B HE
subsequently to profit or loss B i) EE
Exchange difference on consolidation #r& M X5 =%8 141 (52)
Total comprehensive expense RAREEABLERA
for the year attributable to 2HAZAE
owners of the Company (11,486) (336)
Loss per share attributable to AATHEE AEN
owners of the Company BREE 10 RMB cents RMB cents
A B #Al AN
Basic and diluted ERREE (2.91) (0.07)

EREY)ESEIRIR AR A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
e B RR

At 31 December 2020 RZZE-_T&FE+_-HA=+—H
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2020 2019
—B-®F FNF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
KiaF ARMFiT AREFT
Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB kR 12 7.256 9,722
Right-of-use assets EREEE 13 2,432 1,351
Intangible assets | EE 14 2,924 2,914
Interest in an associate R—REEE AR
#Em 15 - —
Deposits for acquisition of property, WM « FE &
plant and equipment w2z iEE 1,079 1,257
13,691 15,244
Current assets REEE
Inventories 5E 16 2,766 2,703
Trade receivables g 5 FEWGRIA 17 9,503 10,079
Other receivables, deposits and HAb W ~ e
prepayments RIBRTRRIE 18 4,797 1,893
Bank balances and cash RITERRIES 19 41,944 48,793
59,010 63,468
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables Z S HIE 20 1,447 1,030
Other payables and accrued H b FE AT FRIE R FE T
charges g 21 3,961 3,797
Contract liabilities aHaE 22 2,143 292
Lease liabilities MEBE 13 1,406 1,181
Deferred income — government B A — U
grants D 23 45 45
Tax payable JETFRIE 264 866
9,266 7,211
Net current assets RBEEFE 49,744 56,257
Total assets less current liabilities EEABRBASEE 63,435 71,501
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2020 2019
—BFF —EAF
Notes RMB000 RMB’000
Hiat AR¥FT ARETT
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEARE 13 1,236 431
Deferred income — government EEWA — U
grants =) 23 340 385
1,576 816
NET ASSETS EEFE 61,859 70,685
Capital and reserves BEXRK F#E
Share capital LN 26 3,509 3,509
Reserves it 58,350 67,176
TOTAL EQUITY S 61,859 70,685
The consolidated financial statements on pages 125 to ZFE€R_ZT_-_—F=A -+ BEERE

227 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board
of Directors on 24 March 2021 and signed on its behalf

by:

Mr. Zhang Shuguang

REX L

Director

EZE

EREYESRE]

R

Mr. Zhang Chunguang
REXRE

Director

EZE

HINNE125F8227 B2 & B
BWRRIAATALTRERERSE

B PR 2 A Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ =T =T F+_A=+—HIFE

Reserves
i
Share
Share Share Capital ~ Statutory  Translation option  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits  Sub-total  Total equity
e R%E ERGfE EERE EifiE BRERG By Nt RalE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
NEETL  ARETT  AREFr  ARETn  ARETT  AREFT  ARETT  AREFT  AREFT
(Note (3)) (Note (b)) (Note (c) (Note () (Note 25)
(Hita) (i) (i) i) (Hi25)
At 1 January 2019 R=F-N§-A-A 3,509 47,248 1943 1,734 = = 16,587 67,512 71,001
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - - (284) (284) (284)
Other comprehensive expense: A2 ERY
Item that may be reclassified AR B EEER
subsequently to profit or loss Fh
Exchange difference on consolidation ~ EFAER 2 - - - - (52) - - (52) (52)
Total comprehensive expense for ~ ER2ARZAE
the year - - - - (52) - (284) (336) (330)
Transactions with owners: BEEAZRS
Contributions and distributions HHRATE
Appropriation of tatutory reserve BiTEERE - - - 568 - - (568) - -
At 31 December 2019 RZZ-NETZA=1-H 3,509 4748 1943 2302 (52) - 15,735 67,176 70,685
At 1 January 2020 R=Z-FF-A-A 3,509 47,288 1,943 2302 (52) - 15735 61,176 70,685
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - (1,627) (11,627) (11,627)
Other comprehensive income: Eh 2l
Item that may be reclassified AR EN S EERRY
subsequently to profit or foss B
Exchange difference on consolidation ~ EFAER 2 - - - - 1M - - 1 1
Total comprehensive expense for ~ ER2EHXEE
the year - - - - 1M - (11,627) (11,486) (11,486)
Transactions with owners: BREAZRS
Contributions and distributions ERA
Recognition of equity-settled BEANREEE
share-based payment (Note 25) ROERATH225) - - - - - 2,660 - 2,660 2,660
Forfeiture of share options (Note 25) SR IREEIRIE (#i225) - - - - - (52) 52 - -
Total transactions with owners HEEAI RS - - - - - 2,608 52 2,660 2,660
At 31 December 2020 R-B-8Et-B=t-R 3,509 47,48 1,983 2302 89 2,608 4,160 58,350 61,859
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—T=ZFF+-A=+—HItFE

Notes:

(a

*

Share premium represents the excess of the net proceeds
or consideration from issuance of the Company’s shares
over their par value.

Capital reserve represents the difference between the
combined capital of the Company’s subsidiaries, King
Grace Company Limited (“King Grace”) and & JIl # &
£ ETEE R A A (Shenzhen Huakang Bio-Medical
Engineering Limited*) (“Shenzhen Huakang”) and the
consideration paid for acquiring 44% equity interest of

Shenzhen Huakang by King Grace in 2017.

Statutory reserve is required to be appropriated from
profit after income tax of the entity which established in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), determined
in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations
in the PRC. Allocation to the statutory reserve shall be
approved by the board of directors of the PRC entity. The
appropriation to statutory reserve may cease if the balance
of the statutory reserve has reached 50% of the registered
capital of the PRC entity. The statutory reserve may be
used to make up losses or for conversion into capital.
The PRC entity may, upon the approval by a resolution of
shareholders’ general meeting/board of directors’ meeting,
convert the statutory reserve into capital in proportion to
the then existing shareholdings. However, when converting
the statutory reserve into capital, the balance of such
reserve remaining unconverted must not be less than 25%
of the registered capital of that entity.

Translation reserve has been set up and is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies adopted for
foreign currency translation as set out in Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

English translation is for identification purpose only

izt -

(a)

(b)

B An s (B AN 1R R BT FT S SR F Bk
REBHEBRMNEE °

BARBERER-_Z—tF  KXAAKE
A 7] King Grace Company Limited ( [ King
Grace |) FORYIEREYBETEARAR]
([FRINERE]) 2 & BB AR EKing GraceFt U
BRINERIM% BRI MR EZHEE
o

EEFBEREPEARKNB((HEDE
BIERNER - NP BRI BRIV AE
BiiRm MR 2 1 - AT R TEELL B
ARTRERCEFTSIE o WATRHEE
FRET E BB EMEA50% + BIIAT 42 1FH2ER
EERE o EAERENRIEREBENER
RER - BBRRREZRER EEEEH
R - PEERBARERCAZKRE

P A E FRBIRREN  2Am - Wi
AEREERAER - SR NRER 2 HRRE
RS TSI RNZAEREMEARZ225% -

IE R REARE M SRR 2 Ent
SMEIE RN 2 S ETBRARSL MR IR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
GERETRER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ =T —TF+ - A=+—HItFE

2020 2019
—E-EF — &
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥FT ARETT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REED
(Loss) Profit before tax PR A (548 ) A A (11,372) 658
Adjustments for: KRR -
Amortisation of intangible assets | EERH 330 370
Depreciation of property, ME - WE k&
plant and equipment e 1,848 1,609
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {FFREEEITE 1,016 783
Equity-settled share-based UARRIE#E S 2 AR 17
payment expenses ERAREAS 2,660 -
Gain on disposal of property, ﬁ’%@% B K
plant and equipment, net R R - (10)
Gain on lease modification MEET &= (11) -
Interest income FEWA (185) (174)
Provision for impairment losses on ME - BB R
property, plant and equipment BIEBERE 2,556 =
Provision for (Reversal of) g 7 W GRIERE
impairment losses on B R (M) #58
trade receivables, net 787 (250)
Reversal of impairment loss F Ath FEWURIE R,
on other receivables, net (EEER D F5E (7) (39)
Release of deferred income ‘5@5@4&)\%&@ (45) (45)
Share of results of an associate oiE— B E A RIER 40 =
Write-off of property, ME - WE KRR EZHE
plant and equipment 33 3
Finance costs BLE R 74 72
Operating cash flows before EEESRHI2KERESRE
changes in working capital (2,276) 2,977
Changes in working capital LBEECEE
Inventories FE (63) (419)
Trade receivables B 5 WK (211) 879
Other receivables, ,HJ’@JEWTAIE Ze
deposits and prepayments MIERFIR (2,897) 124
Trade payables & 5208 417 103
Other payables and accrued H b e IE R IEET B R
charges 112 (5,393)
Contract liabilities BHEE 1,851 113
Cash used in operations KERMARE (3,067) (1,616)
Income tax paid Eﬁﬁﬁ S (857) (1,774)
Net cash used in operating RETHMARS
activities T (3,924) (3,390)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—

T RFET A=t HILFE

2020 2019
—EC-EF — &
RMB000 RMB’'000
AR¥FT ARETT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZRD
Acquisition of property, plant and WEEYIS - B Kk f
equipment (1,741) (585)
Development costs paid EASFEERAR (340) (366)
Deposits paid for acquisition of UEEE - R &
property, plant and equipment R ENER - (1,257)
Interest received B YEF B 185 174
Proceeds from disposal of property, &Y  FE L& 2 TSR
plant and equipment 18 - 10
Acquisition of investment in an WER—EEE QAR 2 K&
associate (40) -
Net cash used in investing RETBFARETFHE
activities (1,936) (2,024)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMEEE
Repayment for lease liabilities MEBREXK (1,107) (594)
Net cash used in financing RMEEBTAREFE
activities (1,107) (594)
Net decrease in cash and cash ReRREEBYRD FHE
equivalents (6,967) (6,008)
Cash and cash equivalents atthe FHZHRERRLZEY
beginning of the year 48,793 54,797
Effect on exchange rate changes EXREHNTE 118 4
Cash and cash equivalents atthe FXRZHEERBELZEY
end of the year, represented by  {ER1ITEHKRIRE
bank balances and cash 41,944 48,793

EERA Y EEE 2R E R 2 8 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ =T —TF+ - A=+—HItFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
(the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands as an exempted company under the laws
of the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 3
August 2017 and its shares are listed on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 13 December 2018. The Company
is ultimately controlled by Mr. Zhang Shuguang and
Mr. Chang Yim Yang, who act in concert and hold
equity interests in the Company indirectly through
Crystal Grant Limited (wholly owned by Mr. Zhang
Shuguang), a limited liability company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”) and Ever
Charming Inc. (wholly owned by Mr. Chang Yim
Yang), a limited liability company incorporated
in the BVI, respectively. The addresses of the
registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are set out in the section headed
“Corporate Information” to the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) are principally engaged in research
and development, manufacture, marketing and sale
of biological reagents and auxiliary reproductive
supplies and equipment in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC"). The principal activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB"), which is the same as
the functional currency of the Company and its
subsidiaries, and rounded to the nearest thousand
unless otherwise stated.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—T=ZFF+-A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the "HKICPA"), which collective term includes all
applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a basis consistent with the accounting
policies adopted in the 2019 consolidated financial
statements except for the adoption of the following
new/revised HKFRSs that are effective from the
current year.

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied, for the first time, the
following new/revised HKFRSs:

Amendments to HKASs 1 Definition of Material

and 8
Amendments to HKAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform -
HKFRSs 7 and 9 Phase 1

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

EREMESER

FTEETEE
B hI=

ZEERAMBBRRDIBRBEEEGEQ
(RS2 DEMZMBEER
ERIE BB REER (B BUBRE
ER])  BASHEN(EBETE
A ERB(TXRES BRMBRE
R ) A K 7B R RGP BE AR E
MREL - ZEH A MIERERIE TR
GEMEZ L ARRI([ LHARR ) @A
BEARE -

AR T B AR A A0 BT 2T 48
AT BB R EERISN - RERA R
BHEDRIER T AEEE AN
BRI B B — B R

?IQJO

R BT BB BREER

AEBED ERB TG KERTE
YRS

BEGHERE 1R R BAZEE
FFRERTA

BB GRHERE393 - MERERNE -
BEMBRERAETRE  FBR
FIRERTA

BB BREEAF3N FHLER
EHEN
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE =T =T F+ - A=+—HI-FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKASs 1 and 8: Definition of
Material

The amendments clarify the definition of material
and align the definition used across HKFRSs.

The adoption of the amendments does not have
any significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRSs 7 and 9:
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 1

The amendments modify some specific hedge
accounting requirements to provide relief from
potential effects of the uncertainties caused by
interest rate benchmark reform (the market-wide
reform of an interest rate benchmark, including the
replacement of an interest rate benchmark with an
alternative benchmark). In addition, the amendments
require companies to provide additional information
to investors about their hedging relationships which
are directly affected by these uncertainties.

The adoption of the amendments does not have
any significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T =-_FF+-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3: Definition of a
Business

The amendments, among others, revise the definition
of a business and include new guidance to evaluate
whether an acquired process is substantive.

The adoption of the amendments does not have
any significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

A summary of the significant accounting policies
adopted by the Group is set out below.

Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements is historical
cost.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

e is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

EHENBRRE

FESHBER®E)

R/ RETERRBEREER
(&)
E%%ﬁ
Z5E

RZEBFA(ERBR)BAEKZE
% UAFEMKENBRERTEEKX
SIAFES

3‘5)4‘;1' n]-m : %i%

ERZFER] AYZEFHFEVBHRRL
BEMBERATE

AREBEFRAN TR SEABERBAINT -

FHENER

mEZEREVBRRTAZERE
AEE LR o

REAREE
RAMBRREEARRARARRLE
B ARSI BRI MK - WS
AR - BIAR RIESEHIRE

o AHREHRITEES

. /A&Aﬁ%%$ﬁﬁ@WT
[o] R & JE15 O SR AR
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE =T =T F+ - A=+—HI-FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the period are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases
to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the
Group. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group reassesses whether it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the elements of
control.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T =-_FF+-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position
which is presented within these notes, the investment
in subsidiaries is stated at cost less impairment loss.
The carrying amount of the investment is reduced to
its recoverable amount on an individual basis, if it is
higher than the recoverable amount. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividends received and/or receivable.

Associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but is not control or
join control of those policies.

The Group’s investment in associate is accounted
for under the equity method of accounting, except
when the investment or a portion thereof is classified
as held for sale. Under the equity method, the
investment is initially recorded at cost and adjusted
thereafter for the post-acquisition changes in the
Group's share of the investee’s net assets and any
impairment loss relating to the investment. Except
to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the investee, the Group discontinues recognising
its share of further losses when the Group’s share of
losses of the investee equals or exceeds the carrying
amount of its interest in the investee, which includes
any long term interests that, in substance, form part
of the Group's net investment in the investee.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associate are
eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in
the investees, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred,
in which case they are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE =T =T F+ - A=+—HI-FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue
when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied,
i.e. when “control” of the goods underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to
customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that
are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

e the Group's performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the
Group performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct
goods or service.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T =-_FF+-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods that the
Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is
required before payment of that consideration is
due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to
a contract are accounted for an presented on a net
basis.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised at a point
in time upon i) delivering the goods to the customers’
warehouse on which the customers obtain control
of the goods or ii) the customers collect the goods
directly from the Group’s warehouse, as appropriate.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ=—

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease at inception of the contract. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to
short-term leases and low-value asset leases. Lease
payments associated with these leases are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

The Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components from lease components, and accounts
for each lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component.

The Group accounts for each lease component
within a lease contract as a lease separately. The
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise
to a separate component are considered to be part
of the total consideration that is allocated to the
separately identified components of the contract.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability at the commencement date of the lease.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—T=ZFF+-A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FES:EEE)

(Continued)
Leases (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost,
which comprises

(@) the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

(b) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

() any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and

(d) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying
asset, restoring the site on which it is located or
restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the
lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured
at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses and adjusted for any
remeasurement of the lease liability. Depreciation
is provided on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of
the right-of-use asset (unless the lease transfers
ownership of the underlying asset to the Group by
the end of the lease term or if the cost of the right-
of-use asset reflects that the Group will exercise
a purchase option — in which case depreciation
is provided over the estimated useful life of the
underlying asset) as follows:

Factories and office premises 2 years to 3 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is initially measured at the present
value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date of the contract.

The lease payments included in the measurement of
the lease liability comprise the following payments
for the right to use the underlying asset during the
lease term that are not paid at the commencement
date:

(@) fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

(b) variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate;

(c) amounts expected to be payable under residual
value guarantees;

(d) exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease, or where it is not readily
determinable, the incremental borrowing rate of the
lessee.

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by
increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest
on the lease liability and by reducing the carrying
amount to reflect the lease payments made.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—T=ZFF+-A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised
discount rate when there are changes to the lease
payments arising from a change in the lease term
or the reassessment of whether the Group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option.

The lease liability is remeasured by using the original
discount rate when there is a change in the residual
value guarantee, the in-substance fixed lease
payments or the future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or a rate (other than
floating interest rate). In case of a change in future
lease payments resulting from a change in floating
interest rates, the Group remeasures the lease
liability using a revised discount rate.

The Group recognises the amount of the
remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment
to the right-of-use asset. If the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset is reduced to zero and there is
a further reduction in the measurement of the lease
liability, the Group recognises any remaining amount
of the remeasurement in profit or loss.

A lease modification is accounted for as a separate
lease if

(@) the modification increases the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

(b) the consideration for the lease increases by
an amount commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase in scope and
any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE =T =T F+ - A=+—HI-FE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

When a lease modification is not accounted for as
a separate lease, at the effective date of the lease
modification,

(@) the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract on the basis of relative stand-
alone price as described above.

(b) the Group determines the lease term of the
modified contract.

(c) the Group remeasures the lease liability by
discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate over the revised lease term.

(d) for lease modifications that decrease the
scope of the lease, the Group accounts for
the remeasurement of the lease liability by
decreasing the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset to reflect the partial or full termination
of the lease and recognising any gain or loss
relating to the partial or full termination of the
lease in profit or loss.

(e) for all other lease modifications, the Group
accounts for the remeasurement of the lease
liability by making a corresponding adjustment
to the right-of-use asset.

Annual Report 2020 &%

FESHBER®E)

HEE)
EREBANE)

A HE AR AR BEOARK - AIE
ZMAERERZ A

(a)

ARRAEENERHRER LA
B ERIEL DRC ©

AEBEELERIAHNHEER -

AEBZBNEETHERERE
ERTRAIR R BRI HE N FUETT
MRUEFHTERERE -

pARHEBE L HEBRME
AEEE BB EREEEZRE
BEREERBEZEHNAEF AR
& WRRE D SR EmAL LZEE
MRBERPHEREMESIHEE
RIFZAERRE 2 W sEiE

B EMBEEENME - AKE
BRHEREEEFLARERE
BHERBEETENE -



For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T =-_FF+-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the retranslation of
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. RMB) using
exchange rate prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of translation reserve (attributable
to non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ=—

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a
disposal of the Group'’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation
or a partial disposal of an interest in an associate
that includes a foreign operation of which the
retained interest becomes a financial assets). All of
the exchange differences accumulated in a foreign
exchange translation reserve in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation that
does not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in profit
or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial
disposals of associates that do not result in the
Group losing significant influence), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.

On all other partial disposals, which includes partial
disposal of associates that do not result in the
Group losing significant influence or joint control,
the proportionate share of the cumulative amount
of exchange differences recognised in the separate
component of equity is reclassified to profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—T=ZFF+-A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there
is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them and that the
grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss
on a systematic basis over the periods in which the
Group recognises as expenses the related costs
for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary
condition is that the Group should purchase,
construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are
recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to
profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over
the useful lives of the related assets.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit
schemes and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as
an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits
the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave
and sick leave) after deducting any amount already
paid.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ=—

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled transactions

The Group’s employees, including directors, receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payment
transactions, whereby the employees rendered
services in exchange for shares or rights over shares.
The cost of such transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments at the grant date. The fair value of share
options granted to employees is recognised as an
employee cost with a corresponding increase in a
reserve within equity.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the vesting conditions are
to be fulfilled, ending on the date on which the
entitlement of relevant employees to the award is
no longer conditional on the satisfaction of any non-
market vesting conditions (“vesting date”). During
the vesting period, the number of share options
that is expected to vest ultimately is reviewed. Any
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in
prior periods is charged/credited to profit or loss for
the year of review, with a corresponding adjustment
to the reserve within equity.

When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in share
options reserve will be transferred to accumulated
profits or losses.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T =-_FF+-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share-based payment transactions (Continued)
Equity-settled transactions (Continued)

No expense is recognised for awards that do
not ultimately vest, except for awards that are
conditional on a market condition or non-vesting
condition, which are treated as vested irrespective of
whether or not the market condition or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all non-market
vesting conditions are satisfied. Where an equity-
settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. However, if a new award is substituted
for the cancelled award, and designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award as described
above.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the period. Taxable profit differs from profit/loss
before tax because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE =T =T F+ - A=+—HI-FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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For the year ended

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the
end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets
and liabilities on a net basis.

Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE =T =T F+ - A=+—HI-FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for
production, supply or administrative purposes are
carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss.
Such properties are classified to the appropriate
categories of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation
of these assets, on the same basis as other property
assets, commences when the assets are ready for
their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets over their estimated useful lives using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets

Internally-generated intangible assets — research
and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities (or from the development
phase of an internal project) is recognised if, and
only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

e the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use
or sale;

e the intention to complete the intangible asset
and use or sell it;

e the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

e how the intangible asset will generate probable
future economic benefits;

e the availability of adequate technical,
financial and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the intangible
asset; and

e the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.

The amount initially recognised for internally
generated intangible asset is the sum of the
expenditure incurred from the date when the
intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria
listed above. Where no internally-generated
intangible asset can be recognised, development
expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which it is incurred.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ=—

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets — research
and development expenditure (Continued)

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally
generated intangible assets are reported at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as
intangible assets that are acquired separately.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or
when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and
intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any).
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—T=ZFF+-A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets
(Continued)

The recoverable amount of tangible and intangible
assets is estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets
are also allocated to individual cash-generating units,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which
the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) in prior periods. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ=—

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement
of cash flows, cash equivalents represent short-
term highly liquid investments which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, net of bank overdrafts (if any).

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost, which comprises all costs of
purchase and, where applicable, cost of conversion
and other costs that have been incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and
condition, is calculated using the first in, first out
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business less
the estimated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period of the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal
of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised
as an expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—T=ZFF+-A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

FESHBER®E)

TRMTA
MEEERKASTESNKRXXZETH
77 AR eREERERMAE -

TREENERABINT AR FER
B HRBEFBMEHREERE 1558
AFENEFPANELNE ZRKGARR
Sh e AIEREITEREERERAR
MEL 2 EREAHR RN L HER
RIMAEMEEXERBE A FENK
e HnER (2@ ) o

ERNE AN EEREERERARE
BIENARITE - TRRBBEMESE
FEWA KRB FHITE - BERF =X
REREBEENTREBENEFFHK
(4niE A ) BAT BT R M RE IR 5 R 23R
WA RNK(BEMEBERERN X
R 2 ENKEWERRER - X
SR R A B TR ) B A FER
Ry AR D FHE Y IR

EERA Y EEE 2R E R 2 8 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited

157



158

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ=—

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income:

e the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling;
and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measure at
fair value through profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—T=ZFF+-A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk
on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the determination
that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECL") on financial assets which are
subject to impairment under HKFRS 9 (including
trade receivables, other receivables and bank
balances). The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ=—

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
("12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group'’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed
collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings (i.e. high risk, normal risk and low risk

type).

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T =-_FF+-_A=+—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
assessment;

e significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

e existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE =T =T F+ - A=+—HI-FE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

e an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
if the financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
financial instrument is determined to have low
credit risk if i) the financial instrument has a low
risk of default (i.e. no default history); ii) the
counterparty has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term; and iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may,
but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of
the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.
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For the year ended

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(ii)

(iif)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

() the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower

will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ=—

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of
trade receivables, when the amounts are over
two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-
off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—T=ZFF+-A=+—HItFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or
cater for cases where evidence at the individual
instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on the risk
type (i.e. high risk, normal risk and low risk type)
by considering:

e  Past-due status; and
e Nature, size and industry of debtors.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with
the exception of trade receivables and other
receivables where the corresponding adjustment
is recognised through a loss allowance account.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE =T =T F+ - A=+—HI-FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities including trade payables, other
payables and accrued charges, and lease liabilities
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when,
and only when, the Group’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable
is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T =-_FF+-_A=+—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to
the Group.

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s
family is related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is @ member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of the holding
company of the Group.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
holding company, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

(iii) both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the
sponsoring employers are also related to
the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ=—

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)
(b) (Continued)

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a holding company of the
entity).

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
holding company of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings
with the entity and include:

(@) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s
spouse or domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate
includes subsidiaries of the associate and a joint
venture includes subsidiaries of the joint venture.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to Group’s executive
directors for the purpose of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—T=ZFF+-A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Segment reporting (Continued)

Individual material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless
the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Key sources of estimation and uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
the directors of the Company are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning
the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE =T =T F+ - A=+—HI-FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation and uncertainty
(Continued)

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

The Group adopted HKFRS 9 and the management
of the Group estimates the amount of lifetime
ECL of trade receivables based on provision matrix
through grouping of various debtors that have
similar loss patterns, after considering internal credit
assessment of trade debtors and past due status
of respective trade receivables. Estimated loss rates
are based on historical observed default rates over
the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted
for forward-looking information. In addition, trade
receivables that are credit impaired are assessed for
ECL individually. The loss allowance amount of the
credit impaired trade receivables is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows with
the consideration of expected future losses.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

The management determines whether the Group's
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are impaired when an indication of impairment
exists. This requires an estimation of the recoverable
amounts of the property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets which is equal to the higher of
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
Estimating the value in use requires the management
to make an estimate of the expected future cash
flows from the property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows. Any impairment will be charged
to profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—T=ZFF+-A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Future changes in HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of the consolidated
financial statements, the HKICPA has issued the
following new/revised HKFRSs that are not yet
effective for the current year, which the Group has
not early adopted.

Amendments to COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions
HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2 @
HKFRSs 4, 7, 9 and 16

Amendments to HKAS 16 Proceeds before Intended Use ©

Amendments to HKAS 37 Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework ©

Annual Improvementsto ~ 2018-2020 Cycle @

HKFRSs
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current @
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture

M Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
June 2020

@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2021

@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2022

@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023

©) The effective date to be determined

The management of the Group does not anticipate
that the adoption of these new/revised HKFRSs in
future periods will have any material impact on the
financial performance and financial position of the
Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE =T =T F+ - A=+—HI-FE

3. REVENUE 3.

(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts

(a) EFEHWEDSE

with customers

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AEEF T
Type of goods Em¥EHsl
Sales of biological reagents: SHE EYRE -
Male fertility in-vitro diagnostic SHETEEINDE
("IVD") reagents (T2l ) SA 15,952 19,433
Parasite antibody detection reagents 274 & 551 8] 5 A 2,900 3,499
Epstein-Barr Virus antibody EBJR = iRl s B
detection reagents 978 1,221
Sales of auxiliary reproductive supplies $4& &84 & A m
and equipment Meg 1,361 1,318
Sales of healthcare products and HERREMR
supplements R#EE 776 -
21,967 25,471
2020 2019
—E-EF —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETF T
Type of customers ZEEEH
Distributors paN L] 12,160 12,444
Non-distributors FEDEHE 9,807 13,027
21,967 25,471
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T =-_FF+-_A=+—HIFE

3. REVENUE (Continued)

(b) Performance obligations for contracts with

customers

The Group sells biological reagents, auxiliary
reproductive supplies and equipment and
healthcare products and supplements to
distributors and non-distributors mainly
comprising hospitals and medical institutions in
the PRC. Contracts with the Group’s customers
are mainly short term and fixed price contracts.
The revenue is recognised when control of the
goods has transferred, being when the goods
are i) delivered to the customers’ warehouse
on which the customers obtain control of the
goods or ii) collected by the customers directly
from the Group’s warehouse, as appropriate.
Following delivery, the customers have full
discretion over the manner of distribution
and price to sell the goods, have the primary
responsibility when selling the goods and bear
the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to
the goods.

In general, the Group will request deposits from
the customers before the goods are delivered
and the amount of deposits requested varies
amongst different contracts. For certain long-
term customers, the Group will deliver the
goods without requesting deposits and allow
a credit period from 30 to 180 days (2079: 30
to 180 days) to these customers and there is
no credit period granted to other customers.
The customers have neither rights of return nor
rights to defer or avoid payment for the goods
once they are accepted by the customers upon
delivery.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ=—

3. REVENUE (Continued)

(b) Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (Continued)

The total amount of transaction prices
allocated to the remaining unsatisfied
performance obligations as at 31 December
2020 are approximately RMB2,143,000 (2079:
approximately RMB292,000) and the expected
timing of recognising revenue is within one year.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s operating activities are mainly
attributable to a single operating segment focusing
on research and development, manufacturing
and sales of biological reagents and auxiliary
reproductive supplies and equipment. This operating
segment has been identified on the basis of internal
management reports prepared in accordance with
accounting policies that disclosed in Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements. Information
reported to the directors of the Company, being the
chief operating decision maker, for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment focuses
on revenue analysis by major products. No other
discrete financial information is provided other than
the Group's results and financial position as a whole.
Accordingly, only entity-wide disclosures, geographic
information and major customers are presented.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Entity-wide disclosure

Revenue from major products

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue

from its major products:

4. FEERE)
EEERNREER
FREmMBE

T RFET A=t HILFE

NTRAEETBERWE 2 DI

2020 2019
—E-BE —TNF
RMB000 RMB’'000
ARETFT AREFT
Type of goods Em¥E5l
Sales of biological reagents: SHE B -
Male fertility IVD reagents SHETEEINDE
A 15,952 19,433
Parasite antibody detection reagents A& R iRl B A 2,900 3,499
Epstein-Barr Virus antibody detection EBR S R0AI Bl
reagents 978 1,221
Sales of auxiliary reproductive supplies  $5E®BI4E B
and equipment B 1,361 1,318
Sales of healthcare products and HERREDR
supplements RIEm 776 -
21,967 25,471

Geographical information

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of the Group's revenue from

1 5 B

external customers which are based on the location

of goods delivered.

TRBOILE R Ty B 53 2 R
B R P U a2 M AR o

2020 2019
—E_EHF T—NEF
RMB000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT
Revenue from external customers: HNER R P e
The PRC a2 21,191 25,471
Hong Kong B 776 -
21,967 25,471
No geographical segment information of the Group’s AR EENTENESI D AEE 7 IE

non-current assets is presented as the Group’s non-
current assets (except for a leased office premises
and motor vehicle with total carrying amount of
approximately RMB1,000,000 (2079: approximately ZHREPEA
RMB1,067,000) as presented in right-of-use assets
which is located in Hong Kong) are mainly located in

the PRC by physical location of assets.

(=F—NF:

oI D ERE R o

NHEE(BRUNRBEBNERAEEESR
5| RERTEE X A& A KR 1,000,0007T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VI ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE =T =T F+ - A=+—HI-FE

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Information about major customers

Details of the customers (including entities under
common control) individually accounting for 10% or
more of the Group's total revenue are as follows:

4. FEERE)
FREREFNWER

BEBREAEERAKZRI0%HA LHEF
(BREZAFEEHER) OFBOT

2020 2019
—EB-FF  ZTNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTFT AREFT
Customer A EFPA 2,462 3,119
5. OTHER INCOME 5. HlA

2020 2019
—E-%F T NHF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT
Bank interest income RITH S UA 185 174
Government grants (Note) BB (K757) am 55
Sundry income FETEWA 24 31
650 260

Note: Hia -

In the opinion of the management of the Group, there
was no unfulfilled condition or contingency relating to the
government grants.

6. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

AEEEEERAS  WERERF/HEIAR

REKIGIFHEAFIR ©

6. HitmRER

2020 2019
—F-FF  TNHF
RMB'000 RMB’'000
ARETFT AREFT

Gain on disposal of property, plant HEME - HER
and equipment, net RN FER - 10
Gain on lease modification BTk 11 _
Foreign exchange (losses) gains, net P H (B8 ) Wan #58 (1,073) 498
(1,062) 508
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7.

(LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAX
This is stated after charging:

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—T=ZFF+-A=+—HItFE

7. BRBiAT(E1R) &R
T AEFAER T 5% IR

2020 2019
—EB-FF T NHF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FiT ARETT
Finance costs Rl & A AR
Finance charges on lease liabilities MHEBENUBER 74 72
Staff costs, including directors’ ETIRAX  BREE
remuneration i
Directors’ emoluments (Note 8) EEHM(AZS) 3,844 1,232
Other staff costs: HAth 8 TR
Salaries, bonuses and other benefits e A R EHA
BF 8,177 7,687
Contributions to defined TERRMERGET B
contribution plans (Note (i) (B1720)) 701 1,241
Equity-settled share-based AR #EE 2 AR 17
payment expenses AN R 1,024 -
13,746 10,160
Other items Htg g
Auditor’s remuneration ZEEN B & 625 619
Amortisation of intangible assets B A EEH
(included in cost of sales) (BIEHEKAK) 330 370
Cost of inventories (Note (ii)) FERA (KT 52i) 7,249 7,580
Depreciation of property, M - BB KRR
plant and equipment e 1,848 1,609
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEITE 1,016 783
Other rental and related HtHEERE@ERS —
expenses — short term leases FREIMEE 42 28
Write-off of property, plant and ME - BB KREE
equipment =% 33 3
Notes: Wit -
(i)  Starting from February 2020, the relevant PRC () BZZ_TFHiE - PRHEEBTH

government authorities has given certain temporary
reliefs to entities incorporated in the PRC to exempt
from payment of certain amount of levies on the

social security insurance.

BEAETEEMRIMNEREHRET
A RO - WE RN —EBENLE
RERRE

EREY)ESEIRIR AR A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited

577



For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE =T =T F+ - A=+—HI-FE

7. (LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued) 7.

Notes: (Continued)

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2020, cost of
inventories included approximately RMB2,962,000
(2019: approximately RMB3,353,000) relating to the
aggregate amount of certain staff costs, amortisation,
depreciation and other rental and related expenses,
which were included in the respective amounts as

BRBLRT (&8 ) @M (&)
st : ()

(ii)

BE_ZT-_ZTF+_A=+—HIF
- GERABEFBETEIRA
By MEREMAEREEAY A
FEA) A REE2,962,0007T( —E— N -
AIARH#3,353,000T) © BEEEEX
WEMEESEE -

disclosed above.

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8.
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID

EMPLOYEES

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

Name

4

Position

Bt

EERFETHRAEHFMURER
B = ¥ B 2 5

(a) EBERFTETHAEHMH

Date of appointment (resignation)
as the director of the Company

EZER(BE)ARRESZAN

Mr. Zhang Shuguang

G e
Mr. Zhang Chunguang

RENLE

Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael
BEELE

Mr. He Jiaming

(B

Mr. Chan Kin Sang
[Fldepiats

Dr. Yeung David Wai Chow

it

Mr. Kwok Chi Shing
BEKTE

Mr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary
gET kA

Mr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph
B &
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Executive director and chairman of the
Board of Directors

HITESRESZSER

Executive director and chief executive officer
(Chief Executive)

RITESRERNITE (7THAEH)

Executive director and chief financial officer

HITESRERHNBE

Executive director and business
development director

HITESRFBERES

Independent non-executive director

BAFRITES

Independent non-executive director
BUFHTES
Independent non-executive director
BUFHTES
Independent non-executive director
BAUFHTES

Independent non-executive director

BAFNTES

3 August 2017

—2—t5/\A=H
3 August 2017

—T—+tFN\A=H
3 August 2017
—Z—+FN\A=H
14 January 2020

“T-TF-A+MIA

26 November 2018

- \E+—A=1"H

26 November 2018 (resigned on
16 December 2020)

—E-\F+—A=+XAH
(RZZ=EF+-A+BEET)

26 November 2018 (resigned on
1 September 2020)

—E-\F+—A=+XAH
(RZZZZTFNA—HEHE)

1 September 2020

“Z-TFNA-A

16 December 2020

“Z-FTF+-A+H



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—T=ZFF+-A=+—HItFE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EENFIETHAEFMLUERASR

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID BeHESHMZ)

EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERTETHAEEFMZ)
(Continued)
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for BIEEA LR REB D REG
the year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable BENFRNESERLEBITRAR
Listing Rules and the Hong Kong Companies AT

Ordinance, is as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2020 BE-—Z2-_2F+=-A=+—HL
FE
Equity-settled  Contributions
Salaries and share-based  to defined
Directors' other  Discretionary payment  contribution
fees benefits bonuses expenses plans Total
HREES
#ER R £ R
E2he EftfRA MsTA i EIE 75 h

RMBOOO  RMB0O0  RMB00  RMBO00  RMB000  RMB'000
ARETT  ARRTr  ABRTx ARETZ ARRTZ ARRTx

Executive directors Hgs
Mr. Zhang Shuguang RERTE - 217 )] 409 3 676
Mr.Zhang Chunguang ~ RAEREH - 250 40 409 28 n
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael BB %4 - 812 36 409 2 1,283
Mr. He Jiaming O ks - 49 36 409 16 890
- 1,708 139 1,636 93 3,576
Independent non-executive  BUFHTES
directors
Mr. Chan Kin Sang Rigkrs 89 - - - - 89
Dr. Yeung David Wai Chow  #5EREE 8 - - - - 8
Mr. Kwok Chi Shing FERAE 56 - - - - 56
Mr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary ~ ST %4 34 - - - - 34
Mr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph  EIEIB % 4 - - - - 4
268 - - - - 268
268 1,708 139 1,636 93 3,844
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE =T =T F+ - A=+—HI-FE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERIETHAEFMURTER

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID BeHESHMZ)
EMPLOYEES (Continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERTETHRAEEHME)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2019 BHE_T—NF+-A=+—HIL
FE
Equitysettled  Contributions
Salaries and share-based to defined
Directors' other  Discretionary payment  contribution
fees benefits bonuses expenses plans Total
WiREREE .
Z4R RHER R
EE2 HirigH BT D5 ARl st

RMBOOD  RMBOOO  AMBOO0  RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBO0O
ARRTL  ARRTT  ARETL  ARRTT  ARETL  ARETT

Executive directors #ES
Mr. Zhang Shuguang REREE - 214 73 - 3 318
Mr.Zhang Chunguang ~ RAELSAE - 27 86 - 36 349
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael ~ BEE %4 - 265 2 - 14 301
- 706 181 - 81 968
Independent non-executive  BUFHTES
directors
Mr. Chan Kin Sang Rikrs 88 - - - - 8
Dr. Yeung David RENEE
Wai Chow 88 - - - - 88
Mr. Kwok Chi Shing FERiE 88 - - - - 88
264 = = = = 264
264 706 181 = 81 1232

180 Annual Report 2020 &%



For the year ended

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

Mr. Zhang Chunguang’s emoluments disclosed
above included those for services rendered by
him as chief executive officer during the years
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services in connection with
the management of the affairs of the Company
and the Group. The independent non-executive
directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services as directors of the Company.

Discretionary bonuses are determined based on
the results of the Group during both years.

During the years ended 31 December 2020
and 2019, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the directors of the Company as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office. There was
no arrangement under which a director or the
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during both years.

ERENEBER

31 December 2020 HE—E-FEF+_A=+—HILFE

8. EERFEMBAEBHMURASR
ReFESHMNE)

(a) EBRFETHRAEEHM(E)

EXHBORFNCEZFHBIE
ERBEE—ZT_TFR-_FT-NF
T A=t HULFEEETRE
BT ARG ROFT BN o

BT EEHHAEERARA]
KASBERER ) E AR AR
BMER - B IFMITESS
MR RERETARRESMIEMR
F AR5 T 215 o

REZMEFE - BBEATIREAR
SEXBET -

HEZZ-_ZTFR_T-—NF+=
A=Z+—RHLEFE  ~AEEHES
NEHEMTFESEABMAREE IR
MAREE R 2 B B FEE -
RZMEFEEREEEKEETH
ABHEXRERETMAHFHNL
B o

B PR 2 A Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE =T =T F+ - A=+—HI-FE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8.
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID

EMPLOYEES (Continued)
(b) Five highest paid employees

The five highest paid employees of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2020 included
four (2019: three) directors, details of whose
remuneration are set out above. Details of the
remuneration of the remaining one (2079:
two) highest paid employee who are neither a
director of the Company nor chief executive of

the Group are as follows:

ReFESHMNE)

(b) EEREHEES

EERFTETHRAEHFMURER

HE_ZT-TF+-A=1+—H1t
FE - FAEEREREFEERE
WEREE(=FE—NF:=F5) &
E2HEMFBERER EX - Fgk
—R(ZF—NF : mE)RIERR
AEZBNMFAKEFZTZETHAEN
T EEZEHEMFBLT

2020 2019

—EF-FF ZFHF

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR¥FT ARETT

Salaries and other benefits e REMER 643 1,061

Discretionary bonuses BB IEAL 45 156

Contributions to defined TE B RET B K

contribution plans 25 32
Equity-settled share-based AR & E 2 AR (0 E it

payment expenses A X 205 -

918 1,249

The number of these non-director individuals
whose emoluments fell within the following

emoluments band is as follows:

HEMN T 5 H e E R %S IE
BEFALHBNOT :

Number of individuals

A
2020 2019
—EF-FF T NF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 1 2
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—T=ZFF+-A=+—HItFE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(b) Five highest paid employees (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2020
and 2019, no remuneration was paid by the
Group to any of these highest paid non-director
individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group, or as a compensation for
loss of office. There was no arrangement under
which any of these highest paid non-director
individuals waived or has agreed to waive
any emoluments during the years ended 31
December 2020 and 2019.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

EERFETBRAEHFMURESR
ReFESHMNE)

(b) EEREHER(E)

BE_ZE_ZFR-_Z-NFt=
A=1t—HLFE  XEEMEX
NHFHM T ERZEFRSFHIFEEA
TERMAREE SR INAREE
BB KBERME BE-T—
BEER_F-NFT-_A=1T—H
LHFE - BTAZERSFHIFE
FALRBETAZHFRELRER
AT

9. FEBiIRAx

2020 2019
—BIRF _ThF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT ARETT
Current tax BIHARI IR
PRC Enterprise Income Tax A B 1 S P AS A
— current year —RFE 255 942

The Company and the subsidiaries incorporated
in the BVI are tax-exempted. Entity established in
the PRC is subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax
at a statutory rate of 25%. Since the Group’s PRC
subsidiary, Shenzhen Huakang is recognised as “New
and High Technology Enterprise” and therefore
is entitled to a concessional tax rate of 15%. The
entitlement of this tax benefit is subject to renewal
by respective tax bureau in the PRC every three years.
The latest approval for Shenzhen Huakang enjoying
this tax benefit was obtained in December 2020 for
the three years ending 31 December 2023.

Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided as the
Group had no assessable profit arising from Hong
Kong for the years ended 31 December 2020 and
2019.

ERENEBER

P B B B & B B e A S 9 AN 2 &) R Bt
BAEHRH - RPRK 2 BEEAR
AR B 1 2 BT 15 B 05 T8 B R 25% S A
H - ARASEERFEMTEB AR RIIE
REF R SFEMEE] AtriEHs
15% BB E - ZEHKERERA
B-FEEEAPRERERHEE - RIIE
RO EESEN  REA-T
TEFFTA BREAREE-ZT=—=
F+-_HA=+—HIE=F-

HRASERBE_ZT_TEFR=-F
—NF+-_A=+—BHLEFEIELESE
BEERATRN - W ERLBEFE
MIEL B -

B PR 2 A Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE =T =T F+ - A=+—HI-FE

9.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 9. FIBHRAXE)

Reconciliation of income tax expense FRiSHi6 X ¥ Bk
2020 2019
—E-FF T F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT
(Loss) Profit before tax BRE AT (E518) = A (11,372) 658
Income tax at applicable tax rate of 25% FZEBE25%( ==L
(2019: 25%) —NF : 25% )5 EH
PS5 (2,843) 165
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for ANAT 07 FE 2 B9 F7 75
tax purpose 2 3,574 1,608
Additional tax deduction on research and #1355 3% Mt hnfH 008
development expenses (311) (228)
Effect of tax concession granted EEBEEENTE (195) (662)
Others HAth 30 59
Income tax expense for the year FAFSHRAX 255 942
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T =-_FF+-_A=+—HIFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)
Unrecognised deferred tax liabilities

Under the relevant tax law and implementation
regulations in the PRC, withholding income tax
is applicable to dividend earned and payable to
investors that are “non-tax resident enterprises” in
respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiary since 1
January 2008, which do not have an establishment
or place of business in the PRC, or which have
such establishment or place of business but the
relevant income is not effectively connected with
the establishment or place of business, to the extent
such interest or dividends have their sources within
the PRC. Under such circumstances, dividends paid
by the PRC subsidiary to offshore group entities
shall be subject to the withholding tax at 10%
or a lower treaty rate. The Group is subject to
withholding tax in relation to the dividend paid by
the PRC subsidiary. As the Company has decided
not to declare any dividends from undistributed
earnings of the PRC subsidiary amounting to
approximately RMB42,676,000 (2019: approximately
RMB42,216,000) as at 31 December 2020 to the
immediate holding company of the PRC subsidiary in
the foreseeable future, no deferred tax liability has
been recognised in respect of these undistributed
earnings during the years ended 31 December 2020
and 2019.

No provision for deferred taxation has been made in
the consolidated financial statements as there were
no significant temporary differences arising during
the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 or at
the end of each reporting period.

EHENBRRE

FRr&HB (&)
RERIELER AR E

BB HBEREREEERD - 558
FRERRAEBIEAN - BT N\F—
H— Bzt B E A R P& R AT R
B E A Tl IER R R 5 | (W IE
FERBIR Y Sk E R B e S B - 3X
T AR B X 37 Bk R A e S BB AR LA
AR A EMBETREE)R
BEMRE - BEMIEIMER - £5
EW%T FEMBARIMIEINEEE
YRR IR 10% K E R T
T@%ﬁmm REBEERPEMNER
AR EBMTEIR - RZT=F
F+ZA=1+—H  BARERARER
AERARREFIERFEMBATRS
fid 2 A E R R B 49 A R #42,676,0007T
(ZF—NF : WARK42,216,0007T)
THENBARNEZEZERAR - Bt
HE_ZT_ZTFER-_F—NLF+=A
=+—HIFE  UARARZERASER
FIEREERHEAE -

HREBE—T TR
A=1+— Etigim
RERFMEER - AbiRe
AR R -

—hE+=
&%%XI%E
AT R
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE =T =T F+ - A=+—HI-FE

10. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable
to owners of the Company is based on the following

10. BRRE#E

ARRHEBARBIEERERNERNE
TIERAT &R

data:
2020 2019
—EB-FF T NHF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥FrT AREFT
Loss: B8
Loss for the year attributable to owners 5+ &SR EAREE
of the Company for the purpose of FIRARRIHER A
basic loss per share FE(RE1E (11,627) (284)
Number of shares: RGEE :
Weighted average number of ordinary st EEIEKEIE
shares of the Company in issue for FRRZAARIE 1T
the purpose of basic loss per share TEARNETFHE 400,000,000 400,000,000
Diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per BHE_ZT-_TF+_A=+—HILF
share as the effect of potential ordinary shares is B EREBERESEBEEREEUE
anti-dilutive during the year ended 31 December W 1R G RR AR EEER -

2020.

Diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per
share as there were no dilutive potential ordinary
shares in issue during the year ended 31 December
2019.

11. DIVIDENDS 11.

No dividend was paid or declared by the Company
during the years ended 31 December 2020 and
2019, nor has any dividend been proposed since the
end of each reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—T=ZFF+-A=+—HItFE

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

12. Y15 - BMERRE

Leasehold Plant and Office Motor  Construction
improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles  in-progress Total
RENERE HERER  HORE RE  ERIR st
RVMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBO0O  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO
NEEFT  AREFT  AREFT  AREFT  AREFT  AREFT
CosT S
At 1 January 2019 RZZ-n§-A-A 3511 7,202 1,42 1,001 303 13,259
Additions e 133 1,189 7 138 - 1,767
Transfer from construction-in- ~~ BARTRER
progress 158 19 74 - (251) -
Disposalsfuritten-off RE/ il - - - (141) B) (144)
At 31 December 2019 and iy K
1 January 2020 tZA=1-Rk
“3-TE-f-A 4102 8410 1323 998 49 14,88
Additions B 704 - 316 554 397 1,971
Transfer from construction-in- ~ BERTIRER
progress 16 - - - (16) -
Written-off 7 - - - - (33) (33)
At 31 December 2020 R-3-%%
+=B=t-8 482 8410 1,639 1,552 397 16,820
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION Z3tTERAEESE
AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
At 1 January 2019 RZE-NE-A-H 756 1,987 355 504 - 3692
Provided for the year RERRR 560 855 138 56 - 1,609
Eliminated on disposalsiwritien-off BB EH /s - - - (141) - (141)
At 31 December 2019 and RZE-NF
1 January 2020 tZA=1-Rk
“5-TE-f-A 1,316 2802 493 509 - 5,160
Provided for the year RERRR 627 954 176 91 - 1,848
Impairment loss REEE - 2,556 - - - 2,556
At 31 December 2020 R=3-%%
+=A=t-A 1943 6,352 669 600 - 9,564
CARRYING VALUES KEf
At 31 December 2020 R=B-%%
+=A=t+-A 2879 2,058 970 952 397 7,256
At 31 December 2019 R_E-NE
t-A=t-H 2,786 5,568 830 489 49 9722

EREY)ESEIRIR AR A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZE =T _FTF+-_A=+—HIFE

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. Y% BMER®RE(Z)

(Continued)
The above items of property, plant and equipment Ltz - BEREREEER TR T 5IE
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the MABEAEITE :

following periods:

Leasehold improvements 5 years to 10 years or MEYHEEE AFEETF
over the lease period REEER
Plant and machinery 5 years to 10 years RS K2tk hETHF
Office equipment 5 years to 10 years NS hETF
Motor vehicles 5 years B pak:=
The management of the Group has reviewed the AEEERBECEBYE  BERR
carrying value of property, plant and equipment and HWZEREE THRTEREEOARAR
determined that one of plant and machinery with #2,556,0007( ZFE—NF - HARE
carrying amount of approximately RMB2,556,000 2,959,000 ) M= MW E & — R
(2019: approximately RMB2,959,000) which has M- BEREARKEEZEEN T RES®
been idled for a prolonged period of time and the BAREREREE - Bt - ZEER
recoverable amount from the use or sale of the asset REED R LARE2,556,0007T (=
has significantly declined below its carrying amount. FE—NF ) URMZBEERE -
Accordingly, the carrying value of the asset has been
reduced by approximately RMB2,556,000 (2079: Nil)
to reflect this impairment loss.
13. LEASES 13. HE
At At
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
R-ZB-ZF RIZT—hLF
+=A +=A
=+—H =+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT
Right-of-use assets (Note (a)) AR E (M) 2,432 1,351
Lease liabilities (Note (b)) MEaRHZED)
Current BIHA 1,406 1,181
Non-current JERNHER 1,236 431

2,642 1,612
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—T=ZFF+-A=+—HItFE

13. LEASES (Continued) 13. HE#E)

(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EAEE
Factories
Motor and office
vehicles premises Total
ITRR
"E WAEYE Hact
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEETT AREFT ARETT
Reconciliation of carrying  RREI{E¥ER
amount - year ended -BE-Z-IF
31 December 2019 +ZA=1+—-HLEE
At 1 January 2019 RZZE-NF—A—8-
— upon adoption of FANE B TSRS A
HKFRS 16 F165%1% - 1,592 1,592
Additions NE 542 - 542
Depreciation e - (783) (783)
At 31 December 2019 RZZE—NEF
+ZA=+—H 542 809 1,351
Reconciliation of carrying  RREIE¥ER
amount - year ended -HE-_B-B&
31 December 2020 TZA=Zt-HLEEE
At 1 January 2020 R-_Z-_ZF—A—H 542 809 1,351
Addition NE = 2,461 2,461
Lease modification MEEE] - (364) (364)
Depreciation e (108) (908) (1,016)
At 31 December 2020 RZZE-TF
+=-B=+—H 434 1,998 2,432
At 31 December 2019 R-E-NF
+-A=+—H
Cost BEN 542 1,592 2,134
Accumulated depreciation 25T E - (783) (783)
542 809 1,351
At 31 December 2020 R_E_TF
+=ZRA=+—H
Cost BEN 542 3,171 3,713
Accumulated depreciation 2t E (108) (1,173) (1,281)
434 1,998 2,432

EERA Y EEE 2R E R 2 8 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ=—

13. LEASES (Continued)
(a) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

TRFEF A=t HLFE

13. HE(#&)

The Group leases various motor vehicles,
factories and office premises for its operation.
The lease contracts are entered into for fixed

term of 2 to 5 year (2019: 2 to 5 years).

The total cash outflow for leases (including
other rental and related expenses) for the year
ended 31 December 2020 were approximately
RMB1,149,000 (20719: approximately

RMB622,000).

Certain leases impose a restriction that, unless
the approval is obtained from the lessor, the
right-of-use asset can only be used by the
Group and the Group is prohibited from selling

or pledging the underlying assets.

(b) Commitments and present value of lease

() EREEEE)

$%ﬁ‘ﬁi§%?h$ VNS N
MERNEE - BESHBERTAL
BEER_ERFE(—F—NF
—EFHEF)

HE—_ZT-_TF+-_A=+—HIL
FE - -HEMNBEREAB(RIE
EMBEERBEARY ) NAEARE
1,149,000 ( = FE— A F : AR
#622,0007T) -

FTHEE®R AR - RIFES
HEA#E - BRIEREEEER
HAEEFER  WAREIEAREESY
SHEMEREE -

(b) HEEBNAERRE

liabilities
Present value of
Lease payments lease payments
HEMR HENTMWRE
At 31 December At 31 December
R+=R=t—-H Rt=A=+-H
2020 2019 2020 2019
—?—?$ :Ziij-ldi —?—?¢ :g—hq{
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ABEFT AREFT AREFn ARETT
Amounts payable: FEROA
Within 1 year —FR 1,484 1,223 1,406 1,181
More than 1 year but HiE—F
within 2 years BORME 692 121 647 106
More than 2 years but B F
within 5 years BIRBE 604 341 589 325
2,780 1,685 2,642 1,612
Less: future finance charges  J& : KRBT E M (138) (73)
2,642 1,612
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—T=ZFF+-A=+—HItFE

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 14. B EE
Development costs
BRI
RMB’000
AE#ETFT
cosT A
At 1 January 2019 R-ZZE—-NF—HA—H 3,955
Additions INE 366
At 31 December 2019 and RZZE-NF+-_HA=+—H
1 January 2020 N_Z_FTF—-H—H 4,321
Additions NE 340
At 31 December 2020 R-ZB-ZBF+=-HA=+—H 4,661
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION Rt
At 1 January 2019 R-ZZE—-NF—HA—H 1,037
Provided for the year NEERE 370
At 31 December 2019 and RZE-NF+-HA=+—H
1 January 2020 —ET-FTF—-H—H 1,407
Provided for the year INFE 330
At 31 December 2020 R-—EB-EF+=-A=+—AH 1,737
CARRYING VALUES fREE
At 31 December 2020 R-ZBE-ZEF+=-A=+—H 2,924
At 31 December 2019 R_F—NF+-_A=+—H 2,914
Development costs are internally generated at the BRANTTNERERASES - TR
development phase and amortised on a straight-line SENKEREEN - EHEBRBENTR
basis over 5 years. This asset is tested for impairment W - BB ERETRERR -

where an indicator of impairment appears.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZE =T _FTF+-_A=+—HIFE

15. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 15. R—EHE QA TNEDS
2020 2019
—EEF —E—NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
A% T AREFor
Share of net assets DB EFE - =

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had interests in
the following associate:

R-Z-TF+-_A=1+—H F£&H
RUAT B E RN R A A

Principal
place of Proportion of
business and Paid-up  value of issued
place of issued  capital held by
Name of associate incorporation capital the Company Principal activities
TREXME ARARMFERT
BHENT AR REfAL L i R BERA BRABELA FEREBEH
Smartronic Limited (“Smartronic”)  Hong Kong HK$100,000 49%  Sales of healthcare
(formerly known as (Note) products and
Worth Access Limited) supplements
BRENERAR(TEREAN)  FE 100,000/ 7T 49% HERFERK
(RITEARARLR) (#iz)  REm
Note: Biat -

On 3 June 2020, the Group entered into a shareholders’
agreement with an independent third party to acquire
Smartronic with nil identifiable assets, pursuant to which
the Group and the independent third party held as to 49%
and 51%, respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—T=ZFF+-A=+—HItFE

15. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

The associate is accounted for using the equity
method in the consolidated financial statements.
There are no capital commitment and contingent
liabilities in relation to Smartronic.

Relationship with associate

Smartronic is engaged in sales of healthcare products
and supplements in PRC and HK through the cross-
border e-commerce platforms and other platforms
and channels, which could allow the Group to
benefit from Smartronic’s operations.

Fair value of investment

Smartronic is not listed and there is no quoted
market price available for the investment.

Financial information of associate

Summarised financial information of the associate
of the Group is set out below, which represents
amounts shown in the associate’s financial
statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs and
adjusted by the Group for equity accounting purpose
including any differences in accounting policies and
fair value adjustments.

EERA Y EEE 2R E R 2 8 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited

15. R—EBE AT ESE)

s DR TR AR EAR RS M SRR
AR o BHERERERI N B R E A SE K2
HARME -

AR N R B R

RECREBERETABTFRNALE
b F e MRENTERBBEFHER
FREmMMRER  SAEEREEEE
NEFEMH Xk o

REZRVE
RRERINW AR L B EREN T ISR

&

BENRZMBER

AREBBERF 2 MBERBAIT -
Higl 2 NRRBEBR BV RS LR R
B MRS - WEAREE 5
Rm ST BEMIFLFEE - BRERTEE
RAEREZIMERE -
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15. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

At 31 December 2020

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE =T =T F+ - A=+—HI-FE

15. A—EBE N TNERS(E)
R-ZE-EF+=-HA=+—H

RMB'000
AREFor
Gross amounts WEEE
Current assets MBEE 5,770
Non-current assets EMENEE -
Current liabilities mEasE (6,182)
Non-current liabilities EmEAE -
Net liabilities B EFRE (412)
Included in above: FPAL#IEE -
Cash and cash equivalents ReKREEFEEY 1,829
Reconciliation HER
Gross amount of net liabilities FEERE (412)
Group’s ownership interests and REB B EER R
voting rights R 49%

Carrying amount of the Group'’s

AREE 2 A R

ownership interests

ARE(E -

Period from date of acquisition to 31 December
2020

HKERAHZE-_ZE_SF+-A=+—
HEiR

RMB’000
AREF T
Gross amounts HWEHE
Revenue Wz 1,392
Loss and total comprehensive expense HREE ;A A
for the period (527)
Included in above: FFALMIER -
Interest expense MEFRX (94)

The Group's share of loss of the associate amounted
to approximately RMB40,000 (2079: Nil) during the
year ended 31 December 2020. The unrecognised
share of loss of the associate for the year ended
31 December 2020 amounted to approximately
RMB218,000 (2019: Ni).
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—T=ZFF+-A=+—HItFE

INVENTORIES 16. #&
2020 2019
—E-EH —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT AE#ETFT
Raw materials JRAEL 1,634 1,944
Finished goods SIFK i 1,132 759
2,766 2,703
TRADE RECEIVABLES 17. EZRWFIA
2020 2019
—E-FF T NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT AREFIT
Trade receivables from third parties JEWE=RZE5
N RIA 12,864 12,653
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEEEEE (3.361) (2,574)
9,503 10,079
In general, the Group will request deposits from —mE AERERERRNEmMIMF
the customers before the goods are delivered and mMEPWERS - T B ERKIReEE
the amount of deposits requested varies amongst ETRE&AmMARMER - gis TRAR
different contracts. For certain long-term customers, PME @ AEEBRATERIEZSHNIER
the Group will deliver the goods without requesting TRZEEFXNER BRTZER
deposits and allow a credit period from 30 to 180 F302180K(=ZF— /1% : 302180
days (2079: 30 to 180 days) to these customers and K)WEER  mMEE|RAEMESED
there is no credit period granted to other customers. EEH - T ARKREmR A2
The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables B HRYGIE(HREEBERE) R
(net of allowances for credit losses) presented based DT °

on the dates of delivery of goods.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE =T =T F+ - A=+—HI-FE

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

17. ESEWRE(E)

2020 2019
—E-FF T F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT AREFT

0-30 days 0E30K 2,051 2,488
31-90 days 31E90K 2,617 2,811
91-180 days 91%E 180Kk 2,570 2,698
Over 181 days FBiE181K 2,265 2,082
9,503 10,079

As at 31 December 2020, included in the Group’s
trade receivables balance are debtors with aggregate
carrying amount of approximately RMB7,829,000
(2019: approximately RMBS8,831,000) which are
past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past
due balances, approximately RMB3,672,000 (2019:
approximately RMB3,593,000) has been past due 90
days or more and is not considered as in default by
considering the historical payment arrangement of
these trade receivables. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables
are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—T=ZFF+-A=+—HItFE

18. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 18. HibEW 1B « IRE R FANTIE
PREPAYMENTS

2020 2019
—®-%F —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Other receivables H At & IR IE 825 333
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEEERE - (7)
825 326
Advance payment to suppliers AN EE R 2,732 856
Other prepaid expenses Hih B FENAX 1,093 261
Refundable deposits paid to a supplier REMRERES - 294
Rental and other deposits MHe kHtize 147 156
4,797 1,893
Details of impairment assessment of other receivables B A H At R WK IB R (B AT S B = AR
are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial BB HREMEE29 -
statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ=—

19. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances are carrying interest at prevailing
market rate at the end of each reporting period
and the bank balances and cash that are not
denominated in the functional currency of the
relevant group entities are as follows:

TRFEF A=t HLFE

19. RITERREAE

RITEBRN B REPRIZBITHIHMN X
AR RU IR BRASEERIEEHA
BZRITHEBRMIRSIT ¢

2020 2019

—EBIRFE T-NF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TFT ARBTFT

Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$") a(lExl) 6,619 15,205
United State Dollars (“US$") En([%Ex]) 5,556 7,483
Canadian Dollars (“CAD$") mngeAxs(mrxl) 54 58

As at 31 December 2020, bank balances that
were placed with banks in the PRC amounted to
approximately RMB29,715,000 (2019: approximately
RMB26,047,000). Remittance of funds out of the
PRC is subject to the exchange controls imposed by
the PRC government.

The Group performed impairment assessment on
bank balances and concluded that the probability of
defaults of the counterparty banks are insignificant
and accordingly, no allowance for credit losses is
provided for the years ended 31 December 2020 and
2019.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—T=ZFF+-A=+—HItFE

20. TRADE PAYABLES

In general, the Group will make advance payment to
suppliers before the materials are received. Some of
the suppliers may deliver the materials to the Group
without requesting advance payment and a credit
period ranged from 30 to 90 days (2079: 30 to 90
days) is granted by these suppliers. The following is
an aging analysis of trade payables presented based
on the invoice date:

20. EZENAFIE

ABE  AEESERSMERRHER
AR » SRR ] EEF AN K
BIER TEME RN TAEE - ZEH
EEERENTFI0KER(—E—1
F 30KF0XK) 2EEH - ERNBE
HEME 5N RENRE DT T ¢

2020 2019
—EF-FF  ZFTF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

0-30 days 0E230K 115 435
31-90 days 31290k 302 58
Over 90 days FB3EI0K 1,030 537

1,447 1,030

ERENEBER
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE =T =T F+ - A=+—HI-FE

21. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED CHARGES

21. HttENRIER BT E A

2020 2019
—E-FF T F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT
Other accrual and payables HAb BT &M RER
RIE 1,403 990
Other taxes payable H b 318 - 13
Payables for purchase of property, WIEMZE - BE &
plant and equipment AP IR 1,192 1,140
Salaries payables i ANE 1,366 1,654
3,961 3,797
Other payables and accrued charges that are not WIREREEEREESHECE
denominated in the functional currency of the N RIBEREGTERNT -
relevant group entities are as follows:
2020 2019
—E-B2F  —BAF
RMB000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT
HK$ BT 1,186 1,007
22. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 22. EHEE
2020 2019
—E-FF T NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT
Contract liabilities regarding HEEYZEHE
sales of biological reagents, B EE A mAERE
auxiliary reproductive supplies and VA K% {8 B 2 om SR AR 2
equipment and healthcare mZeRaE
products and supplements 2,143 292
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23.

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

When the Group receives a deposit before delivery
of goods, this will give rise to contract liabilities at
the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised
when the goods are i) delivered to the customers’
warehouse on which the customers obtain control
of the goods or ii) collected by the customers directly
from the Group’s warehouse, as appropriate. The
amount of deposits requested varies amongst
different contracts. The significant increase in
contract liabilities in the current year was mainly
attributable to the advance received from a customer
arising from the new healthcare products and
supplements business.

The contract liabilities amounting to approximately
RMB292,000 and RMB 179,000 as at 1 January 2020
and 2019 were recognised as revenue in profit or
loss for years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019,
respectively. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the contract liabilities as at 31 December
2020 and 2019 are expected to be recognised as
revenue within 12 months and therefore classified as
current liabilities.

DEFERRED INCOME - GOVERNMENT
GRANTS

The Group received grants from the PRC government
authorities for funding of acquisitions of plant and
equipment for conducting research and development
of the biological reagents which benefits the society
as a whole. The relevant deferred income would be
amortised over periods ranging from 5 to 10 years
which represented the useful lives of the relevant
assets.

23.

T RFET A=t HILFE

BHREREE)
HAKER XN EmATEEZES - Bl
SIS ?’]Eﬂﬁ‘ﬁ%?ié?’]ﬁt\ BHEi)

Hﬁﬁuc'uiﬁ:“‘é%i)fﬁ?%iéuﬂu? ke dzop=y
EZxi)EPERBASERBRNE M
(AnE R )& - 7 AT iR © PRESIR
SHEATRAOMAMER - 88
ERANFEREZRNDEEAREZH
R EE an S IR dn = S A1 2 P IR 2
EATRPTER

R_E_EFR-_F-NF—HA—HH
BHEED EIJ%%AE%Z%OOOE&
AEMW%MM;I PRI T -F
E&:f NWNE+—A=+—HIFE
REZTPERAEKZE - RARIEER
B RZE_ZEFR-_FT—NF+=A
=+—HMEHAERBEEMN12EAR

R R - Rt ERRBAE -
EAEFTS T — BUR#EBD

REEE B B BT S W B R BY T R
REBKERE R SERENETTEDER
BIifEE - hBRFELSEENS - BH
EEWAERSZ10FNES - BIE
BEMAMERTHE -

2020 2019
—EC-EHE — &
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT

Analysed for reporting purposes as: MMEERDITAT -
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 340 385
Current liabilities mEEE 45 45
385 430

EREMESER
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE =T =T F+ - A=+—HI-FE

24. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The employees of Shenzhen Huakang are members
of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the PRC government. The Group is
required to contribute certain percentage of payroll
costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make
the specified contributions.

The Group also participate the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the rules
and regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Authority in Hong Kong. The Group's
eligible employees are required to join the MPF
Scheme. The Group has followed the minimum
statutory contribution requirement of 5% of eligible
employees’ relevant aggregated income with a cap
of HK$1,500 per employee per month.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of
approximately RMB794,000 (2019: approximately
RMB1,322,000) for the year ended 31 December
2020, represents contributions payable to these
plans by the Group at rates specified in the rules of
the plans.

As at 31 December 2020, contributions which had
not been paid over to the plans amounted to Nil
(2019: Nil).
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—T=ZFF+-A=+—HItFE

25. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme
pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders in the extraordinary general meeting
on 13 January 2020 (the “Share Option Scheme”).
The Share Option Scheme is a long-term incentive
scheme of the Company to reward its employees,
Directors and other eligible participants for their
contributions to the Group and to assist the Group
in its recruitment and retention of high caliber
employees and other eligible participants who are
instrumental to the growth and development of the
Group.

The total number of shares which may be allotted
and issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other
shares option schemes of the Group must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of
shares in issue on the date which the Share Option
Scheme is approved, which is 40,000,000 shares
(“Scheme Limit”). The maximum number of shares
issued and issuable to each eligible person under the
Scheme in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1% of the total number of shares of the Company
in issue as at proposed grant date. Any further grant
of share options in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to
any of their associates, are subject to approval in
advance by the independent non-executive directors.
In addition, any share options granted to an
independent non-executive director or a substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the total number of
shares of the Company in issue at any time and with
an aggregate value (based on the closing price of
the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess
of HK$5,000,000 within any 12-month period, are
subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a
general meeting.

EREMESER
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ=—

25. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

On 9 April 2020, the Company announced the
granting of an aggregate of 26,008,000 share
options, subject to the acceptance by the grantees,
at an exercise price of HK$0.125 per share of the
Company to the eligible person under the Share
Option Scheme. The market price of the Company’s
shares at the date of grant was HK$0.125 per share.
All of the share options are exercisable from the
date of acceptance by a grantee to 8 April 2030
(both days inclusive). Each of the grantees has paid
HK$1 to the Company on acceptance of the offer of
share option. Details are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 9 April 2020.

The movement during the year and the share options
outstanding as at 31 December 2020 were as
follows:

TRFEF A=t HLFE

25.

BRERE(E)

RZZBE-_ZFFMPANB » AR ﬁ‘ﬁfﬁi
%F%Hﬂ%é?rium/\éﬁﬂj\i%ﬁ &
26,008,00017 fE & « SRR AEIR A
24 1EEAERARFKMO0.125
BT e RIRHBE - AARIRMHHTE
BRI 0.1258 7T o 2 2P HE IR #E Al
RARAEMEZ —_ST=FF/MAH/)\H

TEBEEEEMA) - FERABERE
BB E B AR M AR RIS 1ETT -

EREABENARRBHR-ZE %
MANBRRE o

R-ZE-T+ - A=1+—BHHKRITERE
BENFRZBERMAT

Number of share options
BREHE

As at Granted Exercised Forfeited As at

1 January during during during 31 December

2020 the period the period the period 2020

RZB-8E jmt 22

Category of the grantees  Z# AR -A-A KRR Rl RERER t-A=1-A

Executive Directors HTES

Mr. Zhang Shuguang (Note)  SREESX &4 (4iz) - 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000

Mr. Zhang Chunguang (Note) ~ R&EE£ (i) - 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael ERBEEW)

(Note) - 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000
Mr. He Jiaming (Note) EREEN ) - 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000
Other employees (Note) HEI W) - 10,008,000 - (504,000) 9,504,000
Total @t = 26,008,000 = (504,000) 25,504,000
Note: Btat -

The closing price of the shares immediately before the
date on which the options were granted during the year
ended 31 December 2020 is HK$0.125. The exercise price
is HK$0.125. The exercise period during which the options
may be exercised is the period from the date of acceptance
to 8 April 2030 (both days inclusive). The date of grant was
9 April 2020.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T =-_FF+-_A=+—HIFE

25. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, 504,000
share options granted were forfeited upon the
resignation of the grantees as employee of the
Group (“Resignation”). None of the share options
were exercised and such grantees were no longer
eligible to the Share Option Scheme upon the
Resignation.

All the existing share options of the Company are
vested upon granting.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, share
options were granted on 9 April 2020. The fair
values of share options determined at the date of
grant using the Binomial Option Pricing Model was
at HK$0.1125 per option, with the following key
inputs:

The following assumptions were used to calculate
the fair values of share option:

Share price at the date of grant HK$0.125
Exercise price HK$0.125
Expected life 10 years
Expected volatility 103.1%
Dividend yield Nil
Risk-free interest rate 0.778%

The Binomial Option Pricing Model has been used
to estimate the fair value of the share options.
The value of the share options is subject to the
limitation of the Binomial Option Pricing Model and
a number of assumptions which are subjective and
difficult to ascertain. Changes in the subjective input
assumptions could materially effect the fair value
estimate.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, with
reference to the fair value of the share options
granted, the Group recognised approximately
HK$2,926,000 (equivalents to approximately
RMB2,660,000) (2079: Nil) as equity-settled share-
based payment expenses. The equity-settled share-
based payment expenses recognised in share option
reserve were transferred to accumulated profits or
losses upon forfeiture.

EHENBRRE

25. ﬂ%ﬂ“’fgf‘l'%ﬂ(@f)
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% o
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE =T =T F+ - A=+—HI-FE

26. SHARE CAPITAL 26. IR
Number Equivalent to
of share HK$ RMB’000
HER
RAEE BT AREFT
Authorised: AT
At 31 December 2019 and RZE-NFT-A=T—RHkK
31 December 2020 “T-ZTFF-HA=+—H 1,000,000,000 10,000,000 8,851
Issued and fully paid ordinary shares  &%0.0187L 2 B &I R
at HK$0.01 per share: BBk -
At 31 December 2019 and RZE-NF+ZA=1—Hk
31 December 2020 —T-TFEL-A=1+—H 400,000,000 4,000,000 3,509
27. COMMITMENTS 27. i
2020 2019
—EZERF —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT
Capital expenditure in respect of the HEEVE  BEK
acquisition of property, plant and B ERTAVE &
equipment contracted for but not iR e M SRR 12
provided in the consolidated financial LB HEIE
statements 26 78

28. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities
in the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern while maximising the return to shareholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group's overall strategy remains
unchanged from the current and prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital, accumulated profits and other
reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital
structure regularly. As part of this review, the
directors consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends and new share issues as well as

the issue of new debt.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—T=ZFF+-A=+—HItFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

29. €T H

Categories of financial instruments SR T BER
2020 2019
—E-FF T F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT
Financial assets at amortised cost REHN G EZ
TREE 52,272 59,492
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHKN AT EZ
TREE 6,684 4,772
Financial risk management objectives and BRRREEEERBE

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
trade receivables, other receivables, bank balances
and cash, trade payables, other payables and accrued
charges, and lease liabilities. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risks (currency risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and impairment assessment and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

RPN ET2RITABREE S EKK
IR~ HMEWERIR - |RITEBRNERS -
BHRNFIR - HtENRIANMESE
RAAREERE - ZFERTANFR
RIAREM N EE - EZE R T AR
B R B 1A TH 5 ALk (55 Rk S ) =
Rkg) - EER R MBER G A MRS
BBk o BIEZERER RN T
X BEBEENERZTRER - R
AR MBM 2 TABITEE G °
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE =T =T F+ - A=+—HI-FE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 29.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk
Currency risk

The Group has certain bank balances and cash,
and other payables and accrued charges which
are denominated in foreign currency which
exposed the Group to foreign exchange risk. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary
liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as

SRMIA®E)
BBEBREEREREEKE)

iS5 kR

g

AEBEE TRITHEBRIA S U R EA
FEf RIR N fE AT B I ASNEEHE - i
SAEERGELRER -  AEERH®E
HIRUINESHEZCEREERS®AE
ZEREEWT

follows:
Assets Liabilities
BE =L
2020 2019 2020 2019
—B-BF ZTONF SES®RF TR
RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB’000
ANRB¥FT ANREFT AR¥FrT AREFT
HK$ BT 6,619 15,205 1,186 1,007
us$ E 5,556 7,483 - =

The Group currently does not have a foreign
exchange hedging policy. However, the management
of the Group monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign
exchange exposure should the need arises.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—T=ZFF+-A=+—HItFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed currency risk related to
HK$ and US$. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding monetary items which are denominated
in HK$ and US$ and adjusts its translation at the end
of the reporting date for a 5% and 5% change in
HK$ and US$ exchange rates, respectively. 5% (2019:
5%) is the sensitivity rate used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The analysis below illustrates the
impact for a 5% and 5% strengthening of the
functional currency of the relevant group entities
against HK$ and US$ and a positive number below
indicates an increase in post-tax loss, respectively. For
a 5% and 5% weakening of the functional currency
of the relevant group entities against the HK$ and
US$, respectively, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the loss and the number below
would be negative.

9. €RIT A(E)

BBEBREEREREEKE)

misEE(E)
E¥ER (&)

BRRE DT
AEEFZREBTMETHEBAERER
R o MEREDITEBIEABEFIZETS
BERRGEEERIER - WEFRD B
BHTE B 1R5% BT M5 % E TR E L
EITRERAE - AFMERS%(=ZF—
F 5% )NRRELERNETEEEEA
THEINE RS - EIMEEEEMAL
HNESTE R B IR AR o LA T D TR
AEEERENEEE LB ITMETS R
FES% 5% ML « R T XIEHERT
PREGIZESIRIE NN - (WiBRA SR B B A8 TN B
B EBITMET D RIAES% 5%
EBEEISXEEEARFER TXETA
=E

Increase in post-tax loss

RRBLE BB IE N
2020 2019
—EB-EF —E-hEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBTFT
HK$ BT 231 603
Us$ £ 236 318

EREMESER
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE =T =T F+ - A=+—HI-FE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank balances (Note 19).

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of prevailing market
interest rates on bank balances. The Group currently
does not have any interest rate hedging policy.
However, the management of the Group monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should the need
arises.

Total interest income from financial assets that are
measured at amortised cost is as follows:

29. ST A(#)

BBEBREEREREEKE)

misEE(E)
T2

REBFEAERRT BRITAER (M
19)2H L RENEEL -

AEENRERENZEREIEETR
KA AREBIRITHEROIRITTHISH R
B o NEE B AT I A A A X E IR
R AM > AEBEEEEEENEREAR
WA BREZ B P EAF AL

SR IR RS B Y S BEEE Y RIS
WA BT -

2020 2019
—EB-FF T NHF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR FT ABRETT
Financial assets at amortised cost HEHEKAFTEZ
S RVEE 185 174
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—T=ZFF+-A=+—HItFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the expected change in interest rate will not have
significant impact on the interest income from
variable-rate bank balances, hence sensitivity analysis
is not presented.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure
to discharge the obligations by counterparties is
arising from the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets, including trade
receivables, other receivables and bank balances as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at the end of each reporting period.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by
geographical locations is in the PRC, which
accounted for 100% (2079: 100%) of the total trade
receivables as at 31 December 2020.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 10%
(2019: 16%) and 35% (2019: 43%) of the total
trade receivables was due from the Group’s largest
customer and the five largest customers, respectively.

EREMESER

9. €RIT A(E)

BBEBREEREREEKE)

misEE(E)
Iz ()

BURE DT

ARRERRAS  BAHNXEFHETS
HEFERITERELE 2N EBWAEE
BEAXE  RAUITESJIGRESN

=E R NRER S

REF T REBTEEMAAEE TR
VBB AKERKEERR - TIR
BREHE ARG E PN RAINE
REEReMEEZRAE  BHEES
FEWRIR ~ Bt R R IR MR TAE B ©

R-ZE-_ZFF+_A=+—H ' &g
NEESD AEBHNEERBREFEFR
EEEE S ENFIAER100% (= F
— L : 100%) °

rEBRERUAEBRZARFRAARF
MEFRWFIEBEEZ ZERBRERE
DRE10%(ZF—F  16%)%35%
(ZF—JLF :43%) °

B PR 2 A Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE =T =T F+ - A=+—HI-FE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group is responsible for determination of
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. The Group also requests deposits
from certain customers prior to goods delivery. In
addition, the Group performs impairment assessment
under ECL model on trade balances based on
provision matrix. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is

significantly reduced.

Other receivables

The credit risks on other receivables are significantly
reduced as the management of the Group
periodically monitors the balances to ensure that the
counterparties are viable to settle the debts.

The credit risks on bank balances are limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

In this regard, the directors of the Company consider
that the Group'’s credit risk on other receivables and
bank balances are significantly reduced.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—T=ZFF+-A=+—HItFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment

comprises the following categories:

29. ST A(#)
BBEBREEREREEKE)

AR

EERENBERE(E)

AEBRABEERR D R EEEN

Internal credit Description Trade receivables Other financial assets
assessment
mEBE &G it B 5 BUFEE HitteMERE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk  Lifetime ECL — not credit-  12m ECL
of default and does not have impaired
any past-due amounts.
N RHPVFHEVRREERET 2HEHEESE-RBE 2EAEDREEEE
(Al EARIE ERE
Normal risk Debtor frequently repays after  Lifetime ECL — not credit-  12m ECL
due dates but usually settle impaired
after due date.
ERER BEBARERIBARRERN - 2HEDCEEFE-&EF 12EARHBEESHRE
BiEERIEAERESE ERE
High risk There have been significant Lifetime ECL — not credit-  Lifetime ECL - not
increases in credit risk since impaired credit-impaired
initial recognition through
information developed
internally.
=ER FEERRBVIHERENAZ 2HEHEERE-BE 2PRNEEERE-£E
BRTEBEP AL - ERIE ERIE
Credit impaired There is evidence indicating the  Lifetime ECL — credit- Lifetime ECL —
asset is credit-impaired. impaired credit-impaired
HRESRE ENRRAEELREERE - 2HRHAEEEE-LR 2HEHGEEERE - LR
EERE SERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating Amount is written off Amount is written off
that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and
the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery.
2 BENRTABBABAREN  FECDEZH TR Bz

PR - A AKEKD

TN DR -

EERA Y EEE 2R E R 2 8 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZE =T _FTF+-_A=+—HIFE

29. ST A(#)
BBEBREEREREEKE)

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

EERENBERE(E)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

TRABETHABEEBRRNGNAE

The table below details the credit risk exposures of

the Group's financial assets which are subject to ECL E & mEENEERRFS -
assessment:
Financial assets at Internal credit 12m or
amortised cost assessment lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
REBSERATEZ R EBEE R L 128 A K2 H
THEE BAHREERSE IREAE
2020 2019
—ECEF —NE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR FrT AREFT
Trade receivables Note (a) Lifetime ECL
(provision matrix) 10,170 9,601
B 5 WA Hiit(a) > HIFE B E B 1R
(B fmrBkE)
Credit-impaired Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired 2,694 3,052
HIREERIE 2 HREEEEE -
HIREERIE
12,864 12,653
Other receivables Note (b) 12m ECL 825 326
H b FENCRIE #1E(b) 1218 AR EME B
Credit-impaired Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired - 7
HIREERIE ZHIREEEEE -
HIREERIE
825 333
Total 13,689 12,986
HBEt
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T =-_FF+-_A=+—HIFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Notes:

(@) For trade receivables, the Group has applied the
simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors that are
credit-impaired, the Group determines the ECL on
these items by using a provision matrix, grouped by
internal credit assessment.

(b) For the purposes of internal credit risk management,
the Group uses past due information to assess
whether credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition. At 31 December 2020 and 2019,
the Group has no past due other receivables.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management,
the Group applies internal credit assessment for its
customers in relation to its operation. The following
table provides information about the exposure to
credit risk for trade receivables (not credit-impaired),
which are assessed based on provision matrix at the
end of the reporting period within lifetime ECL.

29. ST A(#)

BBEBREEREREEKE)

EERENBERE(E)

Hiat -

() BEZEEFIAEMS AEBECRAZE
BB EERIEIRAN (LT ERT
ExMAHEEEBRNEEERE - B
RIEEREZEBAS - REE(E R
wREREABEEHEDERZFER
BERAEEES -

(b) FABEERREREMS @ AEEEA
tﬁﬂﬁﬂuﬁﬁfcﬁﬂf& = ?DﬁAﬁEE AZR
BAREEM - R_F_FTER_F
*h¢+_ﬂ_+ B NEEfER

o EMFIREH -

ERAEBEERRERZ 85 &
SEREZERATPEAANMEER
i o TRAEBEZRIFENREH
RERBEEREZEERBRER - IR
Aﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁﬂa(“n{a/JFKTE) AT
i ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE =T =T F+ - A=+—HI-FE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 29.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

At 31 December 2020

EWMIAE)
BBEBREEREREEKE)

=& Rk MR BRI (&)

R=Z=FBF+=-A=+—H

Gross
Average carrying  Impairment
Internal credit assessment A& loss rate amount losses
Rl FiES REAE REEE
% RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ABMFT
Low risk B B 4.5 6,888 308
Normal risk ERRR 9.9 1,044 103
High risk =k 11.4 2,238 256
6.6 10,170 667

At 31 December 2019

RIBE-NF+-HA=+—H

Gross
Average carrying Impairment
Internal credit assessment AEBEETE loss rate amount losses
TEEXR REAE HERE
% RMB’000 RMB’000
AEEFT  ARETFT
Low risk v 3.0 4,008 120
Normal risk EERER 4.6 4,217 194
High risk SYEN 8.5 1,376 117
45 9,601 431

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed
by management of the Group to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ—

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

29.

T RFET A=t HILFE

SRMIA®E)
BBEBREEREREEKE)

EERENBERE(E)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime Ti’%ﬁﬁ?fﬁ%f%gﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂi?iﬁ@
ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables RZEHEREEEES
under the simplified approach.
Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
ZHEH
A FEER
FEBR (HREE
(BEERE) HE) @t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT ARETT
At 1 January 2019 RZZE—NF—-H—H 427 2,397 2,824
Impairment recognised BHERRE 320 864 1,184
Impairment losses reversed EREREEE (316) (1,118) (1,434)
At 31 December 2019 and RZT-N5F
1 January 2020 +ZA=+—8k
—T_T5-A—H 431 2,143 2,574
Impairment recognised B R E 389 1,215 1,604
Impairment losses reversed EREREEE (153) (664) (817)
At 31 December 2020 WZT_ZTF
+=—A=+—H 667 2,694 3,361
Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables BHE_ZT-_TF+_A=+—HILHF
during the year ended 31 December 2020 are R %ﬂ%%ﬁﬂﬁu HEEREZSHTEH
mainly due to the provision of lifetime ECL for trade R BZREFEGFREHAESHEE
receivables, including those not credit-impaired BiERE EERELAEANARARYK
and credit-impaired with gross carrying amounts of 10,170,000 T 2 \EEREE 5 FE I
approximately RMB 10,170,000 (2019: approximately RIB(ZF—/4F : ZIARH9,601,000

RMB9,601,000) and approximately RMB2,694,000
(2019: approximately RMB3,052,000), respectively.

i) &HEEMEZU 7%/\&”%52,694,000
F : ,%7/&5%3, 052, 0007z) o

EERA Y EEE 2R E R 2 8 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ=—

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The following tables show reconciliation of loss

TRFEF A=t HLFE

29.

SRMIA®E)
BBEBREEREREEKE)

EERENBERE(E)

TRETRE R E AW IRRER 2 B8

allowances that has been recognised for other BEEER -
receivables.
Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)
EHEBEEEE
(HBREERIE)
RMB’000
ABRETT
At 1 January 2019 —T-NF—H—H 46
Impairment losses reversed R EREEE (39)
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 W-ZT—hAF+=-A=+—H
—E-FF—-H—H 7
Impairment losses reversed R EREEE (7)

At 31 December 2020

R-E-_EF+_HA=+—H -

Changes in the loss allowance for other receivables
during the year ended 31 December 2020 are mainly
due to the settlement of other receivables previously
impaired amounting approximately RMB7,000 (2079:
approximately RMB39,000).

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

Annual Report 2020 &%

BE_S-_TF+_A=+—HIHF
€ HEthRWGIEEEREESETER
REEE R RTHIRRE 2 E b EUKGRIAL

AR¥ET 00070 ( = E— N F : AR
39,0005T) °

REELEE

Ai@/}lhébé }—lclgﬁ/\jj_ﬁ ZKEEI@:&E&

HERE LA FEYNERERAT
RHKE  UREAEEREEXHHTE

@% LAIRSTEBHTE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—T=ZFF+-A=+—HItFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay.

Weighted

29.

average  On demand
effective or within

interest rate

mEYS

1 year

BEX

BRAE  I-%R
% RMB'000

EWMIAE)
MBEREERRREEK(E)

REETEREE)

TRAJAEEITECHA BT
BHH - TRDRBESERABRIARIIR
Renghmi  ZFeRAGENRER
SERIEANFNRFEBNME

Total Total

undiscounted carrying

Tto2years 2to5years  cashflows amount
ARRRE

-E@E  @ERF  REAE  REE4S
RMBO00  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000

ABRTE  AREFr  AREFL  AREFT  ARETZ
At31 December 2020 i 2
TZA=t-H
Trade payables BAENE - 1,447 - - 1,447 1,447
Other payables and Hth AR
accrued charges it &R - 2,595 - - 2,595 2,595
Lease liabilties HERE 483 1,484 692 604 2,780 2602
5,526 692 604 6,822 6,084
Weighted
average  On demand Total Total
effective or within undiscounted crmying
interest rate Tyear  Tto2years  2to5years  cashflows amount
I3 EP AERAS
ERAE  d-FA  -EmE  WELF @ REEE REELE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
NEETT  AEETT  AEETT ARETT AEETL
At31 December 2019 R_BNE
t+=A=1-A
Trade payables BHEMTE - 1,030 - - 1,030 1,030
Other payables and HtERER
accrued charges EitER - 2130 - - 2,130 2,130
Lease liabilties HERE 453 123 121 341 1,685 1612
4,383 121 341 4,805 4772

EREY)ESEIRIR AR A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE =T =T F+ - A=+—HI-FE

29.

30.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities that are
not measured at fair value on recurring basis

The directors of the Company consider that the
carrying amount of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their
fair values based on a discounted cash flow analysis.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASH
FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions

The Group recognised right-of-use assets
by incurring lease liabilities of approximately
RMB1,612,000 during the year ended 31
December 2020.

In addition, the Group adjusted right-of-
use assets by remeasuring lease liabilities of
approximately RMB849,000 upon entering into
a new lease with reduced lease consideration
together derecognising right-of-use assets
by reducing lease liabilities of approximately
RMB375,000 in relation to the early termination
of original lease term.

Right-of-use assets with a total capital value
of approximately RMB1,592,000 with the
corresponding amount of lease liabilities were
initially recognised on 1 January 2019 upon
adoption of HKFRS 16 and the Group further
recognised right-of-use assets by incurring lease
liabilities of approximately RMB542,000 during
the year ended 31 December 2019.
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HERE -
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() EEFREXS
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FE G AEBELEHEABHA
R#1,612,000 0 HERIE AEEE ©
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BUEFAEHEABOARE
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—T=ZFF+-A=+—HItFE

30. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASH
FLOWS (Continued)

30. REREHMER (&)

(b) MEFBELEZEBZHIR

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group's
liabilities arising from financing activities.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future

TRAMANEEREEHELLE
B2 - MEEBELZBETIIE
Hfﬁiiﬁiiﬂixfﬁi\iﬁiﬁﬁﬁé$
SEGFERERERTOEARE

cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s EERERECAE -
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash
flows from financing activities.
Lease
liabilities
HEAE
RMB’'000
AREFIT
At 1 January 2019 R-_E-—NF—H—H =
Financing cash flows, net BERERE - FE (594)
Initial recognition upon adoption of FANE B RS %R
HKFRS 16 1657 1R IR TER 1,592
Additions of new leases WRFTHE 542
Interest expenses MERX 72
At 31 December 2019 and RZZE-NF+ZA=+—HBEK
1 January 2020 —T-FTF—-H—H 1,612
Financing cash flows, net BMEFRERE - FE (1,107)
Addition of new leases N E 2,461
Lease modification MEEE] (375)
Interest expenses MERX 74
Exchange difference M EHE (23)
At 31 December 2020 W_T_TF+_A=+—H 2,642

EERA Y EEE 2R E R 2 8 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited 221
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZE =T _FTF+-_A=+—HIFE

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 31.

(a) Related party transactions

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group had entered
into following transactions with its related party
during the years ended 31 December 2020 and
2019:

BELRZ
(a) BELXRS

KRB WIS IR B At )5 2 B FR
9|\ BE_ZT_ZTFR-_F-NF
TZA=+—BLEFE  AEEH
HEENRIMA TR S ¢

2020 2019
—ECEF —ET-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMFT ARETT

Lease and utilities expenses paid BRI EEHED

to Shenzhen Junxuan Biological BrBR AT (R

Technology Co., Ltd.* (“Shenzhen E& |) 2 & M A

Junxuan”) (Note) FZ (H15E) (953) (912)
Sales to Smartronic A BLEl I SHE 767 —
Note: Hiat -

Shenzhen Junxuan is a related company controlled
by Mr. Zhang Shuguang, an executive director of the
Company.

*  English translation is for identification purpose
only
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—T=ZFF+-A=+—HItFE

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 31.

(b) Compensation of key management
personnel

The emoluments of directors as key
management personnel of the Group during the
years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 were

BERRZ (&)

(b)

FTEEEASHMH

BEE(EREAEEIZERABRH
E-E_EER_F-NFT-A
=t+—BHIEFEEZFHFMNT :

as follows:
2020 2019
—ECEF —ET-NEF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTFr AREFTT
Salaries, bonuses and other benefits #r& - TEAL R E A& F] 2,115 1,151
Contributions to defined contribution 5t R ET 21T
plans 93 81
Equity-settled share-based payment  SARRHEAE & 2 B {p £ A%
expenses EE 1,636 —
3,844 1,232

EREY)ESEIRIR AR A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZE =T _FTF+-_A=+—HIFE

32. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 32. XARTFEMB AR ZH1E
OF THE COMPANY

MRS - EEMBATFEDT :

Details of principal subsidiaries at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

Place of Proportion ownership
Name of incorporation/  Paid up issued/ interest and voting power  Principal activities/
subsidiary establishment  registered capital held by the Company place of operation
AR BERTRBRRE/ FARMEEERR
WEAREE Bt 3 EARERRA RRFRLS TEEY EENY
Directly Indirectly
BE i
Huakang Biomedical ~ The BVI Issued and fully paid share 100% N/A Investment holdings/ Hong
Company Limited capital US$1 (2019: 100%) Kong
Huakang Biomedical ~ #BEXHE  BEIRARRTIET 100% TER BER Hx/ﬁ
Company Limited (ZF-N%F:
100%)
Nutronic Biomedical ~ Hong Kong Issued and fully paid share 100% N/A" Investment holdings/ Hong
Group Limited capital HK$80 (2019: 100%) Kong
(2019: HK$1)
Nutronic Biomedical &8 BETRBRRAS0ET 100% TER REnR /B
Group Limited (ZF-NEF:181) (ZF-NE:
100%)
King Grace The BV Issued and fully paid share 100%  (2079: 100%) Investment holdings/ Hong
capital US$10 Kong
King Grace RERZHE EBRIRBERAI0ET 100% (ZF-—A%: ) REF Hx/ﬁ
100%
Shenzhen Huakang The PRC Paid-up registered capital N/A 100% Research and
(Note (b)) Us$1,800,000 (2019: 100%)  development,
manufacture,
marketing and sale of
biological reagents and
auxiliary reproductive
supplies and
equipment/The PRC
REFEMzb) B MR 1,800,000 NEm 100% 3 A& - SHRHEE
e (ZE-N%F: BIDEABRBHE
100%) EBRGMRE/TEH
Nutronic Healthcare  Hong Kong Issued and fully paid share N/A 100% Sales of healthcare
Company Limited capital HK$1 (2019: 100%)  products and
("Nutronic supplements/Hong
Healthcare") Kong
Nutronic Healthcare &8 BETRARRAIET @ 100% iﬁ’*&ﬁ?uu& Rigdm,/
Company Limited (ZE-NE: S
([ Nutronic 100%)
Healthcare |)
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32.

33.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—T=ZFF+-A=+—HItFE

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Notes:

(@) None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities
at the end of reporting period.

(b) Shenzhen Huakang is a wholly foreign owned
enterprise.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

In January 2021, Nutronic Healthcare, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, was granted
a banking facility in respect of inward invoice
financing amounted to HK$4,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB3,636,000). Such banking facility
are secured and guaranteed by (i) bank deposit
amounted to HK$1,000,000 and (ii) unlimited
corporate guarantee given by the Company.

32.

33.

RRABREENBAR 2B #E)
st -

@ RBEEK - EENBA R TERE
BES -

() FYERA—FEIEZERALE -

HEHEEE
RZZTZ—F—R AXRAIZEMNE

A @) Nutronic Healthcare 3t % & 3% = gt
B ERIE1TREE 4,000,000/8 T (HHE
P #) AR #3,636,0007T) ° ZR1TRL
BT SEERRERORITER
1,000,000/ 7T+ R()ARREL 2 &
PREEA AIHEIR o

EREY)ESEIRIR AR A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE =T =T F+ - A=+—HI-FE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 34. & TR RE
THE COMPANY

2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NE
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

Wit ARE T ANRETT

Non-current assets FREBEE
Interests in subsidiaries iNGIENEIPR £ 9,318 9,278
Property, plant and equipment ERNE NG 98 224
Right-of-use assets ERESE 1,000 1,067
10,416 10,569
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables, deposits and HAEUGIE - Ze Rk
prepayments BIRIA 1,122 687
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE U B B A B UR 34(a) 5,544 2,535
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR LIRS 5113 15,193
11,779 18,415
Current liabilities bk B=Ri
Other payables and accrued HAh AT RRIE K2
charges BT ER 1,186 1,007
Lease liabilities HEARE 526 594
Amount due to a subsidiary e —BMBARFIE  34() 1,743 1,852
3,455 3,453
Net current assets REBEEFE 8,324 14,962
Total assets less current EEHABERRBERE
liabilities 18,740 25,531
Non-current liabilities ¥nBaE
Lease liabilities HEGRE 268 431
NET ASSETS EEFE 18,472 25,100
Capital and reserves EAXR#E
Share capital [N 3,509 3,509
Reserves ] 34(b) 14,963 21,591
TOTAL EQUITY ERBHE 18,472 25,100
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE—T=ZFF+-A=+—HItFE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 34. XA TR RER(Z)

THE COMPANY (Continued)
(a) Amounts due from (to) subsidiaries

The amounts due from (to) subsidiaries were
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

(b) Movement in the Company’s reserves

(a) FEW ()2 RRIA

FEMS (1) B 88 2~ R K IR A A

et B RIZEREE -

(b) ARFz#HEEE

Share
Share option Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
RIDEE BRERE RitEE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEEFT  ARETT AREFT ARETT
At 1 January 2019 RZZ-NF
—A—H 47,248 - (20,424) 26,824
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FREIER
expense for the year 2ERXEE - - (5.233) (5.233)
At 31 December 2019 and RZE-NF
1 January 2020 +=A=1+—-H
R-_ZE_ZF
—H—H 47,248 - (25,657) 21,591
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FREERZHEHY
expense for the year ok - - (9,288) (9,288)
Transactions with owners: SEEFEAZRS :
Contributions and distributions  ££5(% 7
Equity-settled share-based NREEE 2 RIDE
payment expenses (Note 25)  BERFZRFI
(Hit25) - 2,660 - 2,660
Forfeiture of share options R Ui EE Ak
(Note 25) (H1:225) - (52) 52 -
Total transactions with HEBAZRZ A
owners - 2,608 52 2,660
At 31 December 2020 R-B-2%
+=-A=+-H 47,248 2,608 (34,893) 14,963

EERA Y EEE 2R E R 2 8 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

EHE

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out below.
This summary does not form part of the consolidated

financial statements.

AEENEEREAVRERE RS BENR

BEMEBEIINT - AE2E T EREE Y

Bk < —8m -

RESULTS E4
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
“E-EF —_Z-NF T\ T—+F TN
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ANRETFT AREFT AREFT ARETT AREFT
Revenue WA 21,967 25,471 28,677 26,541 25,410
(Loss) Profit before taxation &t Al (518 )% A (11,372) 658 1,242 (247) 9,944
Taxation ias] (255) (942) (1,701) (1,705) (1,518)
(Loss) Profit for the year ARAEBA
attributable to the EIEFE(BE)
owners of the Company & Al (11,627) (284) (459) (1,952) 8,462
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING ¥7E - BERFERES
INTERESTS
Assets &E
Non-current assets FRBEE 13,691 15,244 13,667 12,507 7,666
Current assets MBEE 59,010 63,468 69,767 35,915 29,782
Total assets BEHEE 72,701 78,712 83,434 48,422 37,448
Equity and liabilities BEREE
Total equity i 61,859 70,685 71,021 37,390 24,201
Non-current liabilities E =N 1,576 816 430 220 615
Current liabilities mEaRE 9,266 7,211 11,983 10,812 12,632
Total liabilities BEEE 10,842 8,027 12,413 11,032 13,247
Total equity and liabilities ERkARESR 72,701 78,712 83,434 48,422 37,448
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